-X R B ‘ Te Kawai Arahi PGrongo Méwaho
| EXTERNAL REPORTING BOARD

NZAUuASB Board Meeting Agenda

14 February 2024

9:00 am to 5.00 pm, XRB Offices, Level 6, 154 Featherston Street (Wellington Chambers).

Apologies: None

Est.Time | Item | Topic Objective Page Supplementary
9.15am 1 Board Management
1.1 | Action list Approve Paper 3
1.2 | Chair’s report Note Verbal
1.3 | AUASB Update Note Verbal
1.4 | Update from CE Note Verbal
9.45am 2 Environmental scanning AH
2.1 | International Update Note Paper 4
2.2 | Domestic Update Note Paper 7
2.3 | Update for XRB Board Note Paper 8
2.4 | Update on Australian climate reporting and Note Late
assurance developments
10.15am | Morning tea
10:30am 3 Service Performance Review Standard LT/BM
3.1 | Summary paper Note Paper 17
3.2 | Draft exposure draft —first read Discuss Paper 1
11:30am 4 Summer intern research on service performance information
4.1 | Summary paper Note Paper 20
4.2 | Research report Note Late
11:45am 5 Authority of ISA for Less Complex Entities (LCE) BM
5.1 | Summary paper Note Paper 21
5.2 | Issues paper Discuss Paper 22
5.3 | Summary of the authority of ISA for LCE Note Paper 34
5.4 | Summary of audit and reporting requirements in | Note Paper 38
New Zealand
12:15pm | Lunch
12.45pm 6 Update on IAASB by Greg Schollum
6.1 | IAASB Report December 2023 Note Verbal 29
1.15 pm 7 Fraud sw
7.1 | Summary paper Late
7.2 | IAASB Explanatory memorandum and ED Late XX
1.45 pm 8 Narrow Scope Amendments — Public Interest Entities sw




Est.Time | Item | Topic Objective Page Supplementary
8.1 | Summary paper Note 34
8.2 | NZ consultation document Consider 36
8.3 | IAASB Explanatory memorandum & ED Note 42
2.00pm 9 Responsible Investor Association of Australasia
9.1 | Summary paper 42
2:30pm 10 | Sustainability Ethics and Independence KT/AH
10.1 | Summary Paper Discuss Paper 43
10.2 | Issues Paper — Whiteboard Session Discuss Paper 45
10.3 | IESBA Exposure Draft Note Paper 132
10.4 | IESBA Explanatory Memorandum Note Paper 382
3:00pm 11 | Use of Experts NCB
11.1 | Summary Paper Discuss Paper 50
11.2 | Issues Paper — Whiteboard Session Discuss Paper 53
11.3 | IESBA Exposure Draft & Explanatory Note Paper 429
Memorandum
3:30pm | Afternoon tea
3.45pm 12 | NZAuASB work plan MP
12.1 | Summary paper Note Paper 60
12.2 | Prioritisation schedule 2023/24 Note Paper 486
12.3 | Draft prioritisation schedule 2024/25 Consider Paper 489
12.4 | NZAuASB 2022-2027 action plan Note Paper 492
4:30pm 13 | External Confirmations NCB
13.1 | Summary Paper Note Paper 63

4.55pm Closing

Next meeting: 3 April 2024, Virtual, Teams




AGENDA ITEM 3.2

NEW ZEALAND STANDARD ON REVIEW ENGAGEMENTS 1
Review of Service Performance Information (NZ SRE 1)
Commencement and application

[Content to be added]

History of Amendments

[Content to be added]

Introduction

1.  Service performance information is information about what the entity has done and
achieved during the reporting period in working towards its broader aims and
objectives, together with supporting contextual information, when applicable, about
why an entity exists, what it intends to achieve and how it goes about this, prepared in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. (Ref: Para. Al)

Scope of this NZ SRE

2. This New Zealand Standard on Review Engagements (NZ SRE) deals with the
assurance practitioner's responsibilities with respect to service performance
information when an assurance practitioner is engaged to perform a review of service
performance information concurrently with a review of the financial statements.

3. This NZ SRE establishes requirements and provides guidance not addressed by
International Standard on Review Engagements (New Zealand) (ISRE (NZ)) 24001
with respect to service performance information.

4.  This standard together with ISRE (NZ) 2400 sets out the requirements to obtain limited
assurance over service performance information.

5. This NZ SRE applies when the assurance practitioner is required by law or regulation
or is otherwise engaged to review both the financial statements and the service
performance information prepared in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework. (Ref: Para. A2)

Objective

6.  The objective of the assurance practitioner is to obtain limited assurance to express a
conclusion on the service performance information on whether anything has come to
the assurance practitioner’'s attention that causes them to believe that the service
performance information does not present fairly 2, in all material respects, in
accordance with the entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

7. The assurance practitioner may achieve the objective of this NZ SRE by considering
the following two steps:

1 ISRE (NZ) 2400, Review of Historical Financial Statements Performed by an Assurance
Practitioner who is Not the Auditor of the Entity

2 When the service performance information is prepared in accordance with a compliance
framework, the assurance practitioner is not required to evaluate whether the service
performance information achieves fair presentation.



(@) Whether each of the following aspects of the service performance information
appears to be appropriate and meaningful in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework: (Ref: Para. A3)

o The elements/aspects of service performance that the entity has selected
to report on.

o The performance measures and/or descriptions the entity has used to
report on what it has done in relation to those elements/aspects of service
performance during the reporting period.

. The measurement basis or evaluation method used to measure or evaluate
the performance measure and/or description.

(b)  Whether anything has come to the assurance practitioner’s attention that causes
them to believe that the reported service performance information does not
present fairly, in all material respects, the actual service performance.

Definitions

8.

For the purposes of this NZ SRE, the following terms have the meanings attributed
below:

(@) Misstatement — Misstatements can be intentional or unintentional, qualitative, or
gquantitative, and include omissions. Misstatements can arise from error or fraud
when:

(i)  Anelement/aspect of service performance or performance measure and/or
description, or a measurement basis or evaluation method is not
appropriate and meaningful; or

(i)  An element/aspect of service performance or performance measure and/or
description that would be appropriate and meaningful is omitted; or

(ii) Incorrectly measuring or evaluating the entity’s service performance.

(b) Management's expert — An individual or organisation possessing expertise in a
field other than accounting or assurance, whose work in that field is used by the
entity to assist the entity in preparing the service performance information.

(c) Service organisation — A third-party organisation (or segment of a third-party
organisation) that provides services to user entities that are part of those entities’
information systems relevant to reporting service performance information.

Requirements

General Requirements

Conducting an Engagement in Accordance with this NZ SRE

9.

10.

11.

The assurance practitioner shall apply ISRE (NZ) 2400 and this NZ SRE when
reviewing service performance information. (Ref: Para. A4)

The practitioner shall have an understanding of the entire text of this NZ SRE, including
its application and other explanatory material, to understand its objectives and to apply
its requirements properly.

The assurance practitioner shall not represent compliance with this NZ SRE unless
the assurance practitioner has complied with the requirements of both this NZ SRE



and ISRE (NZ) 2400 in relation to the review of service performance information.

Professional Judgement and Professional Scepticism

12. The assurance practitioner shall plan and perform the review of service performance
information by exercising professional judgement and with an attitude of professional
scepticism. (Ref: Para. AS)

Documentation

13. The assurance practitioner shall document the nature, timing and extent of the
procedures performed to comply with this NZ SRE and ISRE (NZ) 2400.

14. The documentation shall include:

(@)

(b)

Significant professional judgements made in procedures performed, the
evidence obtained, and conclusions reached. (Ref: Para. A6)

As far as possible, evidence of relevant relationships between the service
performance information and the financial statements.

Agreeing the terms of the engagement

15. The terms of engagement shall include: (Ref: Para. A7-A9)

(@)

(b)

The responsibilities of the assurance practitioner with respect to the service
performance information is to express a conclusion on the service performance
information on whether anything has come to the assurance practitioner’s
attention that causes them to believe:

(i)

that the service performance information does not present fairly, in all
material respects; in that the service performance information is not
appropriate and meaningful and prepared in accordance with the entity’s
measurement bases or evaluation methods,

in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

The responsibilities of management or those charged with governance, including
that they acknowledge and understand their responsibility on behalf of the entity

for:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The selection of elements/aspects of service performance information,
performance measures and/or descriptions and measurement bases or
evaluation methods that present service performance information that is
appropriate and meaningful, in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework;

The preparation of service performance information in accordance with the
entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework;

The overall presentation, structure and content of the service performance
information in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework;
and

Such internal control as management or those charged with governance
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the service
performance information that is free from material misstatement, whether



due to fraud or error.

The Assurance Practitioner’s Understanding

Understanding the Entity

16. The assurance practitioner shall obtain an understanding of: (Ref: Para. A10)

(@)
(b)
(c)

(d)

Why the entity exists and what it intends to achieve i.e., its purpose or objective.
What activities or services the entity performs.

Who the entity aims to serve i.e., the entity’s primary stakeholders and the
primary users of the service performance report.

What is considered important to those stakeholders and users and what they
may use the service performance information for.

Understanding Laws and Regulations

17. The assurance practitioner shall obtain an understanding of: (Ref: Para. A11-A13)

(@)

(b)

The legal and regulatory framework applicable to the entity and the industry or
sector in which the entity operates, and laws and regulations that specify the form,
content, preparation, publication, and review of service performance information;
and

How the entity is complying with that framework.

Understanding the Service Performance Information Reported

18. The assurance practitioner shall obtain an understanding of: (Ref: Para. A14-A17)

(@)

(b)

(e)

(f)

The applicable financial reporting framework relevant to the service performance
information.

The process, including the rationale and logic the entity undertook to determine
what elements/aspects of service performance, performance measures and/or
descriptions and measurement bases or evaluation methods and, if applicable,
judgements to report.

The process the entity undertook to identify the intended users of the service
performance information and the level of engagement with the intended users.

The measurement bases or evaluation methods used by the entity to assess the
performance measures and/or descriptions and how these are made available to
intended users.

Changes to the elements/aspects of service performance, performance
measures and/or descriptions and the measurement bases or evaluation
methods used to report its service performance compared to prior year, planned,
forecast or prospective information.

Where the entity intends to report its service performance information.

Understanding of Internal Control

19. The practitioner shall obtain an understanding of internal control, over the preparation
of the service performance information. (Ref: Para. A18-A19)



Planning

20. The assurance practitioner shall develop a review plan with a single review approach
to concurrently cover the service performance information and the financial
statements. (Ref: Para. A20-A22)

21. In establishing the review plan, the assurance practitioner shall:

(@)

(b)

(c)

Consider the factors that, in the assurance practitioner’s professional judgement,
are significant in directing the engagement team'’s efforts in respect of the review
of service performance information.

Determine the timing of when to consider whether the entity’s service
performance information is appropriate and meaningful.

Determine whether expertise in a field other than accounting or assurance may
be necessary regarding the service performance information. (Ref: Para. A55-
A56)

22. The assurance practitioner shall discuss with management or those charged with
governance:

(@)

(b)

What elements/aspects of service performance and performance measures
and/or descriptions the entity intends to report as part of its service performance
information.

What measurement bases or evaluation methods the entity intends to use to
measure or evaluate its performance.

23. Any concerns identified shall then be communicated to management or those
charged with governance as soon as practicable.

Compliance With the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

Appropriate and Meaningful

24. The assurance practitioner shall consider whether the service performance
information: (Ref: Para. A6, A23-A25, A32)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(€)

(f)

Fairly reflects the assurance practitioner's understanding of the entity’s
performance from all other review work performed on the engagement. (Ref:
Para. A26)

Is likely to meet the needs of the intended user to enable an informed assessment
of the entity’s service performance. (Ref: Para. A27-A28)

Relates to an element/aspect of service performance that significantly
contributes to the entity’s core purpose, functions or objectives. (Ref: Para. A29)

Is likely to be sufficient appropriate evidence to support the performance
measure and/or description.

Is capable of measurement or evaluation in a consistent manner from period to
period. (Ref: Para. A30-A31)

Is presented in a way that is easy to follow, concise, logical and aggregated
where appropriate so that it will enable a user to identify the main points of the
entity’s service performance in that year.



Materiality

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

The assurance practitioner shall use the understanding gained in paragraphs 16-19 to
determine the significant elements/aspects of service performance. (Ref: Para. A33-
A34)

The assurance practitioner shall determine and document materiality considerations
and/or materiality for service performance information to determine the: (Ref: Para. A6,
A35-A38)

(@) Nature, timing and extent of review procedures; and

(b) Assurance practitioner’s tolerance for misstatement in relation to material service
performance measures and/or descriptions.

The assurance practitioner shall apply materiality when assessing: (Ref: Para. A39-
AAT)

(@) The appropriate and meaningfulness of the significant elements/aspects of
service performance and related material performance measures and/or
descriptions; and (Ref: Para. A39-A40)

(b) Individual or collective misstatements within performance measures and/or
descriptions, measurement bases or evaluation methods, that based on the
assurance practitioner’s judgement, are likely to influence the decisions of the
intended users based on the information.

The assurance practitioner shall revise the judgements made in determining materiality
for the service performance information if matters come to the assurance practitioner’s
attention during the review that would have caused the assurance practitioner to make
a different materiality judgement.

The assurance practitioner shall consider individually or collectively, the impact on the
service performance information, of all misstatements identified during the review,
other than those that are clearly trivial, that are uncorrected by the entity, . (Ref: Para.
A42-AA4T)

Designing and Performing Procedures

30.

31.

32.

The assurance practitioner shall use the understanding obtained in paragraphs 16-19,
to identify areas in the service performance information where material misstatements
are likely to arise and thereby provide a basis for designing procedures to address
those areas. (Ref: Para. A48)

In obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence as the basis for a conclusion on the service
performance information, the assurance practitioner shall design and perform enquiry
and analytical procedures and, as the assurance practitioner considers necessary in
the circumstances, other procedures: (Ref: Para. A49-A51)

(@) To address all material service performance information; and
(b) To address areas where material misstatements are likely to arise.

In designing analytical procedures, the assurance practitioner shall consider whether
the data relevant to service performance information from the entity’s information
system and records are adequate for the purpose of performing the analytical
procedures. (Ref: Para. A52)



33.

34.

Where possible the assurance practitioner shall draw on relationships that exist
between the service performance information and the financial statements. (Ref: Para.
A53)

Where the service performance information relates to a group, obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence regarding the service performance information of the
components and the aggregation or consolidation process in order to express a
conclusion on the group service performance information. (Ref: Para. A54)

Non-compliance with laws and regulations

35.

The assurance practitioner shall comply with ISRE (NZ) 2400 for actual, suspected or
alleged non-compliance with provisions of those laws and regulations that are
generally recognised to have a direct effect on the reporting of material service
performance information.

Use of work performed by others

36.

37.

38.

The assurance practitioner shall determine whether information to be used as
evidence has been prepared using the work of a management’s expert. (Ref: Para.
A55-A56)

If the assurance practitioner uses work performed by another assurance practitioner
or an expert in the course of performing the review, the assurance practitioner shall
take appropriate steps to be satisfied that the work performed is adequate for the
assurance practitioner’s purposes. (Ref: Para. A56)

Where a service organisation is used, the assurance practitioner shall obtain an
understanding of the nature and significance of the services provided by the service
organisation to identify areas where material misstatements are likely to arise in the
service performance information and thereby provide a basis for designing procedures
to address those areas.

Written representations

39.

In addition to the representations required by ISRE (NZ) 24003, the assurance
practitioner shall request written representations from management or those charged
with governance that they have fulfilled their responsibility for: (Ref: Para. A57)

(@) The selection of elements/aspects of service performance information,
performance measures and/or descriptions and measurement bases or
evaluation methods that present service performance information that is
appropriate and meaningful, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

(b) The preparation of service performance information in accordance with the
entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework.

(c) The overall presentation, structure and content of the service performance
information in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

(d) Such internal control as management or those charged with governance

3

ISRE (NZ) 2400, paragraph 61-65



determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the service performance
information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Evaluating the Evidence Obtained

40. The assurance practitioner shall evaluate whether sufficient appropriate evidence has
been obtained regarding service performance information, in accordance with ISRE
(NZ) 2400%. (Ref: Para. A58)

Forming the Assurance Practitioner’s Conclusion on the Service Performance

Information

41.

42.

43.

The assurance practitioner shall form a conclusion on whether anything has come to
their attention that causes the assurance practitioner to believe:

that the service performance information does not present fairly®, in all material
respects, in that the service performance information is not appropriate and
meaningful and prepared in accordance with the entity’s measurement bases or
evaluation methods,

in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

In forming a conclusion on the service performance information, the assurance
practitioner shall consider:

(@)

(b)

(€)

(d)

(e)

The appropriate and meaningfulness of the service performance information
presented by the entity.

Whether the service performance information is prepared in accordance with
the entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework.

The availability of the measurement bases or evaluation methods to intended
users. (Ref: Para. A59-A60)

Whether uncorrected misstatements are material, individually or collectively, as
required by paragraph 30.

The sufficiency and appropriateness of evidence obtained, as required by
paragraph 41.

When the information is prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework, in
addition to the requirements of paragraph 42, the assurance practitioner shall also
consider whether anything has come to the assurance practitioner’s attention that:

(@)

(b)

The overall presentation of the service performance information has been
undermined by the inclusion of irrelevant information or information that
obscures a proper understanding of the matters disclosed,;

The overall presentation, structure and content of the service performance
information represents the service performance of the entity in a manner that
does not achieve fair presentation.

ISRE (NZ) 2400, paragraph 66-68

When the service performance information is prepared in accordance with a compliance

framework, the assurance practitioner is not required to evaluate whether the service
performance information achieves fair presentation.



Form of the Conclusion

44. The assurance practitioner's conclusion on the service performance information,
whether unmodified or modified, shall be expressed in the appropriate form in the
context of the financial reporting framework applied in the service performance
information.

Unmodified Conclusion

45. The assurance practitioner shall express an unmodified conclusion in the assurance
practitioner’'s report on the service performance information when the assurance
practitioner has obtained limited assurance to be able to conclude that nothing has
come to their attention that causes the assurance practitioner to believe:

° that the service performance information does not present fairly 6, in all material
respects; in that the service performance information is not appropriate and
meaningful and prepared in accordance with the entity’s measurement bases or
evaluation methods,

in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
Modified Conclusion

46. The assurance practitioner shall modify the conclusion, with respect to the service
performance information when:

(@) The assurance practitioner concludes that either individually or collectively the
elements/aspects of service performance, performance measure and/or
descriptions, or measurement bases or evaluation methods are materially
misstated in that it is not appropriate and meaningful and as such is not in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, or

(b) The assurance practitioner concludes, based on the evidence obtained, that the
service performance information is not individually or collectively free from
material misstatement, or

(c) The assurance practitioner is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to
conclude that the service performance information, as a whole, is free from
material misstatement.

47. When the assurance practitioner modifies the conclusion with respect to the service
performance information, the assurance practitioner shall consider the effect of the
modification on the conclusion on the financial statements. (Ref: Para. A61)

48. If the assurance practitioner modifies the conclusion on the financial statements, the
assurance practitioner shall consider the effect of the modification on the conclusion
of the service performance information.

The Assurance Practitioner’s report

49. The assurance practitioner's report on the financial statements and the service
performance information shall be included in a single report and shall include the

6 When the service performance information is prepared in accordance with a compliance
framework, the assurance practitioner is not required to evaluate whether the service
performance information achieves fair presentation.



elements required by ISRE (NZ) 24007 as applicable to the service performance
information. (Ref: Para. A62-A63)

50. In addition to the requirements addressing financial statements in ISRE (NZ) 2400, the
assurance practitioner’s report shall:

(a) Describe the responsibilities of management or those charged with governance,
including for:

(i) The selection of elements/aspects of service performance information,
performance measures and/or descriptions and measurement bases or
evaluation methods that present service performance information that is
appropriate and meaningful, in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework;

(i)  The preparation of service performance information in accordance with the
entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework;

(i) The overall presentation, structure and content of the service performance
information in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework;
and

(iv) Such internal control as management or those charged with governance
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of service performance
information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error;

(b) Describe the assurance practitioner’s responsibility to express a conclusion on
the service performance information including reference to this NZ SRE and
ISRE (NZ) 2400. This description should include the responsibility of the
assurance practitioner to conclude whether anything has come to the assurance
practitioner’s attention that causes them to believe:

() that the service performance information does not present fairly, in all
material respects; in that the service performance information is not
appropriate and meaningful, and prepared in accordance with the entity’s
measurement bases or evaluation methods,
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework;

(c) Describe a review of service performance information and its limitations,
including the following statements:

(i) A review engagement under this NZ SRE and ISRE (NZ) 2400 is a limited
assurance engagement;

(i) The assurance practitioner performs procedures, primarily consisting of
making enquiries of management and others within the entity, as
appropriate, and applying analytical procedures, and, as the assurance
practitioner considers necessary in the circumstances, other procedures,
and evaluates the evidence obtained; and

(i) The procedures performed in a review are substantially less than those
performed in an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards

7 ISRE (NZ) 2400, paragraph 86-NZ86.1

10



51.

(d)

issued by the External Reporting Board, and, accordingly, the assurance
practitioner does not express an audit opinion on the service performance
information; and

Include a conclusion paragraph that:

(i) Contains the assurance practitioner's conclusion on the service
performance information;

(i)  Identifies the service performance information; and

(i) Refers to the measurement bases or evaluation methods.

When the assurance practitioner modifies the conclusion with respect to the service
performance information only, the conclusion shall clearly indicate that the conclusion
on the financial statements is not modified. The assurance practitioner shall:

(@)

(b)

Use the heading “Qualified Conclusion on the Statement of Service
Performance”, “Adverse Conclusion on the Statement of Service Performance”
or “Disclaimer of Conclusion on the Statement of Service Performance” as
appropriate, for the conclusion paragraph in the assurance practitioner’s report.
The conclusion with respect to the financial statements shall use the heading
“Conclusion on the Financial Statements”; and

Provide a description of the matter giving rise to the modification, under an
appropriate heading (for example, “Basis for Qualified Conclusion on the
Statement of Service Performance”, “Basis for Adverse Conclusion on the
Statement of Service Performance” or “Basis for Disclaimer of Conclusion on the
Statement of Service Performance,” as appropriate), in a separate section in the
assurance practitioner’s report immediately before the conclusion paragraph
(referred to as the basis for conclusion paragraph in ISRE (NZ) 24008).

Scope Limitation

52.

If the assurance practitioner is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to form
a conclusion, the assurance practitioner shall discuss with management or those
charged with governance, as appropriate, the effects such limitations have on the
scope of the review. (Ref: Para. A64-A65)

Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs

53.

54.

If the assurance practitioner considers it necessary to draw users’ attention to a matter
presented or disclosed in the service performance information, that in the assurance
practitioner’'s judgement, is of such importance that it is fundamental to users’
understanding of the service performance information, the assurance practitioner shall
include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the assurance practitioner’s report.

If the assurance practitioner considers it necessary to communicate a matter other
than those that are presented or disclosed in the service performance information, that
in the assurance practitioner’s judgement, is relevant to users’ understanding of the
review of service performance information, the assurance practitioner shall include an
Other Matter paragraph in the assurance practitioner’s report.

8 ISRE (NZ) 2400, paragraph 80, 85
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Communication with Management and Those Charged with Governance

55. In applying ISRE (NZ) 2400°, the assurance practitioner shall communicate with
management and those charged with governance, as appropriate, on a timely basis
during the course of the review engagement, all matters concerning the review of
service performance information that, in the assurance practitioner’s professional
judgement, are of sufficient importance to merit the attention of management or those
charged with governance, as appropriate. (Ref: Para. A66-A68)

*kk

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Introduction (Ref: Para. 1)

Al. Service performance reporting requirements are generally less prescribed than
financial information which may result in varied service performance reporting between
similar entities and industries. The assurance practitioner may benefit from early
engagement with the entity to understand the entity’s service performance reporting
process, and address any challenges that may arise having considered the factors
required by paragraph 25.

Scope of this NZ SRE (Ref: Para. 5)

A2. An entity may be required to identify the service performance information that is
prepared in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. This
standard only applies to service performance information prepared in accordance with
the applicable financial reporting framework.

Objective (Ref: Para. 7(a))

A3. Examples that the assurance practitioner may consider to assess aspects of service
performance information include:

° The elements/aspects of service performance that the entity has selected to
report on. For example, provide safe drinking water to stakeholders.

° The performance measures and/or descriptions the entity has used to report on
what it has done in relation to the elements/aspects of service performance
during the reporting period. For example, 100% of water supplied was safe.

. The measurement basis or evaluation method used to measure or evaluate the
performance measure and/or description. For example, Drinking Water
Standards for New Zealand or internally generated safe drinking water criteria.

General Requirements
Conduct Engagement in Accordance with ISRE (NZ) 2400 (Ref: Para. 9)

A4. This NZ SRE supplements ISRE (NZ) 2400. It expands on how ISRE (NZ) 2400 is to
be applied to the service performance information. This NZ SRE includes specific
requirements for the service performance information that are not explicitly dealt with
by ISRE (NZ) 2400 or where the application of ISRE (NZ) 2400 differs as a result of
the nature of the service performance information.

9 ISRE (NZ) 2400, paragraph 42
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Professional Judgement and Professional Scepticism (Ref: Para. 12)

A5.

The applicable financial reporting framework enables an entity to determine how it
selects, aggregates, measures and presents its service performance information. As
such, this elevates the need for early engagement and planning of sufficient time to
obtain an understanding of the entity and to exercise professional judgement,
particularly to assess whether the service performance information is appropriate and
meaningful and to determine materiality. The assurance practitioner may find it helpful
to seek out examples of service performance reporting of similar entities.

Documentation (Ref: Para. 14(a))

AG.

Examples of circumstances relating to the use of professional judgement to include in
documentation include significant matters and judgements relating to:

. The appropriate and meaningfulness of the service performance information
(Ref: Para. 24).

. The factors considered in determining materiality and what measures are
material (Ref: Para. 26).

Agreeing the Terms of the Engagement (Ref: Para. 15)

A7.

A8.

A9.

The terms of the review engagement include references to the service performance
information.

Some entities are required by the applicable financial reporting framework to prepare
entity information.® For Tier 3 registered charities that have a statutory review
requirement!!, all information required to be prepared by the applicable reporting
standard is required to be reviewed, including the entity information.

An illustrative engagement letter that covers the agreed terms of the engagement of
the performance report is set out in Appendix 1.

The Assurance Practitioner’s Understanding
Understanding the Entity (Ref: Para. 16)

A10. The assurance practitioner may obtain an understanding through:

(@) Enquires with management or those charged with governance.
(b) Reading:
. Founding documents such as rules, constitution or trust deed.
J Statement of intent.
o Past statements of service performance.
o Funding documents or agreements.

o Minutes from governance meetings.

10 Reporting Requirements for Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Entities
Reporting Requirements for Tier 3 Public Sector Entities
Reporting Requirements for Tier 4 Not-for-Profit Entities
Reporting Requirements for Tier 4 Public Sector Entities
11 Charities Act 2005, section 42C, paragraph 2(b)
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o Entity’s newsletters.
o Entity’s public website.
o Charities register.

o Media reports.

Understanding Laws and Regulations (Ref: Para. 17)

All.

Al2.

Al3.

Laws and regulations may differ among entities depending on their governing
legislation.

The nature of the performance report may be specified in applicable legislation, which
may indirectly determine the nature of the performance information to be reported.

The provisions of those laws and regulations may require the entity to present
particular service performance information which may be over and above any
requirements to comply with the applicable financial reporting framework. As the
reporting is required by law and regulation the assurance practitioner is not required to
assess whether the service performance information is appropriate and meaningful.

Understanding the Service Performance Information Reported (Ref: Para. 18)

Al4.

A15.

Al6.

The entity will need to interpret the applicable financial reporting framework and either
select pre-existing external service performance information, including pre-established
performance measures and/or descriptions or measurement bases or evaluation
methods from guidance, standards, laws or regulation, or it may need to apply
judgement to develop internally its own performance measures and/or descriptions or
measurement bases or evaluation methods for its service performance information.
The need for such judgement makes the preparation of service performance
information inherently more susceptible to the risk of management bias.

The process applied by the entity to determine what service performance information
to report on and how to measure or evaluate its service performance information may
affect the work that the assurance practitioner carries out. The level of potential
management bias in selecting the elements/aspects of service performance,
performance measures and/or descriptions and measurement bases or evaluation
methods directly correlates with the amount of work that the assurance practitioner
may need to perform when considering the service performance information reported
or intended to report. For example, use of performance measures and/or descriptions
or measurement bases or evaluation methods specified by external benchmarks or
industry guidance may require less work than internally generated performance
measures and/or descriptions or measurement bases or evaluation methods, as
external guidance reduces the risk of management bias. The entity may have
documentation that reflects the process it went through in selecting its service
performance information. Transparency about the entity’s process to select its service
performance information and the entity’s consideration of materiality may also affect
the work that the auditor carries out.

In the early stages of reporting service performance information, the entity may not
have developed an appropriate process, supported by internal controls, to identify its
service performance information, or service performance information may be less
accurate or complete. The entity may therefore be unable to include certain aspects of
its service performance in its service performance information. The assurance
practitioner exercises professional judgement to conclude on the impact of such
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Al7.

omissions (including those for which the entity has provided reasons or explanations).
This is particularly relevant since entities will be at varying stages of maturity in respect
of preparing service performance information.

Unforeseen events impacting the entity may require the entity to focus on different
elements/aspects of service performance, performance measures and/or descriptions
or measurement bases or evaluation methods than intended when the service
performance information was determined for the period. The assurance practitioner
should gain an understanding of such events and the impact it has on service
performance reporting and whether any alternative elements/aspects of service
performance, performance measures and/or descriptions or measurement bases or
evaluation methods used are more appropriate and meaningful to fairly reflect the
revised activities or services performance of the entity over the period.

Understanding of Internal Control (Ref: Para. 19)

Al8.

A19.

Internal control systems related to the preparation of service performance may be less
developed or less well embedded into the operations than those related to the
preparation of financial information. They may be less traditional to those used for
financial information.

An entity’s internal control systems related to the preparation of service performance
information may vary by size or complexity of the entity, and the nature and complexity
of the service performance information. There is a difference between simple controls
and inadequate controls. Simple controls may be adequate when the entity and the
performance measure and/or description and its measurement basis or evaluation
method are not complex.

Planning (Ref: Para. 20)

A20.

A21.

A22.

Although it is likely that the service performance information and financial information
will come from different systems, a single approach to the review recognises the
inextricable link between the service performance information and the financial
statements of an entity.

It is important to engage with the entity as early as possible to understand the
elements/aspects of service performance, performance measures and/or descriptions
and measurement bases or evaluation methods the entity intends to report..

Expertise in a field other than accounting or assurance may be necessary as a result
of information included in the service performance information, for example, expertise
in relation to the measurement of complex performance measures.

Compliance With the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework

Appropriate and Meaningful (Ref: Para. 24)

A23.

A24.

When consideringthe service performance information, the assurance practitioner
assesses how well the entity has balanced the qualitative characteristics and
pervasive constraints when selecting its elements/aspects of service performance,
performance measures and/or descriptions, and measurement bases and evaluation
methods.

It is the entity’s responsibility to determine what information to report, and for the
assurance practitioner to consider the process and rationale the entity applied in
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arriving at the selection of information to report, and to use professional judgement to
assess whether the reported information does not present fairly, in all material
respects, the service performance information.

A25. The entity’s selection of appropriate and meaningful service performance information
to report involves a considerable amount of judgement. Although enquiry may be the
principal source of evidence, there may be documentation that provides evidence to
support the judgements made by the entity in selecting the service performance
information to report, for example, those referred to in paragraph A10.

A26. The assurance practitioner may consider whether the service performance information
inappropriately attributes service performance to the entity. (Ref: Para. 24(a))

A27. The assurance practitioner may consider: (Ref: Para. 24(b))

. Whether the service performance information presents a neutral view including
all significant aspects, both positive and negative.

o Whether any service performance information is omitted, where this is an
appropriate link to the service performance of the entity.

o Whether there is potential for management bias in the selection of the
performance measure and/or descriptions.

° If the entity reports targets, how those targets may obscure a proper
understanding of the entity’s service performance.

. The results of surveys. For example, satisfaction surveys, or other evidence of
stakeholder consultation, e.g., feedback, complaints which may indicate the
appropriateness of the service performance information.

o Whether the process to determine what service performance information to
report involved the intended users and what information they may find helpful to
assess the service performance of the entity - lowering the risk of management
bias.

° External requirements or agreements with external parties that influence the
entity’s service performance accountability.

. Whether the service performance information was pre agreed with key
stakeholders.

. Guidelines developed and issued collectively by a group or published in journals
or results of benchmarking studies, for example, central agencies may provide
guidance or establish requirements for the preparation of service performance
information. The assurance practitioner may need to evaluate the suitability of
these guidelines to the entity’s circumstances and how these align to intended
users’ needs. More detailed service performance reporting may be more
appropriate.

. Whether an overly voluminous service performance report is detracting from the
usefulness and relevance of the overall report.

. Whether the service performance report is complete.

A28. An entity may select service performance information to report on the basis that the
selected performance is readily obtainable or measurable however it may not be the
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A29.

A30.

A31.

A32.

most relevant information to enable the user to understand or assess the service
performance of the entity. (Ref: Para. 24(b))

The assurance practitioner may consider whether: (Ref: Para. 24(c))

. The service performance information shows clear and logical links between the
element/aspect of service performance to be measured or evaluated and the
entity’s overall purpose and strategies.

. There is other potentially more relevant service performance information that
could have been used and reasons why those were not included.

. The entity has a clear understanding of its contribution toward longer term
elements/aspects of service performance.

. The entity uses a well-established performance framework, theory of change or
intervention logic model to explain how its service performance during the
reporting period relates to its broader aims and objectives or may have described
predetermined objectives or specific performance goals or targets in agreements
with key stakeholders; for example, a local authority’s Long-Term Plan,
statement of intent, charter, recent plans and strategies or agreements with key
funders. The selection of service performance information pre agreed with key
stakeholders may have a lower risk of management bias.

o The service performance information reflects how the entity assesses its service
performance for the purpose of internal decision making.

The potential for management bias directly correlates with the amount of consideration
that the assurance practitioner may need to give to the appropriate and
meaningfulness of the service performance information. For example, the assurance
practitioner may need to consider management bias when there are multiple
measurement bases or evaluation methods possible to assess a performance
measure. Also, there may be greater management bias when the measurement basis
or evaluation method is internally generated rather than an external industry standard.
(Ref: Para. 24(e))

Some service performance information that is more relevant for users, may be
measured less precisely. The assurance practitioner may perform different review
procedures than for those where the service performance can be more precisely
measured. (Ref: Para. 24(e))

The assurance practitioner’s consideration of the appropriate and meaningfulness of
service performance information may be an iterative process.

Materiality (Ref: Para. 25-29)

A33.

A34.

There can be significant variation in the service performance information selected and
presented by entities. The assurance practitioner's understanding of the entity is
important in determining what are the significant elements/aspects of the entity’s
service performance which are important to intended users of the service performance
information.

Understanding what elements/aspects of service performance are significant to users
may assist the assurance practitioner in focusing their review efforts and applying
professional judgement when considering any misstatements identified.
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A35.

A36.

A37.

A38.

A39.

A40.

A41l.

The assurance practitioner's materiality considerations and determination of
materiality is a matter of professional judgement. The requirements in paragraph 24,
particularly the factors regarding relevance considered by the assurance practitioner
in paragraphs A25 to A33, may assist the assurance practitioner to determine
materiality considerations and/or materiality.

The applicable financial reporting framework may discuss the concept of materiality in
the context of preparation and presentation of service performance information. Such
a discussion may provide a frame of reference to the assurance practitioner in
determining what is material. The assurance practitioner’s consideration of the entity’s
process to select the elements/aspects of service performance, the performance
measures and/or descriptions, and measurement bases or evaluation methods to use
also provides context in determining materiality considerations and/or materiality.

The basis for materiality will likely differ from the financial statements. Materiality may
be expressed in terms of the appropriate unit of account for each element/aspect of
service performance or performance measure and/or description reported. The
assurance practitioner is unlikely to be able to set an overall materiality because there
is unlikely to be a common unit of account. It may be possible to group similar service
performance measures and/or descriptions together and make materiality decisions
on the same basis if they have the same unit of account.

The materiality considerations determine the assurance practitioner's tolerance for
misstatement in relation to material service performance measures and/or
descriptions. Material misstatements may occur in both qualitative and quantitative
service performance information. The assurance practitioner may need to exercise
professional judgement beyond the traditional approach of applying a percentage to a
chosen benchmark. In some instances, there may be no tolerance for error in some
performance measures and/or descriptions.

It is a matter of professional judgement whether the assurance practitioner’s
assessment of the significant elements/aspects of service performance and related
material performance measures and/or descriptions required by paragraph 27(a) gives
rise to a material misstatement.

The assurance practitioner may firstly consider which elements/aspects of service
performance are important to intended users. Having identified those, the assurance
practitioner may then consider what are the material performance measures and/or
descriptions that measure performance in those elements/aspects of service
performance. A tolerance for misstatement is then applied by the assurance
practitioner to material service performance measures and/or descriptions.

The following factors may assist the assurance practitioner in applying materiality:

. The importance of the element/aspect of service performance to achieving the
entity’s service performance objectives. For example, whether the performance
measure and/or description relates to the primary purpose of the entity. The more
important the activity, the less tolerance for misstatement.

. How the information is presented. For example, does the presentation draw
attention to particular information? The assurance practitioner may be less
tolerant of misstatement in information that is given the most prominence.

. The extent of interest shown in particular aspects of service performance by, for
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example funders, key stakeholders or the public; and for example, whether the
service performance information is likely to cause funders to increase or
decrease funding in the entity. The higher the level of interest shown, the lower
the tolerance for misstatement. For matters where there is the most significant
interest, the assurance practitioner may be less accepting of misleading or
inaccurate information.

The economic, social, political and environmental effect of a project or an entity’s
work, where there is a high level of wider societal interest in it, particularly high
levels of public sensitivity, or relate to an activity that could be a significant risk
to the public.

Whether a particular aspect of the service performance information is significant
with regard to the nature, visibility and sensitivity of the information. For example,
there has been a large number of complaints relating to it, or relates to an activity
that is strongly linked to management performance rewards.

The relative volatility of reported service performance information. For example,
if service performance information varies significantly from period to period.

The number of persons or entities affected.

Where there is information about achieving a target or threshold, and the
relationship of the actual performance to the target. For example, the assurance
practitioner may be particularly diligent where a target has only just been
achieved.

Whether a misstatement is material having regard to the assurance practitioner’s
understanding of known previous communications to users.

Misstatements

A42. A misstatement may arise when:

An element/aspect of service performance or performance measure or
description, or a measurement basis or evaluation method selected is assessed
by the assurance practitioner as not being appropriate and meaningful;

An element/aspect of service performance or performance measure and/or
description is omitted that is assessed by the assurance practitioner as being
appropriate and meaningful;

The information is not prepared in accordance with the entity’s measurement
basis or evaluation method;

The entity’s service performance information is not in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework.

A43. Anindividual misstatement, impacting a single element/aspect of service performance,
performance measure and/or description, may be material.

Ad44. A number of misstatements, when observed collectively across the service
performance information, may also be material if they amount to a misleading portrayal
of the entity’s service performance information. Even though taken individually, each
service performance measure and/or description may not be materially misstated, the
assurance practitioner needs to consider whether the service performance information
as a whole is materially misstated.
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A45.

A46.

A47.

It is unlikely that the assurance practitioner will be able to aggregate misstatements
numerically. However, this does not remove the need for the assurance practitioner to
form a conclusion as to whether uncorrected misstatements are material individually
or collectively, as required by paragraph 329.

The assurance practitioner exercises professional judgement to conclude on the
impact of any material misstatement on the conclusion. The assurance practitioner
may consider factors such as whether the misstatement impacts a significant
element/aspect of service performance and whether it is likely to influence the
decisions of the intended users.

Examples of factors that may lead to a material misstatement, include:

o Misuse of language — that creates a misleading picture of the entity’s
performance.

o Misleading presentation — which highlights or downplays aspects of performance,
to create a misleading picture of the entity’s service performance.

° Bias — an emphasis is placed on good performance and downplays or omits poor
performance i.e., isn’t neutral.

o Omission of fact — something is left out that may be important to understanding
the entity’s service performance or is important to intended users.

° Incorrect measurement or evaluation — the service performance measure isn’'t
prepared in accordance with the measurement basis or evaluation method
selected by the entity.

o Where quantifiable service performance information misstates the level of actual
performance beyond a determined level (the traditional application of materiality).

) Misstatement of fact.

. Misrepresentation of trend — performance presented does not represent the facts
available.

° Unsubstantiated claims.

Designing and Performing Procedures (Ref: Para. 30-34)

A48.

A49.

A50.

Service performance information may not come directly from traditional financial
reporting information systems and source records. Nevertheless, the entity will need
an accurate record keeping system that provides relevant and reliable evidence. The
assurance practitioner may find it more challenging and need to think differently than
for traditional financial reporting to obtain relevant and reliable evidence.

The mix of procedures to be performed may vary compared with the mix used in regard
to the financial statements, but the mix of procedures used does not alter the level of
evidence required.

In a review, the assurance practitioner performs primarily enquiry and analytical
procedures. However, the nature of service performance information reported may
have an effect on the mix of procedures used. For example, due to the nature of the
service performance information analytical procedures may not relevant and so
another substantive procedure may be more appropriate.
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A51. The fact that the assurance practitioner may deem it necessary to perform other
procedures does not alter the assurance practitioner’s objective of obtaining limited
assurance in relation to the service performance information.

A52. The assurance practitioner’s consideration of whether data to be used for analytical
procedures are satisfactory for the intended purpose(s) of those procedures is based
on the assurance practitioner’s understanding of the entity and its environment and is
influenced by the nature and source of data, and by the circumstances in which the
data are obtained. The following considerations may be relevant:

. Source of the information available. For example, information may be more
reliable when it is obtained from independent sources outside the entity.

. Nature and relevance of the information available. For example, what is the
proximity of the information to the effect being reported.

o The knowledge, expertise and any related controls involved in the preparation of
the information.

A53. In designing analytical procedures, the assurance practitioner may be able to identify
relationships between the service performance information and the financial
information as a sense check that the financial and service performance information
are reflecting a consistent report of the performance of the entity. For example, does
the movement in fuel expense in the financial statements reflect the number of home
visits reported.

A54. When the assurance practitioner is engaged to review the service performance
information of a group of entities, the planned nature, timing and extent of the
procedures for the review are directed at achieving the assurance practitioner’s
objectives for the review engagement stated in this NZ SRE, but in the context of the
group service performance information.

Use of work performed by others (Ref: Para. 36-38)

A55. The assurance practitioner may use the work of an individual or organisation
possessing expertise in a field other than accounting or assurance, whose work in that
field is used by the entity to assist the entity in preparing the service performance
information (a management’s expert). Examples may include a professional survey
firm conducting a perception questionnaire or satisfaction survey, or preparing a water
quality report.

A56. To be satisfied that the work performed by the other practitioner or expert is adequate,
the assurance practitioner may, based on professional judgement, determine:

(@) The nature, timing and scope of that other practitioner or expert’s work.

(b) The risk of material misstatement in the matter to which that other practitioner or
expert’s work relates.

(c) Whether the other practitioner or expert has the necessary competence,
capabilities and objectivity required.

Written representations (Ref: Para. 39)

A57. An illustrative written representation letter is set out in in Appendix 2.
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Evaluating the Evidence Obtained (Ref: Para. 40)

A58. What constitutes sufficient appropriate evidence is a matter of professional judgement.
The assurance practitioner may need to identify alternative sources of evidence not
normally considered for reviews of financial information.

Forming the Assurance Practitioner’s Conclusion on the Service Performance
Information (Ref: Para. 41-48)

A59. The measurement bases or evaluation methods used to assess a performance
measure and/or description need to be made available to intended users to allow them
to understand how the underlying service performance information has been
measured or evaluated.

A60. The measurement bases or evaluation methods may be made available to the
intended users in one or more ways, for example:

(@) Publicly, for example, readily available documents such as a published external
assessment framework on a website.

(b) Through inclusion in a clear manner in the presentation of the service
performance information, in particular for entity-developed measurement bases
or evaluation methods.

(c) Through inclusion in a clear manner in the description of the performance
measure and/or description itself, for example, number of meals delivered.

(d) By general understanding, for example, the method of measuring time in hours
and minutes. The assurance practitioner may consider whether it is clear what
the time is measuring. For example, an entity may measure its response time to
an outage but will need to be clear as to whether the response time is measured
from when a call is lodged, or measures the time taken to address a fault from
when someone arrives to address the fault.

Form of the Conclusion
Modified Conclusion (Ref: Para. 47)

A61. In those circumstances where the assurance practitioner concludes that the service
performance information is not presented fairly and that the assurance conclusion
should be modified, the assurance practitioner will need to exercise professional
judgement to determine whether to issue a modified conclusion on just the service
performance information or whether to modify the conclusion on both the service
performance information and the financial statements. In many instances, a modified
conclusion in respect of the service performance information will not impact upon the
conclusion on the financial statements.

The Assurance Practitioner’s report (Ref: Para. 49-54)

A62. The assurance practitioner’s report includes references to the service performance
information. An illustrative Assurance Practitioner’s Report that includes references to
the service performance information is set out in Appendix 3.

A63. lllustrations of Assurance Practitioner's Reports with Modified Conclusions with
respect to Service Performance Information are set out in Appendix X. [to be
determined]
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Scope Limitation (Ref: Para. 52)

A64.

AGS.

Inability to perform a specific procedure does not constitute a limitation on the scope
of the review if the assurance practitioner is able to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence by performing other procedures.

Limitations on the scope of the review imposed by management may have other
implications for the review, such as for the assurance practitioner’s consideration of
areas where the service performance information is likely to be materially misstated,
and engagement continuance.

Communication with Management and Those Charged with Governance (Ref: Para. 55)

AGG.

AG7.

AGS.

The assurance practitioner is encouraged to communicate with management or with
those charged with governance early or as soon as practicable.

The assurance practitioner may communicate the following matters in relation to the
review of service performance information:

(@) Any uncorrected misstatements identified during the review of the service
performance information;

(b) The assurance practitioner's views about significant judgements made in
reporting the entity’s service performance information, if applicable, including any
areas for improvement;

(c) Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the review, for example,
extensive unexpected effort required to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence or
the unavailability of expected information.

(d) Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the entity,
significant matters arising during the review that were discussed, or subject to
correspondence with management, such as, matters that were pervasive to the
service performance information, biases in the performance measures and/or
descriptions, for example, questions in a survey articulated to drive a particular
result; and

(e) Any other matters in respect of the service performance information that, in the
assurance practitioner’'s professional judgement, management and those
charged with governance, as appropriate, need to be aware of.

The assurance practitioner's views on the judgemental areas of reporting the entity’s
service performance may be particularly relevant to those charged with governance in
discharging their responsibilities for the preparation of the service performance
information. For example, why the assurance practitioner considers the service
performance information not to be appropriate and meaningful. Open and constructive
communication including feedback on the maturity of the entity’s process to prepare
the service performance information, the service performance information selected by
the entity or how the information compares to other entities may drive improvements
over time. This may include comments about, for example, judgemental aspects of
what service performance information to report on, concerns regarding management
bias or the quality of the presentation of the information.
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Appendix 1
(Ref: Para. A9)

lllustrative Review Engagement Letter including Service Performance Information??

The following is an example of a review engagement letter for a review of a [financial report/
performance report], which comprise financial statements and service performance
information [and entity information]. It is assumed in this illustration that the applicable financial
reporting framework is a fair presentation framework. This letter is not authoritative but is
intended only to be a guide that may be used in conjunction with the considerations outlined
in ISRE (NZ) 2400 and NZ SRE 1. It will need to be varied according to individual requirements
and circumstances. It may be appropriate to seek legal advice that any proposed letter is
suitable.

*k%k

To [Those Charged with Governancel:
[The objective and scope of the review]

You®® have requested that we review the [financial report/ performance report] of [ABC Entity
(the “entity”)], which comprise the financial statements, and the service performance
information [, and entity information]. The complete set of financial statements comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X34, [the statement of comprehensive
revenue and expense, statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net
assets/equity], and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes. We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this
review engagement by means of this letter.

Our review will be conducted with the objective of our expressing our conclusion on the
[financial report/ performance report].

[The assurance practitioner’s responsibilities]

We will conduct our review of the financial statements in accordance with International
Standard on Review Engagements (New Zealand) (ISRE (NZ)) 2400 Review of Historical
Financial Statements Performed by an Assurance Practitioner who is not the Auditor of the
Entity and the review of the service performance information[, and entity information] in
accordance with the New Zealand Standard on Review Engagements (NZ SRE) 1 Review of
Service Performance Information. Those standards require us to conclude whether anything
has come to our attention that causes us to believe that: the [financial report/ performance
report], taken as a whole, do not present fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with [the
applicable financial reporting framework (e.q., Reporting Requirements for Tier 3 Not-for-Profit
Entities)]; and the service performance information is not appropriate and meaningful and

12 May also be referred to as the Statement of Service Performance.

13 Throughout this letter, references to “you,” “we,” “us,” “management,” “those charged with
governance” and “assurance practitioner” would be used or amended as appropriate in the
circumstances.

14 Where the assurance practitioner reports on more than one period, the assurance practitioner
adjusts the date so that the letter pertains to all periods covered by the assurance practitioner's
report.
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prepared in accordance with the entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in
accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework].

Those standards also require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of the [financial report/ performance report] in accordance with ISRE (NZ) 2400 and
NZ SRE 1 is a limited assurance engagement. We will perform procedures, primarily
consisting of making enquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate,
and applying analytical procedures and, as we consider necessary in the circumstances, other
procedures, and evaluate the evidence obtained. We will also perform additional procedures
if we become aware of matters that cause us to believe the [financial report/ performance
report] as a whole may be materially misstated. These procedures are performed to enable
us to express our conclusion on the [financial report/ performance report] in accordance with
ISRE (NZ) 2400 and NZ SRE 1. The procedures selected will depend on what we consider
necessary applying our professional judgement, based on our understanding of the entity and
its environment, and our understanding of the applicable financial reporting framework and its
application in the industry context.

A review is not an audit of the [financial report/ performance report], therefore:

(a) There is a commensurate higher risk than there would be in an audit, that any material
misstatements that exist in the [financial report/ performance report] reviewed may not
be revealed by the review, even though the review is properly performed in accordance
with ISRE (NZ) 2400 and NZ SRE 1.

(b) In expressing our conclusion from the review of the [financial report/ performance
report], our report on the performance report will expressly disclaim any audit opinion
on the [financial report/ performance report].

[The responsibilities of those charged with governance and identification of the
applicable financial reporting framework]

Our review will be conducted on the basis that [Those Charged with Governance]
acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility, on behalf of the entity:

(&) For the preparation, and fair presentation of the [financial report/ performance report]
in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework];

(b) For the selection of elements/aspects of service performance information,
performance measures and/or descriptions and measurement bases or evaluation
methods that present service performance information that is appropriate and
meaningful and, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework];

(c) For the preparation of service performance information in accordance with the entity’s
measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with [the applicable
financial reporting framework];

(d) For the overall presentation, structure and content of the service performance
information in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework];

(e) For such internal control as [Those Charged with Governance] determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the [financial report/ performance report] that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

(f)  To provide us with:

(i) Access to all information of which [management and [Those Charged with
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Governance]] are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the [financial report/
performance report] such as records, documentation and other matters;

(i) Additional information that we may request from [management or [Those
Charged with Governance]] for the purpose of the review; and

(i) Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it
necessary to obtain evidence.

As part of our review, we will request from [Those Charged with Governance], written
confirmation concerning representations made to us in connection with the review.

We look forward to full cooperation from your team during our review.
[Other relevant information]

[Insert other information, such as fee arrangements, billings and other specific terms, as
appropriate.]

[Reporting]

[Insert appropriate reference to the expected form and content of the assurance practitioner’s
report.]

The form and content of our report may need to be amended in the light of our findings
obtained from the review.

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgement of,
and agreement with, the arrangements for our review of the [financial report/ performance
report] including our respective responsibilities.

[Signature in the name of the assurance firm, the personal name of the assurance practitioner,
or both, as appropriate]

Acknowledged and agreed on behalf of [Those Charged with Governance] of [ABC Entity] by
(signed)

Name and Title

Date
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Appendix 2
(Ref: Para. A57)

lllustrative Representation Letter including Service Performance Information®®

The following illustrative representation letter includes written representations that are
required by ISRE (NZ) 2400 and NZ SRE 1. It is to be used as a guide only and will need to
be modified according to the engagement requirements and circumstances.

Representations by management, or where appropriate, those charged with governance?®,
will vary between entities and reporting periods. Representation letters are ordinarily useful
where evidence, other than that obtained by enquiry, may not be reasonably expected to be
available or when management, or where appropriate, those charged with governance have
made oral representations which the assurance practitioner wishes to confirm in writing.

It is assumed in this illustration that the applicable financial reporting framework is a fair
presentation framework, and that there are no exceptions to the requested written
representations. If there were exceptions, the representations would need to be modified to
reflect the exceptions.

(Entity Letterhead)
(To Assurance Practitioner) (Date)

This representation letter is provided in connection with your review of the [financial report/
performance report] of [ABC Entity (the “entity”)] for the year ended December 31, 20X3'’ for
the purpose of expressing a conclusion as to whether anything has come to your attention that
causes you to believe:

. that the accompanying [financial report/ performance report] do not present fairly, in all
material respects:

o [the entity information as at December 31, 20X3;]

o the financial position of the entity as at December 31, 20X3, and its financial
performance, and its cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the service performance for the year ended December 31, 20X3

. that the service performance information is not appropriate and meaningful and
prepared in accordance with the entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods

in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework (e.g.: Reporting
Requirements for Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Entities)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting
Standards Board.

We confirm that, (fo the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such enquiries as we
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves):

[Financial Report/ Performance Report]

15 May also be referred to as the Statement of Service Performance.
16 Use terminology as appropriate in the circumstances.

17 Where the assurance practitioner reports on more than one period, the assurance practitioner
adjusts the date so that the letter pertains to all periods covered by the assurance practitioner’s
report.
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. We have fulfilled our responsibilities on behalf of the entity, as set out in the terms of
the review engagement dated [insert date], for:

[e]

The preparation, and fair presentation of the [financial report/ performance report]
in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework];

The selection of elements/aspects of service performance information,
performance measures and/or descriptions and measurement bases or
evaluation methods that present service performance information that is
appropriate and meaningful, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting
framework];

The preparation of service performance information in accordance with the
entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with [the
applicable financial reporting framework];

The overall presentation, structure and content of the service performance
information in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework]; and

Such internal control as [Those Charged with Governance] determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the [financial report/ performance report]
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

. [Any other matters that the assurance practitioner may consider appropriate (see
paragraph A105 of ISRE (NZ) 2400).]

Information Provided

. We have provided you with:

[¢]

Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation
of the [financial report/ performance report] such as records, documentation and
other matters;

Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the
review; and

Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it
necessary to obtain evidence.

. We have disclosed to you:

[e]

The identity of the entity’s related parties and all the related party relationships
and transactions of which we are aware;

All significant facts relating to any frauds or suspected frauds known to us that
may have affected the entity;

All known actual or possible non-compliance with laws and regulations for which
the effects of non-compliance affect the entity’s [financial report/ performance
report];

All information relevant to use of the going concern assumption in the [financial
report/ performance report];

That all events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and
for which the applicable financial reporting framework requires adjustment or
disclosure, have been adjusted or disclosed;
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o Material commitments, contractual obligations or contingencies that have
affected or may affect the entity’s financial statements, including disclosures;

o Material non-monetary transactions or transactions for no consideration
undertaken by the entity in the financial reporting period under consideration; and

o [Any other matters that the assurance practitioner may consider appropriate (see
paragraph A105 of ISRE (NZ) 2400).]

Signed on behalf of [Those Charged with Governance]*® of [ABC Entity] by

Name and Title Name and Title

18 The addressees and references in the letter would be those appropriate in the circumstances of
the engagement.
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Appendix 3
(Ref: Para. A62)

Illustrative Assurance Practitioner’s Review Report including Service Performance
Information?®

llustration 1: lllustrative Assurance Practitioner’s Review Report

Circumstances include the following:

. Review of a [financial report/ performance report] of a public benefit entity that
is not agroup.

. The [financial report/ performance report] is prepared in accordance with afair
presentation framework.

. The terms of the review engagement reflect the description of the
responsibility of those charged with governance for the [financial report/
performance report].

. The assurance practitioner has concluded an unmodified (i.e., “clean”)
conclusion is appropriate based on the evidence obtained.

. The assurance practitioner has no other reporting responsibilities required
under local law.

Reference should be made to ISRE (NZ) 2400 to ensure that the requirements of ISRE (NZ)
2400 have been met.

INDEPENDENT ASSURANCE PRACTITIONER’S REVIEW REPORT
[Appropriate Addressee]

We have reviewed the accompanying [financial report/ performance report] of [ABC Entity (the
“entity”)], which comprise the financial statements on pages x fo xx, and the service
performance information on pages x fo xx [, and entity information on page x]. The complete
set of financial statements comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 20X3,
and [the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity], and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Responsibilities of [Those Charged with Governance]® for the [Financial Report/
Performance Report]

[Those Charged with Governance] are responsible on behalf of the entity for:

. The preparation, and fair presentation of the [financial report/ performance report] in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework;

. The selection of elements/aspects of service performance information, performance
measures and/or descriptions and measurement bases or evaluation methods that
present service performance information that is appropriate and meaningful, in

19 May also be referred to as the Statement of Service Performance.

20 Use the term that is appropriate in the context of the engagement.
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accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework];

. The preparation of service performance information in accordance with the entity’s
measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with [the applicable
financial reporting framework];

. The overall presentation, structure and content of the service performance information
in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework]; and

. Such internal control as [Those Charged with Governance] determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the [financial report/ performance report] that is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Assurance Practitioner’s Responsibilities

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the [financial report/ performance report]. We
conducted our review of the financial statements in accordance with International Standard on
Review Engagements (New Zealand) (ISRE (NZ)) 2400, Review of Historical Financial
Statements Performed by an Assurance Practitioner who is not the Auditor of the Entity, and
[entity information and] service performance information in accordance with the New Zealand
Standard on Review Engagements (NZ SRE) 1 Review of Service Performance Information.
Those standards require us to conclude whether anything has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that: the [financial report/ performance report], taken as a whole, do not
present fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting
framework (e.g., Reporting Requirements for Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Entities)]; and the service
performance information is not appropriate and meaningful and prepared in accordance with
the entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods, in accordance with [the applicable
financial reporting framework].

Those standards also require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of the [financial report/ performance report] in accordance with ISRE (NZ) 2400 and
NZ SRE 1 is a limited assurance engagement. The assurance practitioner performs
procedures, primarily consisting of making enquiries of management and others within the
entity, as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures and, as we considered necessary in
the circumstances, other procedures; and evaluate the evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less than those performed in an audit
conducted in accordance with auditing standards issued by the External Reporting Board.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on the [financial report/ performance report].

Other than in our capacity as assurance practitioner we have no relationship with, or interests
in, the entity.

Conclusion
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe:

. that the accompanying [financial report/ performance report] do not present fairly, in all
material respects:

o [the entity information as at December 31, 20X3;]

o the financial position of the entity as at December 31, 20X3, and its financial
performance, and its cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the service performance for the year ended December 31, 20X3
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o that the service performance information is not appropriate and meaningful and
prepared in accordance with the entity’s measurement bases or evaluation methods

in accordance with [the applicable financial reporting framework (e.g.: Reporting
Requirements for Tier 3 Not-for-Profit Entities)] issued by the New Zealand Accounting
Standards Board.

[Signature in the name of the assurance firm, the personal name of the assurance practitioner,
or both, as appropriate]

[Assurance practitioner’s address]
[Date]
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Supplementary agenda item 5.3

For

information purposes only

ISA for LCE Authority

The International Standard on Auditing for Audits of Financial Statements of Less Complex Entities (ISA for
LCE) is designed to enable the achievement of the overall objectives of the auditor, given the typical nature
and circumstances of a LCE. There are limitations to the use of the ISA for LCE, which are designated into
three categories, including specific prohibitions, qualitative characteristics, and quantitative thresholds.
The following document is a summary of the Authority of ISA for LCE. This has been updated since it was
first presented to the board in August 2023.

Specific prohibitions

There are specific classes of entities for which the
use of the ISA for LCE is prohibited.

a)

b)

When ISA for LCE is prohibited by law or regulation
in that jurisdiction.
The entity is a listed entity.

c) The entity falls into one of the following classes:

— Takes deposits from the public, as one of its

main functions.

— Provide insurance to the public, as one of its

main functions.

— Is aclass of entities where use of ISA for LCE is

prohibited for that specific class of entity by a
legislative or regulatory authority or relevant
local body with standard-setting authority in the
jurisdiction.

An entity that meets the tier 1 criteria in
accordance with XRB A1! and is not eligible to

Tier One threshold

The thresholds are defined in XRB A1, as follows:
For-profit

Tier

Entity type

Tier 1

Has public accountability (in XRB A1) or is a large for-
profit public sector entity with total expenses? >
$30million

o)

report in accordance with the accounting
requirements of another tier.
1 XRB A1 Accounting Standards Framework

d) The entity is an audit of a group financial statements
(group audit), and:

)

Any of the groups individual entities or business
units meets the criteria in b) or c), above.
Component auditors are involved, except when
the component auditor’s involvement is limited
to circumstances in which a physical presence
is needed for a specific audit procedure for the
group audit (e.g., attending a physical inventory
count or physically inspecting assets or
documents).

Suggested amendment to the specific
prohibitions are in green text and discussed
in agenda item 5.2.

Public Benefit Entity (NFP and PS)

Tier

Entity type

Tier 1

Has public accountability (in XRB A1) or is a large PBE
with total expenses? > $30million. Note that the
NZASB is currently consulting on changing this
threshold to >$33million

2For each of the 2 preceding accounting periods.



The following list describes characteristics of a typical LCE
for the purpose of determining the appropriate use of the
ISA for LCE. The list is not exhaustive nor intended to be
absolute (including numerical indicators), and other
relevant matters may also need to be considered.

Each of the qualitative characteristics may not, on its own,
be sufficient to determine whether the ISA for LCE is
appropriate or not in the circumstances. Therefore, the
matters described in the list are intended to be considered
both individually and in combination.

Notwithstanding that professional judgement is applied in
determining whether this standard is appropriate to use, if
there is uncertainty about whether an audit meets the
criteria, the use of the ISA for LCE is not appropriate.

Business Activities,
Business Model &
Industry

Furthermore, ISA for LCE does not include requirements
on:

* Procedures or matters typically relevant to listed
entities, including reporting on segment information or
key audit matters.

* When the auditor intends to use the work of internal
auditors, as this would ordinarily not be applicable to an
audit of an LCE.

*  When the auditor intends to use a report provided by a
service auditor of a service organisation either as audit
evidence about the design and implementation of
controls at the service organisation (i.e., a type 1 or type
2 report), or as audit evidence that controls at the
service organisation are operating effectively (i.e., a
type 2 report), as this would ordinarily not be applicable
to an audit of an LCE.

The entity’s business activities, business model or the industry in which the entity
operates do not give rise to significant pervasive business risks.
There are no specific laws or regulations that govern the business activities that add

complexity (e.g., prudential requirements).
The entity’s transactions result from few lines of business or revenue streams.

Organisational
Structure and Size

Ownership Structure

The organisational structure is relatively straightforward, with few reporting lines or
levels and a small key management team (e.g., 5 individuals or less).

The entity’s ownership structure is straightforward and there is clear transparency of

ownership and control, such that all individual owners and beneficial owners are

known.

Nature of Finance

Function to financial reporting.

The entity has a centralised finance function, including centralised activities related

There are few employees involved in financial reporting roles (e.g., 5 individuals or

less).

Information

Technology (IT) straightforward.

The IT environment of the entity, including its IT applications and IT processes, is

The entity uses commercial software and does not have the ability to make any
programme changes other than to configure the software (e.g., the chart of
accounts, reporting parameters or thresholds).

Access to the software is generally limited to one or two designated individuals for
the purpose of making the configurations.

Few formalised general IT controls are needed in the entity's circumstances.

Application of the
Financial Reporting
Framework and
Accounting
Estimates

Few accounts or disclosures in the financial statements of the entity necessitate the
use of significant management judgement in applying the requirements of the
financial reporting framework.

The entity’s financial statements ordinarily do not include accounting estimates that

involve the use of methods, models, assumptions, or data, that are complex.



For group audits, the following qualitative
characteristics are to be considered in addition to

those above.

Notwithstanding that professional judgement is
applied in determining whether this standard is

For the purpose of group audits, these considerations  appropriate to use, if there is uncertainty about
shall apply to both the group and each of its individual ~ whether an audit meets the criteria, the use of the ISA

entities and business units.

Group Structure and
Activities

Access to
Information or
People

Consolidation
Process

for LCE is not appropriate.

The group has few entities or business units (e.g., 5 or less).
Entities or business units within the group operate in jurisdictions with similar
characteristics, for example laws and regulations and business practices.

Group management will be able to provide the engagement team with access
to information and unrestricted access to persons within the group as
determined necessary by the group auditor.

The group has a simple consolidation process. For example:

* Intercompany, or other consolidation adjustments are not complex.

* Financial information of all entities or business units has been prepared in
accordance with the similar accounting policies applied to the group financial
statements; and

+ All entities or business units have the same financial reporting period-end as
that used for group financial reporting.

? Refer to our Agenda item 5.2 which provides options for this section.



Summary

Is the audit:

X Inajurisdiction which prohibits use of the standard?

X Ofan FMCHLPA?

X Of an entity with “public interest characteristics” (public insurer or
public deposit taker or Tier 1 reporter)?

X A group audit with individual entities or business units meeting the
above criteria; or a group audit involving component auditors (except in
limited circumstances)?

X Outside any other quantitative thresholds established in NZ?

No Yes

Fi Polici Is the audit:
irm Folicies or X  Prohibited from using the standard under firm policies or

Procedures procedures?

Does the audit:
X Exhibit qualitative characteristics that would make the standard
inappropriate to use?

No Yes

Decision May use ISA for LCE Cannot use ISA for LCE

Contact us

xrb.govt.nz [ xrb www.linkedin.com  Subscribe



mailto:assurance@xrb.govt.nz
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/
https://nz.linkedin.com/company/external-reporting-board
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/sign-up/

Supplementary agenda item: 5.4

Brief summary of audit and reporting requirements in New Zealand
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|

For your reference, we have detailed below the reporting and audit requirements of the most
common entities, split between for-profit, not-for-profit, and public sector entities.

The XRB website also provides a list of Acts which set out which types of organisations must
produce, obtain assurance, and publish financial statements

For-profit
Reporting

The following table details the reporting requirements for for-profit entities and for-profit public
sector entities (source: 2019 XRB Targeted Review of the New Zealand Accounting Standards

Framework ):

For-profit Entities

Entity type

Standards

Tier 1

Tier 2

Has public accountability,”” or is a large for-profit
public sector entity with total expenses > $30million

Has no public accountability ond is not a large for-
profit public sector entity (i.e. not a for-profit public
sector entity with total expenses > 530 million)

New Zealand Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting
Standards (NZ IFRS)

NZ IFRS Reduced Disclosure
Regime (NZ IFRS RDR)

According to the 2019 XRB Targeted Review of the New Zealand Accounting Standards Framework
“the for-profit Tier 2 population includes certain companies and partnerships (e.g. “large” companies
as defined in the Companies Act 1993), retirement villages, for-profit subsidiaries of local councils
and other entities that have a statutory requirement to prepare GPFR.”

Special purpose framework

e For-profit entities that are not mandated to report under either Tier, may report under a
special purpose framework.

o No data is available for how many entities report special purpose financial statements or
have those financial statements audited.

e We are aware that early childhood educators who are a private service, for example a
partnership, sole trader, or limited liability company, can choose to provide either general
purpose financial statements or a special purpose financial report to the Ministry of
Education.

e Entities may use the Special Purpose Financial Reporting Framework issued by CAANZ.
This framework is designed for use by small and medium sized entities (SMEs). SMEs often
produce financial statements only for the purposes of meeting the user needs of owners,
tax authorities or banks, this framework is considered suitable for these SMEs. A SME
would likely be a less complex entity, and eligible to be audited under the ISA for LCE,
should they meet the qualitative characteristics.
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Audit requirements

Audit requirements for for-profit entities:

e FMC reporting entities: Audit

e Companies

Type of Company Applicable “large” threshold Audit
requirement

Large NZ incorporated In each of the two preceding accounting periods, total assets (including Yes

company (with less than 25% subsidiaries) at the balance date exceeded $66 million, or total revenue Can opt-out

overseas ownership) (can opt- | (including subsidiaries) exceeded $33 million.

out)

Large NZ incorporated company In each of the two preceding accounting periods, total assets (including Yes

(with 25% or more overseas subsidiaries) at the balance date exceeded $66 million, or total revenue

ownership) (including subsidiaries) exceeded $33 million.

Large overseas company carrying | In each of the two preceding accounting periods, total assets (including Yes

on business in NZ or Large NZ subsidiaries) at the balance date exceeded $22 million, or total revenue

subsidiary (including subsidiaries) exceeded $11 million.

Non-large NZ company with 210 | - Yes

shareholders Can opt-out

Non-large NZ company with - No

<10 shareholders Can opt-in

e Certain Partnerships under the Limited Partnerships Act 2008 and Partnership Law Act
2019: Audit

There is a lack of readily accessible data specifying the number of for-profit entities who are audited
or what Tiers they report under.

Not-for-profit

Reporting

The current reporting requirements for not-for-profit and public sector public benefit entities are
(from the XRB’s 2023/4 PBE Tier Sizes Consultation Document):

Tier
Tier1

Tier 2

Tier 3

Tier 4

Criteria

Has public accountability, or

Standards

PBE Standards

is large (total expenses > 530 million)

No public accountability and

Mot large (total expenses < 530 million)

No public accountability

Total expenses < $2million

No public accountability and

Allowed by law to use cash accounting
(operating payments < $140,000)

PBE Standards Reduced Disclosure
Regime (PBE Standards RDR)

Reporting requirements for Tier 3
Entities (The Tier 3 Standard)

Reporting Requirements for Tier 4
Entities (The Tier 4 Standard)

The number of registered charities reporting under each Tier (from the XRB’s 2023/4 PBE Tier Sizes
Consultation Document):
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2016 - 2017 30 June 2023
Number % Number % Number
Tier 1 69 <1% 126 <1% 57
Tier 2 859 4% 1,185 5% 326
Tier 3 5,175 22% 6,169 24% 994
Tier 4 17,666 74% 18,600 71% 934
Total 23,769 26,080 2,311

At this point, we should note that the NZASB is currently consulting on the Public Benefit Entity Tier
Sizes. We have also discussed this matter with the accounting standards team.

e One aspect of this proposed change is that public benefit entities with total
expenditure over $33million (over the previous 2 accounting periods) would report
using the standards applicable to Tier 1 entities. This threshold is currently
$30million.

e There would be some entities eligible to transition from tier 1 to tier 2, as the
threshold moves from $30million to $33million. The writer of this paper reviewed the
charities register as of January 24, 2024. Filtering the register to show data of annual
returns of individual charities with total expenditure between $30million and
$33million indicated only 12 charities were within this bracket. The majority (7)
already report under Tier 2. Only four currently report under Tier 1 and may be
eligible to report under Tier 2. (and for completeness, one charity reported under an
Australian reporting framework). This indicates that raising threshold to $33million
would have a minimal impact on the number of Tier 1 entities eligible to transition to
Tier 2.

e We have concluded that this proposed change to the tier thresholds would have
minimal impact on our proposed exclusion of Tier 1 entities from the ISA (NZ) for LCE.

Audit requirements

Incorporated Societies registered under the 2022 Act are required to be audited for total
operating expenditure over $3 million (in each of the two preceding accounting periods).
There is no requirement for audit under the Incorporated Societies Act 1908. A significant
number of incorporated societies are registered charities, so their assurance requirements
would be in accordance with the Charities Act.

Registered Charities with total operating expenditure over $1.1million are required to be
audited. Those with total operating expenditure between $550,000 and $1.1million can be
audited or reviewed. (in each of the two preceding accounting periods).

Accurate data is not readily available as to the number of entities that are audited or
reviewed. However, the XRB research project currently in progress will provide some
insight into the types of registered charities that are audited or reviewed.

Public Sector Entities

For-profit public sector entities are for-profit entities that are public entities as defined in
the Public Audit Act 2001. They include state-owned enterprises (such as New Zealand
Post Limited), mixed ownership model companies (such as Genesis Energy Limited), and
Crown Research Institutes (such as National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research
Limited).
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Public sector public benefit entities (PBEs) are PBEs that are public entities as defined in
the Public Audit Act 2001, and all Offices of Parliament.

The reporting tiers applicable for public sector entities are aligned with the for-profit and
not-for-profit entities, as relevant, which are detailed in the tables above.

The number of public sector PBEs by tier from the 2019 XRB Targeted Review of the New

Zealand Accounting Standards Framework:

All public Sector PBEs

Public sector PBEs excluding schools

Tier 1 Approx. 210 7%
Tier 2 Approx. 2,580 82%
Tier 3 Approx. 220 7%
Tier 4 Approx. 130 4%
Total PBEs Approx. 3,140 100%

Tier 1 Approx. 210 28%
Tier 2 Approx. 190 25%
Tier 3 Approx. 220 29%
Tier 4 Approx. 130 17%
Total PBEs Approx. 750 100%

The majority of Public Sector PBEs, which are required to be audited and report under the

Tier 2 reporting framework, are schools.
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Exposure Draft

January 2024
Comments due: April 8, 2024

Proposed Narrow Scope Amendments to:

. International Standards on Quality
Management;

. International Standards on Auditing;
and

. International Standard on Review
Engagements 2400 (Revised),
Engagements to Review Historical
Financial Statements

as a Result of the Revisions to the
Definitions of Listed Entity and Public
Interest Entity in the IESBA Code

International Auditing
I A A S B and Assurance
Standards Board



About the IAASB

This document has been prepared and approved by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards
Board. It does not constitute an authoritative pronouncement of the IAASB, nor does it amend, extend or
override the International Standards on Auditing or other of the IAASB’s International Standards.

The objective of the IAASB is to serve the public interest by setting high-quality auditing, assurance, and
other related standards and by facilitating the convergence of international and national auditing and
assurance standards, thereby enhancing the quality and consistency of practice throughout the world and
strengthening public confidence in the global auditing and assurance profession.

The IAASB develops auditing and assurance standards and guidance for use by all professional
accountants under a shared standard-setting process involving the Public Interest Oversight Board, which
oversees the activities of the IAASB, and the IAASB Consultative Advisory Group (CAG), which provides
public interest input into the development of the standards and guidance (a new Stakeholder Advisory
Council will commence activities in 2024 and replaces the IAASB CAG).

For copyright, trademark, and permissions information, please see page 89.

International Auditing
I A A S B and Assurance
Standards Boards
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REQUEST FOR COMMENTS

This Explanatory Memorandum (EM) accompanies, and should be read along with, the Exposure Draft
(ED), proposed Narrow Scope Amendments to the International Standards on Quality Management
(ISQMs); International Standards on Auditing (ISAs); and International Standard on Review Engagements
(ISRE) 2400 (Revised), Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statement as a Result of the Revisions
to the Definitions of Listed Entity and Public Interest Entity (PIE) in the IESBA Code,* which was developed
and approved by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board® (IAASB®). This publication
may be downloaded from the IAASB website: www.iaash.org. The approved text is published in the English
language.

The proposals in this ED may be modified based on comments received before being issued in final form.
Comments are requested by April 8, 2024.

Use of Response Template

We encourage all respondents to submit their comments electronically using the Response
Template provided. The response template has been developed to facilitate responses to the questions
in Section 2 of this EM. Use of the template will facilitate our collation and analysis of the responses.

Recognizing that the IAASB utilizes software to support our analysis of comments received from
respondents to public consultations, you can assist our review of the responses by bearing the following in
mind in preparing your submission:

. Respond directly to the questions in the template and provide the rationale for your answers. If
you disagree with the proposals in the ED, please provide specific reasons for your
disagreement and specific suggestions for changes that may be needed to the requirements
or application material. If you agree with the proposals, it will be helpful for the IAASB to be
made aware of this view.

. You may respond to all questions or only those questions for which you have specific comments.

. When formulating your responses to a question, it is most helpful to identify the specific aspects of
the ED that your response relates to, for example, by reference to sections, headings or specific
paragraphs in the ED.

. Avoid inserting tables or text boxes in the template when providing your responses to the questions.

The completed response template can be uploaded using the “Submit Comment” link on the IAASB
website: www.iaasb.org. When submitting your completed response template, it is not necessary to
include a covering letter with a summary of your key issues. The response template provides the opportunity
to provide details about your organization and, should you choose to do so, any overall views you wish to
place on the public record. All responses will be considered a matter of public record and will ultimately be
posted on the IAASB website.

t The International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards)
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Introduction

1. This memorandum provides background to, and an explanation of, the IAASB’s proposed narrow
scope amendments to certain International Standards as a result of the revisions to the definitions of
listed entity and PIE in the IESBA Code. The IAASB approved the proposed amendments to the
ISQMs, ISAs and ISRE 2400 (Revised) on December 14, 2023, for exposure.

Background

IESBA'’s Project on the Definitions of Listed Entity and PIE

2.

In December 2021, the IESBA concluded its project on the Definitions of Listed Entity and Public
Interest Entity, which included revisions to Part 4A of the IESBA Code and its glossary relating to
listed entity and PIE (the IESBA PIE Revisions).?

The IESBA PIE Revisions become effective for audits and reviews of financial statements for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2024, and include the following key features:

(@)

(b)

©

(d)

An overarching objective in paragraph 400.8, setting out the basis for defining a class of entities as
PIEs for which auditors are subject to additional independence requirements under the IESBA
Code.

Factors, in paragraph 400.9, for consideration in evaluating the extent of public interest in the
financial condition of an entity. These factors may be used by relevant local bodies responsible for
setting ethics standards for professional accountants and firms as described in (d)(i) and (d)(ii)(a)
below.

An explanation, in paragraph 400.10, that clarifies why there are additional independence
requirements that are applicable only to audits of financial statements of PIEs in the IESBA Code
(i.e., to meet the heightened expectations of stakeholders regarding the independence of a firm
when performing an audit engagement for a PIE given the significance of the public interest in
the financial condition of such entities).

A revised definition of PIE in paragraph R400.17 and the IESBA Code Glossary, that includes a
broadly defined list of mandatory categories of entities that firms should treat as PIEs, subject to
refinement by relevant local bodies as part of the adoption and implementation process of the
approved IESBA PIE Revisions. This is accompanied by:

(@ A requirement in paragraph R400.18, for firms to take into account more explicit definitions
of PIEs established by law, regulation or professional standards when deciding whether an
entity falls within the scope of the mandatory PIE categories.

(i)  Guidance explaining the interrelationship of the PIE definition in the IESBA Code with
definitions established by relevant local bodies responsible for setting ethics standards
for professional accountants, which includes an explanation that the IESBA Code:

a. Provides for bodies responsible for setting ethics standards for professional
accountants to more explicitly define mandatory categories of PIEs, with

2

See the Final Pronouncement: Revisions to the Definitions of Listed Entity and Public Interest Entity in the Code.
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€)

(f)

(9)

examples of how these categories may be defined at the local level (paragraph
400.18 Al); and

b. Anticipates that those bodies responsible for setting ethics standards for professional
accountants will add categories of PIEs, with examples of such categories (e.g.,
pension funds and collective investment vehicles) (paragraph 400.18 A2).

Guidance in paragraph 400.19 A1, that encourages firms to determine if any additional entities
should be treated as PIEs for purposes of Part 4A of the IESBA Code, with factors for firms to
consider in making this determination.

Replacing the term “listed entity” in the IESBA Code Glossary with a newly defined term,
“publicly traded entity.” Publicly traded entity is one of the mandatory categories of entities
included in the revised PIE definition.

Requirements in paragraphs R400.20—-R400.21, for firms to publicly disclose when a firm has
applied the independence requirements for PIEs in a manner deemed appropriate, taking into
account the timing and accessibility of the information to stakeholders (i.e., the IESBA’s
transparency requirement).

IAASB'’s Project on Listed Entity and PIE

4,

The IAASB leveraged the IESBA’s Exposure Draft, Proposed Revisions to the Definitions of Listed
Entity and Public Interest Entity in the Code (the IESBA PIE ED) in exploring a project for revising

the ISQMs and ISAs as a result of the revisions to the definitions of listed entity and PIE in the IESBA
Code. Considering this information gathering, in March 2022, the IAASB approved a project proposal
to undertake a narrow scope project on listed entity and PIE.

The IESBA PIE ED incorporated specific questions that discussed various matters that were also
relevant to the IAASB standards, particularly the ISQMs and ISAs, and incorporated specific
questions to seek preliminary views from the IAASB’s stakeholders on those matters. This included
specific questions about:?

(@)

(b)

(©

Whether the overarching objective established by the IESBA could be used by both the IESBA and
the IAASB in establishing differential requirements for certain entities, including how this might be
approached for the ISQMs and ISAs.

Seeking feedback about the proposed case-by-case approach for determining whether
differential requirements already established within the IAASB standards should be applied
only to listed entities or might be more broadly applied to all categories of PIEs.

The appropriate mechanism that may be used to publicly disclose when a firm has applied the
independence requirements for PIEs. This included a question about whether it would be
appropriate to make such disclosure within the auditor’s report and if so, how might this be
approached in the auditor’s report.

3

The matters for the IESBA consideration included questions 1-14 of the IESBA PIE ED, however feedback on these questions
also had relevance to the IAASB. Question 15 (a)-(c) of the IESBA PIE ED was specific to the IAASB.


https://www.ethicsboard.org/publications/proposed-revisions-definitions-listed-entity-and-public-interest-entity-code
https://www.ethicsboard.org/publications/proposed-revisions-definitions-listed-entity-and-public-interest-entity-code
https://www.ifac.org/system/files/uploads/IAASB/Project-Proposal-Listed-Entity-Public-Interest-Entity.pdf
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The following are the project objectives that support the public interest, with the project being
undertaken as two Tracks:

Track 1:

. Determine whether the auditor’s report is an appropriate mechanism to enhance transparency
about the relevant ethical requirements for independence applied for certain entities when
performing an audit of financial statements (i.e., to operationalize the IESBA’s transparency
requirement).

Track 2:

. Achieve to the greatest extent possible convergence between the definitions and key concepts
underlying the definitions used in the revisions to the IESBA Code and the ISQMs and ISAs to
maintain their interoperability.

. Establish an objective and guidelines to support the IAASB’s judgments regarding specific
matters for which differential requirements for certain entities are appropriate.

) Determine whether, and the extent to which, to amend the applicability of the existing
differential requirements for listed entities in the ISQMs and ISAs to meet heightened
expectations of stakeholders regarding the performance of audit engagements for certain
entities, thereby enhancing confidence in audit engagements performed for those entities.

Track 1 of the project was concluded in June 2023, when the IAASB approved the narrow scope
amendments to ISA 700 (Revised)“ and ISA 260 (Revised)® to operationalize the IESBA’s
transparency requirement.® This ED deals with the proposed amendments to the ISQMs, ISAs and
ISRE 2400 (Revised) in undertaking Track 2 of the IAASB’s narrow scope project on listed entity and
PIE.

Coordination Between the IESBA and IAASB

8.

The IESBA and the IAASB recognize the importance of coordination between the two Boards to
achieve convergence, to the greatest extent possible, between the concepts of PIE and “publicly
traded entity” in the IESBA’s and the IAASB’s standards. Such convergence enables the
interoperability of the proposals made by each Board.

Accordingly, throughout the IAASB’s and the IESBA’s projects, there has been extensive
coordination between the two Boards through Staff coordination, the participation of the IAASB and
the IESBA correspondent members in the respective Boards’ Task Forces, plenary discussions
involving representatives of the IAASB and the IESBA at the respective Boards’ meetings,
incorporating specific questions to seek views from stakeholders in the IAASB and the IESBA
exposure drafts, joint IAASB-IESBA Consultative Advisory Group discussions and joint IAASB-IESBA
Jurisdictional / National Standard Setter (NSS) sessions.

ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements
ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance

See the Final Pronouncement: Narrow Scope Amendments to ISA 700 (Revised) and ISA 260 (Revised) as a Result of the
Revisions to the IESBA Code that Require a Firm to Publicly Disclose When a Firm Has Applied the Independence Requirements
for PIEs.



https://www.iaasb.org/publications/narrow-scope-amendments-isa-700-revised-forming-opinion-and-reporting-financial-statements-and-isa
https://www.iaasb.org/publications/narrow-scope-amendments-isa-700-revised-forming-opinion-and-reporting-financial-statements-and-isa
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Coordination with Other IAASB Task Forces

10.

In developing the ED, consideration was given to the following matters that are being contemplated
by other IAASB projects:

. Audits of Less Complex Entities (LCEs): The IAASB reflected on the impact that the adoption
of the PIE definition would have on the Authority of the ISA for Audits of Financial Statements
of Less Complex Entities (the ISA for LCE). This included consideration of how not to create
complexity for jurisdictions when determining the scope of entities for which the use of the ISA
for LCE is prohibited.

. Fraud and Going Concern Projects: The IAASB recognizes that further consideration may be
necessary for certain proposals contemplated by the fraud and going concern projects that include
establishing differential requirements that currently apply to listed entities. Such matters will be
considered once the IAASB’s deliberations for Track 2 of the project have advanced post exposure
and in parallel with the finalization of the proposed revised standards on fraud and going concern
(see paragraphs 63-64). The IAASB is also mindful about aligning the possible effective date
for this ED and the proposed revised standards on fraud and going concern given these
projects are considering, among other proposed actions, possible changes to enhance
transparency in the auditor’s report (see paragraph 65).

Section 1 Significant Matters

Section 1-A — Public Interest Issues Addressed

11.

12.

In developing this ED, the IAASB considered the qualitative standard-setting characteristics set out
in paragraph 31 of the project proposal and those included in the Public Interest Framework (PIF)7”
as criteria to assess the proposed standard’s responsiveness to the public interest.

Appendix 2 to this EM sets out a table that maps the proposed narrow scope revisions to the
standard-setting actions included in the project proposal as the actions are directly related to the
project objectives that support the public interest. Appendix 2 to this EM also highlights what
qualitative standard-setting characteristics were at the forefront, or of most relevance, when
determining how to address each proposed action.

Section 1-B — Objective for Establishing Differential Requirements for PIEs

13.

14.

Respondents to relevant IAASB matters addressed in the IESBA PIE ED supported the use of a common
objective as an overarching principle for establishing differential requirements for certain entities across
the IAASB standards and the IESBA Code.

Considering this support, the IAASB agreed to adopt the objective in paragraph 400.8 of the IESBA
PIE Revisions into ISQM 18 and ISA 200,° given these standards prescribe the authority for all ISQMs
and ISAs respectively (see proposed paragraph A29A of ISQM 1 and paragraph A81A of ISA 200 in

See the Monitoring Group report Strengthening the International Audit and Ethics Standard-Setting System (pages 22-23 of the
PIF’s section on “What qualitative characteristics should the standards exhibit?”).

ISQM 1, Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements or Other Assurance or Related
Services Engagements

ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards
on Auditing


https://www.iosco.org/about/monitoring_group/pdf/2020-07-MG-Paper-Strengthening-The-International-Audit-And-Ethics-Standard-Setting-System.pdf
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15.

16.

17.

18.

the ED). In doing so, the IAASB adapted the objective with minimal tailoring, so it remains appropriate
in the context of the ISQMs and ISAs.10

Respondents to the IESBA PIE ED also commented that the purpose for establishing differential
requirements in the IAASB standards may include a different rationale than the “independence of a firm”
as stated in paragraph 400.10 of the IESBA PIE Revisions.

The IAASB proposes that for the ISQMs and ISAs, the purpose of the differential requirements is to
meet “the heightened expectations of stakeholders regarding the audit engagement” (see proposed
paragraph A29B of ISQM 1 and paragraph A81B of ISA 200 in the ED). The IAASB believes this is
appropriate because the differential requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs include more than one rationale
and address broader matters than auditor independence, including:

. Establishing policies or procedures by the firm that address engagement quality reviews.1?

. Providing transparency to intended users about aspects of the audit (e.g., auditor
independence, communicating key audit matters (KAM), the name of the engagement partner
and providing transparency about other information).12

. Communicating to those charged with governance (TCWG) to assist them in fulfilling their
responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process (e.g., communicating about the system
of quality management and auditor independence).13

The IAASB acknowledges that ISQM 1 applies to all engagements performed under the IAASB
standards, including the ISA for LCE, reviews of financial statements in accordance with International
Standards on Review Engagements (ISREs), and other assurance or related services engagements
in accordance with International Standards on Assurance Engagements (ISAEs) and International
Standards on Related Services (ISRSs). However, the ISRESs, ISAEs and ISRSs standards do not
presently include differential requirements,'4 and as such, the focus on the audit engagement in
ISQM 1 would not at this time be inconsistent with the overall body of standards. Similarly, the ISA
for LCE does not include differential requirements, and its authority prohibits application for listed
entities or entities with public interest characteristics.

In addition, the IAASB considered, but decided against providing an objective that would be specific
about the nature of the differential requirements described in paragraph 16, because of:

. The desire for consistency, coherence, and conciseness across the ISQMs and ISAs.
Providing more specificity would necessitate different explanations in the ISQMs and the ISAs

10

11

12

13

14

This included providing a reference to the ISQMs and ISAs in place of the relevant Part of the IESBA Code and removing the
reference to “application material” given these paragraphs already form part of the application and other explanatory material to
the authority section of ISQM 1 and ISA 200.

ISQM 1, paragraph 34(f)

ISA 700 (Revised), paragraphs 30-31, 40(b)—(c), 46, 50(l), ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent
Auditor's Report, paragraph 5 and ISA 720 (Revised), The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information, paragraphs
21-22(b)

ISQM 1, paragraph 34(e) and ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph 17

The differential requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs apply only to listed entities. The proposed narrow scope amendments to
ISRE 2400 (Revised) discussed in Section 1-E of the EM include a proposal for a conditional requirement that applies to certain

entities specified in the relevant ethical requirements, which does not constitute a differential requirement established by the
IAASB.
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given the nature of the differential requirements across those standards are different. This
could lead to an inconsistent approach across the overall body of standards and may
inadvertently create complexity across the differential requirements in the IAASB standards.

. The need for relevance through recognizing and responding to emerging public interest issues
and evolving user needs over time. Providing more specificity could inadvertently predetermine
the scope of matters for which differential requirements are appropriate and restrict flexibility
for circumstances when differential requirements are necessary in the ISQMs and ISAs as part
of future standard-setting.

Section 1-C — Definitions of PIE and “Publicly Traded Entity”

19.

20.

21.

Respondents to relevant IAASB matters addressed in the IESBA PIE ED encouraged the IAASB and
the IESBA to seek consistency and alignment of important concepts and definitions used in the respective
Boards’ standards, and in doing so supported alignment in the types of entities to which differential
requirements apply.

Considering this support, the IAASB is proposing to adopt the definitions of PIE and “publicly traded
entity” in the Definitions section of ISQM 1 and ISA 200 (see proposed paragraphs 16(p)A—16(p)B of
ISQM 1 and paragraphs 13(1)A-13(I)B of ISA 200 in the ED). In addition, upon finalization of the
approved pronouncement for Track 2, these definitions will become accessible through the IAASB
Glossary of Terms,!® to assist with common and consistent interpretation (including for translations).

The definitions of PIE and “publicly traded entity” were exposed for public comment by IESBA in their
project on the definitions of listed entity and PIE. Therefore, these changes have undergone proper
due process for the Standard Setting Boards under the International Foundation for Ethics and Audit.

Definition of PIE

22,

The definition of PIE includes a broadly defined list of mandatory, high-level PIE categories, shown
in the box below.

Mandatory, high-level PIE categories:

0] A publicly traded entity;

(i)  An entity one of whose main functions is to take deposits from the public;

(i) An entity one of whose main functions is to provide insurance to the public; or

(iv)  An entity specified as such by law, regulation or professional requirements related to the
significance of the public interest in the financial condition of the entity.16

15

16

The IAASB Glossary of Terms is a non-authoritative document. Paragraph A67 of ISA 200 explains that the IAASB Glossary of
Terms contains a complete listing of terms defined in the IAASB standards and includes descriptions of other terms found in the
IAASB standards to assist in common and consistent interpretation and translation.

Some changes were applied to category (iv) in incorporating the IESBA PIE Revisions which were necessary given the
differences in the drafting conventions among the respective Boards’ standards. For example, the term “professional standards”
was replaced with “professional requirements” because unlike the IESBA Code, the term “professional standards” has a defined
meaning for the purpose of the ISQMs and ISAs. In addition, the reference to the purpose described in paragraph 400.10 of the

10
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23.

24,

When developing the approach to revise the PIE definition, the IESBA recognized the difficulty of
establishing a concise definition that can be universally adopted at the global level because of the variety
of circumstances that exist across jurisdictions. Accordingly, under the proposed approach of the IESBA
Code, the relevant local bodies (such as regulators or oversight bodies, NSS or professional
accountancy bodies, as appropriate in a jurisdiction) play a pivotal role in establishing the local PIE
definition through refining the PIE categories, setting size criteria and adding new types of entities or
exempting particular entities. The IESBA noted that the relevant local bodies have the responsibility,
and are also best placed, to assess and determine with greater precision which entities or types of
entities should be treated as PIEs for the purposes of meeting the IESBA Code’s overarching
objective. The IESBA also observed that a number of relevant local bodies have already done so by
taking into consideration issues, concerns and nuances specific to the local environment and how
these impact the public interest in their jurisdictions.

The IAASB believes that it is essential to incorporate in the ISQMs and ISAs the entire approach to
scoping PIEs as contemplated in the IESBA Code because convergence is part of the IAASB's project
objectives (see paragraph 6) and because all elements of the approach are necessary to ensure that
the differential requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs are appropriate in the circumstances of the
jurisdiction. The IAASB has therefore proposed to adopt the definition of PIE and include a
requirement with supporting application material to treat an entity as a PIE in accordance with the
definition, based on the approach in the IESBA Code (see proposed paragraphs 16(p)A, 18A, A29D—
A29F of ISQM 1 and paragraphs 13()A, 23A, A81D-A81F of ISA 200 in the ED). In addition, to
recognize the primary role of the firm in establishing policies or procedures about entities that meet
the definition of PIE and other entities to be treated as PIEs, paragraph 23A of ISA 200 in the ED
was supplemented to require the auditor to follow the firm related policies or procedures.

Definition of “Publicly Traded Entity” in Place of Listed Entity

25,

26.

The IESBA PIE Revisions included replacing the definition of “listed entity” with a newly defined term
— “publicly traded entity.” “Publicly traded entity” is also one of the mandatory categories of entities
included in the PIE definition. As shown in the box below, the defined term “publicly traded entity”
encapsulates the term listed entity as an example defined by relevant securities law or regulation
(rather than a standalone definition). On this basis a listed entity as defined by relevant securities law
or regulation in the jurisdiction will continue to meet the definition of a “publicly traded entity” provided the
other criteria of the definition are met and subject to any refinements to this category by relevant local
bodies (e.g., making reference to specific public markets for trading securities).

Publicly traded entity — An entity that issues financial instruments that are transferrable and traded
through a publicly accessible market mechanism, including through listing on a stock exchange.
A listed entity as defined by relevant securities law or regulation is an example of a publicly traded
entity.

The table below includes examples that have been sourced from the IESBA PIE ED and the Basis
for Conclusions, Revisions to the Definitions of Listed Entity and Public Interest Entity in the Code,
illustrating how replacing the definition of “listed entity” with “publicly traded entity” would impact

IESBA PIE Revisions was not cross-referenced given it forms part of the application material of the ISQM 1 and ISA 200. Instead,
the phrase “related to the significance of the public interest in the financial condition of the entity” was added to the text of category

(@iv).

11
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entities. This is relevant when considering how the scope of entities to which the extant differential
requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs would change:

The change would result
in the entity being
scoped in

Entities issuing and trading
financial instruments other than
shares, stock or debt as
currently specified in the extant
definition of “listed entity.”

Entities trading financial
instruments in less regulated
markets.

Entities whose financial
instruments might be listed but
are not intended to be traded or
are not freely transferable.

Entities trading through a
market mechanism that is not
publicly accessible or when
there is no facilitated trading
platform such as an auction-
based exchange or electronic
exchange.

Section 1-D - Differential Requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs

27.

28.

29.

» Entities issuing and trading

other types of instruments
such as warrants or hybrid
securities.

Entities trading on second-
tier markets or over-the-
counter trading platforms.

Groups where the relevant
instruments are held entirely
intra-group.

Privately negotiated
agreements (with or without
the assistance of a broker).

The IAASB previously explored, through its standard-setting projects, extending the applicability of
its differential requirements for listed entities in the ISQMs and ISAs to apply more broadly to other
entities that exhibit public interest or public accountability characteristics. This was largely driven by
an increased emphasis by intended users regarding the performance of audit engagements on this
broader group of entities and stakeholder demands for the requirements to be consistently applied
to certain types of entities that may not be listed, but for which the requirements would be appropriate
(e.g., for financial institutions including banks and insurance companies).

The IAASB is also aware of ongoing legislative developments in various jurisdictions who have
already extended, or are considering extending, the applicability of the differential requirements for
listed entities in their national equivalent ISQMs and ISAs to apply to PIEs.Y”

The IAASB decided not to expand the differential requirements beyond listed entities in the ISQMs
and ISAs in previous public consultations, deliberations, and discussions, mostly due to:

17

For example, the United Kingdom, European Union, Japan and New Zealand (for reporting entities considered to have a higher
level of public accountability) have extended in full or in part the differential requirements to apply to PIEs. In addition, several
jurisdictions, such as Australia, Canada, and South Africa, are currently assessing, or plan to assess in the near future, the
extension of the applicability of the differential requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs to apply to entities other than listed entities.

12
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30.

31.

32.

33.

. The lack of a global baseline for the definition of PIE that could be consistently applied across
jurisdictions.

. The unintended consequences of the requirements applying to smaller entities that could be
scoped into the definition of a PIE (e.g., due to regulations or legislation) and for which it may
be impracticable or overly burdensome to apply the requirements in such cases.

In developing the definition, the IESBA acknowledged the challenge described in paragraph 29 of
inadvertently scoping in entities where the public interest in the financial condition of those entities is
not significant. In response, the IESBA has:

. Provided for law, regulation, or professional standards to more explicitly define the mandatory
categories of PIEs (see paragraph 400.18 Al of the IESBA PIE Revisions) by, for example,
referring to specific public markets for trading securities, referring to law or regulation
containing definitions of entities, making exemptions or setting size criteria.

. Set a requirement for firms to apply these more explicit definitions established by law,
regulation, or professional standards (see paragraph R400.18 of the IESBA PIE Revisions).

Accordingly, the revised approach to PIEs in the IESBA Code places a significant focus on the entities
that should be treated as PIEs in the context of the facts and circumstances in a specific jurisdiction
(e.g., determining whether smaller entities should be excluded from any or all of the categories of
PIEs and what threshold should be set for such exclusion taking into account the need to balance
the public interest and the burden of additional requirements imposed on the auditors of PIES). In
addition, the IESBA formed the view that establishing an overarching objective and expanding the
PIE categories in the IESBA Code should bring some level of global consistency to the types of
entities that should be treated as PIEs (i.e., a global baseline).18

Given that relevant local bodies play an essential role in the proposed approach when establishing
national PIE definitions, the IESBA has also committed to an outreach and rollout program to assist
developing or revising the definitions of PIE at the local level based on the IESBA PIE Revisions.!®

Accordingly, the IAASB believes that the revised approach to scoping PIEs in the IESBA Code
addresses previous concerns raised from public consultations about extending the differential
requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs to apply to PIEs.

Case-by-Case Analysis

34.

Respondents to relevant IAASB matters addressed in the IESBA PIE ED broadly supported that the
IAASB should undertake a case-by-case approach to determine whether the differential requirements
established in the IAASB standards that currently apply only to listed entities should be revised to apply
more broadly to all categories of PIEs. In doing so, respondents commented that the approach undertaken
should remain sufficiently flexible (i.e., avoid a “one-size fits all’ approach) and that it should take into
consideration the public interest factors in the context of the individual objectives of the standards where
differential requirements exist. Respondents also supported a balanced approach to avoid creating
complexity through introducing too many differential requirements in the IAASB standards.

18

19

See the IESBA’s Basis for Conclusions, Revisions to the Definitions of Listed Entity and Public Interest Entity in the Code.

See the |[ESBA’s Rollout initiative, including non-authoritative materials to support the adoption and effective implementation of
the IESBA PIE Revisions: the IESBA’s Database of PIE Definitions by Jurisdiction and the IESBA Questions and Answers,
Revisions to the Definitions of Listed Entity and Public Interest Entity in the Code.
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35. Given this support, the IAASB undertook a case-by-case analysis of extant differential requirements
in the ISQMs and ISAs, which included consideration of:

. The purpose of the extant differential requirements to validate that the public interest factors
which drive those requirements is consistent with the objective described in Section 1-B.

. The related application material to the differential requirements in order to identify whether any
unintended consequences exist, such as matters around jurisdictional considerations or
practicality and operability for audits of financial statements of entities other than PIEs.

. Whether there was indication of support for extending the applicability of the differential
requirements to apply to PIEs or more broadly from previous IAASB public consultations,
deliberations and decisions at the time when the extant differential requirements were
established.

o Other relevant IAASB information gathering.20
A summary of the outcome from the case-by-case analysis is provided in Appendix 1.

36. The IAASB’s key observation regarding the case-by-case analysis is that the public interest factors
which drive the extant differential requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs support enhancing
stakeholders’ confidence in the audit and the audited financial statements of listed entities. This aligns
with the purpose stated in the objective for establishing differential requirements more broadly for
PIEs discussed in Section 1-B. Consequently, it would be consistent with the objective if they were
extended to apply to PIEs. In addition, the feedback from other IAASB information gathering indicated
broad support from stakeholders for the applicability of the extant differential requirements in the
ISQMs and ISAs to apply to PIEs, with one notable exception. Extending the reporting requirements
in paragraphs 21-22(b) of ISA 720 (Revised) to PIEs was not supported, because respondents found
the practical difficulties associated with identifying and considering the other information received
after the date of the auditor’'s report to outweigh the public interest benefits of doing so (see
paragraphs 47-51).

37. Except for ISA 720 (Revised), the IAASB believes that extending the extant differential requirements
in the ISQMs and ISAs to PIEs, as summarized in Appendix 1, would support the public interest as
this would:

) Be responsive to stakeholder feedback from previous IAASB information gathering and public
consultations, including capturing certain financial institutions such as banks and insurance
companies for which stakeholders have indicated it would be appropriate to apply the
differential requirements for listed entities in the ISQMs and ISAs.

. Promote more consistency among jurisdictions globally when applying the ISQMs and ISAs,
given that some jurisdictions have already extended (or are considering extending) the
applicability of the differential requirements to apply to PIEs in their national equivalent auditing
standards.

) Result in alignment of key concepts and definitions across the IAASB and the IESBA standards
and enable less complexity related to the types of entities to which the differential requirements
in the respective standards apply.

20 For example, the post-implementation review (PIR) of the Auditor Reporting Standards and, where appropriate, how NSS have

addressed this issue at jurisdictional levels.
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38. The table below references, by affected ISQM and ISA, the paragraphs proposed in the ED for
amending the relevant extant differential requirements. Paragraphs 39-51 below provide additional
explanation of the proposed changes relating to engagements subject to engagement quality review
(ISQM 1), auditor independence (ISA 260 (Revised)) and communicating KAM (ISA 701), as well as
for proposing changes in relation to transparency about other information (ISA 720 (Revised)).

Engagements Subject to an Engagement Quality Review ISQM 1, paragraph 34(f)

Communication with TCWG About the System of Quality

ISQM 1 h 34
Management SQM 1, paragraph 34(e)

ISA 260 (Revised), paragraphs 17,
Auditor Independence 17A;

ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 40(b)

. ISA 700 (Revised), paragraphs 30—
C ting KAM
ommunicating 31, 40(c); ISA 701, paragraph 5
Name of the Engagement Partner ISA 700 (Revised), paragraphs 46,
50(1)
ISA 720 (Revised), paragraphs 21—

Transparency About the Other Information
parency 22(b)

Engagements Subject to an Engagement Quality Review

39. In addition to the rationale set out in paragraph 37 above for extending the applicability of the extant
differential requirement for engagement quality reviews, the IAASB also considered that entities with
a significant public interest in their financial condition would likely already be covered in the scope of
entities subject to engagement quality reviews given the risk-based approach in ISQM 1 to
determining engagements subject to an engagement quality review.

40. In determining the proposed revisions, the IAASB also considered that ISQM 1 became effective as
of December 15, 2022, and that further revisions to the standard in short succession would not be
optimal or practical for stakeholder constituencies. However, given the possible effective date of
December 2026 for the proposed narrow scope amendments contemplated under Track 2 of the
project (see paragraph 65 below), the IAASB believes that there is a sufficient period of stability
provided to support stakeholder implementation efforts in relation to ISQM 1. In addition, given that
the IESBA PIE Revisions become effective for audits and reviews of financial statements for periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2024, this would also benefit stakeholder constituencies to have
already considered and implemented the definition of PIE in their national jurisdictions.

Auditor Independence

41. The IAASB is proposing to amend the applicability of the extant differential requirement in paragraph
17 of ISA 260 (Revised) by bifurcating the requirement as follows:
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42.

43.

44,

. A requirement that would apply to audits of financial statements of all entities to communicate
with TCWG a statement that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, the
firm and, when applicable, network firms have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence.

. A requirement that would apply only to PIEs to communicate with TCWG a statement that
would address the matters set out in subparagraphs 17(i)—(ii) of extant ISA 260 (Revised) (i.e.,
in accordance with the rationale set out in paragraph 37 above for differential requirements
that apply to PIES).

In proposing that paragraph 17 of ISA 260 (Revised) in the ED should apply to audits of financial
statements of all entities, the IAASB considered:

) The requirement in paragraph 28(c) of ISA 700 (Revised) that requires communication about
compliance with independence requirements in the auditor’s report for all audit engagements.
It is therefore illogical and inconsistent that the auditor would communicate with TCWG about
compliance with independence requirements only if the entity is a listed entity (or PIE).

. The interrelationship with the new requirement in paragraph 16A of ISA 260 (Revised),
approved under Track 1 of the project, that applies to audits of all entities, and requires the
communication with TCWG about the relevant ethical requirements, including those related to
independence, that the auditor applies for the audit engagement.

In coordinating with the IESBA, it was noted that the extant requirement in paragraph 17(a) of ISA
260 (Revised) is not consistent with recently revised requirements to communicate with TCWG in the
IESBA Code.?! The IAASB considered whether ISA 260 (Revised) should be updated to better align
with the IESBA Code, however believes that doing so is duplicative, and creates complexities and
confusion if the requirements in the IAASB standards do not fully address all requirements in the
IESBA Code dealing with communication with TCWG. As such, the IAASB proposes removing the
explicit requirement to communicate fee-related matters in paragraph 17(a) of ISA 260 (Revised),
and instead refer to the IESBA Code in the application material to draw attention to the fact that the
IESBA Code also contains requirements regarding communication with TCWG (see proposed
paragraph A29A in ISA 260 (Revised) of the ED).

The IAASB believes this approach is appropriate because it is consistent with the objective of the
listed entity and PIE project to achieve to the greatest extent possible convergence between the key
concepts in the IESBA Code and the IAASB standards so as to maintain their interoperability. In
addition, the IAASB believes doing so would not weaken the ISAs because the auditor is already
required to comply with relevant ethical requirements in accordance with paragraph 14 of ISA 200.
Also, this would accommodate a more future-proof approach when there are changes to the relevant
requirements of the IESBA Code given that the IESBA Code is better placed to robustly address any
need to communicate matters to TCWG regarding ethics and independence. Furthermore, revising
the ISAs to replicate requirements in the IESBA Code does not promote a framework neutral
approach to ethical requirements.

21

For example, ISA 260 (Revised) requires communication of “all relationships and other matters between the firm, network firms,
and the entity.” This would not include all direct financial interests or material indirect financial interests in the audit client as
required by paragraph R510.4 of the IESBA Code. Similarly, the IESBA has introduced new requirements to communicate with
TCWG in recent projects such as the Revisions to the Non-Assurance Service Provisions of the Code and the Revisions to the
Fee-related Provisions of the Code.
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45,

As a consequence of the proposals discussed in paragraph 41 above to bifurcate the extant
requirement in paragraph 17 of ISA 260 (Revised), the IAASB has also proposed to align the
requirement in paragraph 40(b) of ISA 700 (Revised) in the ED. In addition, alignment changes have
been proposed to the illustrative auditor’s reports that are affected.

Communicating KAM

46.

In addition to the rationale set out in paragraph 37 above for extending the applicability of the extant
differential requirement for communicating KAM, the IAASB also considered:

. The support from the Auditor Reporting Post Implementation Review (PIR) Stakeholder Survey
indicating respondents’ preference for mandatory communication of KAM for PIEs. While there was
majority support from all stakeholder constituencies, a substantially higher percentage of
respondents who responded to the PIR Stakeholder Survey (above 80%) was indicated by
investors and regulators relative to other respondent groups.

) The guidance in paragraph A59 of ISA 701 that draws attention that there may be certain limited
circumstances (e.qg., for a listed entity that has very limited operations) when there are no matters
that required significant auditor attention. In such circumstances, the auditor would determine that
there is no KAM.

Transparency About Other Information

47.

48.

49,

The IAASB has decided not to amend the differential requirements for listed entities in paragraphs
21-22(b) of ISA 720 (Revised) to apply to PIEs.

In reaching its view, the IAASB considered the findings from the Auditor Reporting PIR that noted
challenges and practical difficulties which arose in various jurisdictions with the implementation of
ISA 720 (Revised), including:

. Identifying which other information is included in the annual report and therefore affecting the scope
of the auditor’s responsibilities to read and consider the other information.

. Practical issues that arise when the other information is not available at the time the auditor’s report
is signed. Respondents’ views included that for those jurisdictions where the other information is
usually received after the auditor’s report is signed and for entities other than listed entities, the
practical difficulties encountered with considering the other information outweighed the public
interest benefits.

On balance, the IAASB believes that it is in the public interest not to extend the differential
requirements in ISA 720 (Revised) to PIEs as this may exacerbate the identified issues. However,
the IAASB notes that the public interest factors that drive these requirements include to provide
transparency to intended users about the other information and the auditor’s work effort in relation to
such information, including whether there is a material misstatement that may undermine the
credibility of the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon or inappropriately influence the
economic decisions of the users for whom the auditor’s report is prepared. Because these factors
align with the objective for establishing differential requirements for PIEs discussed in Section 1-B,
the IAASB intends to defer a discussion on extending these requirements to apply to PIEs until a
comprehensive revision of the standard is undertaken based on future IAASB work plan decisions.
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50.

51.

Until such time that a comprehensive revision of ISA 720 (Revised) is undertaken, the IAASB has
proposed to amend the applicability of the differential requirements for listed entity to apply to “publicly
traded entity.” In reaching its view, the IAASB considered that it is necessary to reduce complexity
about the scope of the standard, given that listed entity would no longer be a defined term for the
ISAs (see paragraph 25) and because in certain jurisdictions law or regulation may not define a listed
entity. In addition, the IAASB considered the impact of the change to the scope of entities should a
requirement apply to listed entities compared to publicly traded entities (see paragraph 26). The
IAASB formed the view that for ISA 720 (Revised) it would be appropriate to provide transparency to
intended users about other information for those entities whose financial instruments are
transferrable and traded through a publicly accessible market mechanism as envisioned by the
“publicly traded entity” definition.

Certain changes to the illustrative auditor’s reports in the Appendix of ISA 720 (Revised) were also
made to maintain the coherence with the proposed extensions for the differential requirements for
listed entities in ISA 700 (Revised) and ISA 701 to apply to PIEs.

Section 1-E — Proposed Revisions to ISRE 2400 (Revised)

52.

53.

54,

As discussed in paragraph 7, in June 2023, under Track 1 of the project, the IAASB approved narrow
scope amendments to ISA 700 (Revised) that supported operationalizing the IESBA’s transparency
requirement. This included amending paragraph 28(c) of ISA 700 (Revised) to include a requirement
that applies only when the relevant ethical requirements require public disclosure that differential
independence requirements for audits of financial statements of certain entities were applied, such
as PIEs in the IESBA Code. If this is the case, then the auditor is required to indicate in the auditor’s
report that the relevant ethical requirements for independence for those entities were applied.??

Given that Part 4A of the IESBA Code also applies to review engagements,?? the I1AASB is proposing
amending ISRE 2400 (Revised) to address transparency about the relevant ethical requirements for
independence applied for certain entities, in order to maintain the coherence and interoperability with
the IESBA Code. In doing so, the IAASB believes that pursuing a consistent approach to the practitioner’s
review report with the revisions to the auditor’s report would support the public interest because it would
avoid confusion for intended users that may arise if the disclosure of independence requirements for audit
and review engagements are misaligned.

Paragraph 86(j) of extant ISRE 2400 (Revised) requires the practitioner to include a reference in the
practitioner’s report of the obligation to comply with relevant ethical requirements. However, the
practitioner is not required to provide a statement similar to the requirement in paragraph 28(c) of
ISA 700 (Revised), which requires the auditor to identify the jurisdiction of origin of the relevant ethical
requirements or refer to the IESBA Code. In addition, ISRE 2400 (Revised) is not aligned with the

22

23

See the Final Pronouncement: Narrow Scope Amendments to ISA 700 (Revised) and ISA 260 (Revised) as a Result of the
Revisions to the IESBA Code that Require a Firm to Publicly Disclose When a Firm Has Applied the Independence Requirements

for PIEs.

Paragraph 400.2 of the IESBA Code explains that Part 4A (which includes the transparency requirement in paragraphs R400.20—
R400.21 of the IESBA PIE Revisions) applies to both audit and review engagements unless otherwise stated, and that the terms
“audit,” “audit team,” “audit engagement,” “audit client,” and “audit report” apply equally to review, review team, review
engagement, review client, and review engagement report.
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55.

56.

57.

changes to the auditor’s report introduced as part of the IAASB’s auditor reporting project,?* such as
the structure of the report and including new elements introduced to the auditor’s report.

The proposed amendments to paragraph 86(j)A of ISRE 2400 (Revised) in the ED include a new
requirement that applies only when the relevant ethical requirements require public disclosure that
specific independence requirements for reviews of financial statements of certain entities were
applied, such as PIEs in the IESBA Code. If this is the case, then the practitioner is required to include
a statement in the practitioner’s report that identifies the jurisdiction of origin of the relevant ethical
requirements or refers to the IESBA Code and indicates that the practitioner is independent of the
entity in accordance with the independence requirements applicable to reviews of financial
statements for those entities.

Proposed paragraph A137A of ISRE 2400 (Revised) in the ED includes new application material in
support of the requirement. Among other matters, the application material refers to the IESBA Code
as an example of relevant ethical requirements that have a transparency requirement and provides
an illustration of the disclosure in the practitioner’s report when the IESBA Code comprises all the
relevant ethical requirements that apply to the review engagement.

The IAASB is also aware that reviews of PIEs’ historical financial statements under ISRE 2400
(Revised) are rare in practice,? and it is more common among jurisdictions that an interim review
engagement would be performed by the independent auditor for listed entities or PIEs under ISRE
2410.26 However, in line with the actions discussed in the project proposal, the IAASB is not
proposing amendments to ISRE 2410 at this time given that ISRE 2410 is still in pre-clarity format
and has not been subject to conforming and consequential amendments arising from other IAASB
projects in recent years to avoid giving the impression that this standard is up to date. The IAASB
also acknowledges that any resulting revisions to ISRE 2410 would need to be part of a broader
project to revise this standard that would be determined as part of the IAASB’s future work plan
decisions.

Section 1-F — Other Matters

Central List of Factors in Evaluating the Extent of Public Interest of an Entity

58.

The application material to the current differential requirements for listed entities in the ISQMs and
ISAs includes various examples that illustrate:

. The types of entities that may exhibit public interest or public accountability characteristics for
which it may also be appropriate to apply a certain differential requirement.?”

) Circumstances when law or regulation may require the application of a differential requirement
to entities other than listed entities.?®

24

25

26

27

28

As part of the auditor reporting project, completed by the IAASB in September 2014, the IAASB determined not to make revisions
to assurance reports for other engagements (including for reviews of financial statements) to include elements similar to those in the
auditor’s report on an audit of financial statements.

Form its information gathering with NSS, only one jurisdiction (i.e., South Africa) noted that there is a regulatory reporting
requirement in accordance with ISRE 2400 (Revised) for banks which would qualify as PIEs under the revised PIE definition.

ISRE 2410, Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity
For example, see paragraph A32 of ISA 260 (Revised).
For example, see paragraph A40 of ISA 700 (Revised).
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59.

60.

61.

The IAASB is proposing a central list of factors, based on paragraphs 400.9 and 400.18 A2 of the
IESBA PIE Revisions, incorporated in ISQM 1 and ISA 200 to support consideration of whether there
are other types of entities for which it may be appropriate to apply the differential requirements in the
ISQMs and ISAs (see proposed paragraphs A29C, A29G of ISQM 1 and paragraphs A81C, A81G of
ISA 200 in the ED). The IAASB believes this would drive consistency and reduce the duplicative
nature of this application material across the ISQMs and ISAs.

In incorporating the factors, the IAASB considered the commonality between the factors in the IESBA
Code and the existing application material in the ISQMs and ISAs that describes other entities to
which the differential requirements may be relevant. In addition, the IAASB notes that these factors
were exposed for public comment by the IESBA in their project on the definitions of listed entity and
PIE and have therefore undergone a proper due process.

The central list of factors is not exhaustive, which is consistent with the approach of the IESBA Code.
Law, regulation, or relevant local bodies may identify additional entities that are PIEs, or a firm may
identify additional entities to which the firm applies a requirement that is applicable to audits of PIEs.
In addition, to drive a consistent approach when determining to treat other entities as a PIE between
the IESBA Code and the ISQMs / ISAs, the IAASB emphasized that a relevant consideration when
making such determination is whether the firm / auditor treated an entity as a PIE when applying
relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence.

Alignment Changes

62.

Because of the proposals in this ED, various alignment changes were necessary for the introductory
and application material in the ISQMs and ISAs. For example, in the illustrative auditor’s reports
included in the Appendices of the 500, 700 and 800 series of ISAs, the term “listed entity” (or “entity
other than listed entity”) was replaced with “public interest entity,” “entity other than a public interest
entity” or “publicly traded entity.” Also, when applicable, the application material that relates to a
differential requirement(s) has been updated as a result of changes to entities to which the extant
differential requirements apply and to align with the concepts underpinning PIEs.

Differential Requirements Relating to the Fraud and Going Concern Projects

63.

64.

As discussed in paragraph 10, in addressing the project objectives for enhanced transparency, the
IAASB’s fraud and going concern projects are considering establishing differential requirements that
apply to listed entities which have implications to the auditor’s report, as follows:

. For the fraud project, when applying ISA 701, communicating in the KAM section of the
auditor’s report, KAM related to fraud.

. For the going concern project, describing in a separate section of the auditor’s report how the
auditor evaluated management’s assessment of going concern when events or conditions have
been identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern (both when no material uncertainty exists or when a material uncertainty exists).

The public consultation for ED-5702° closed on August 24, 2023. ED-570 included a specific question
for respondents (i.e., question 14) seeking views from respondents to inform the IAASB’s

29

See Exposure Draft (ED-570): Proposed International Standard on Auditing 570 (Revised 202X), Going Concern and Proposed
Conforming and Consequential Amendments to Other ISAs.
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consideration about extending the applicability of the proposed differential requirements for listed
entities to apply to audits of financial statements of entities other than listed entities. In addition, as
part of the public consultation for fraud,3° the IAASB intends to seek views from respondents about
extending the applicability of the differential requirements for listed entities to communicate KAM
related to fraud. As the deliberations for this ED advance post exposure, and in parallel with the
finalization of the proposed revised standards for fraud and going concern, the IAASB also intends
to further consider extending the applicability of the differential requirements for listed entities
proposed for fraud and going concern.

Effective Date

65.

The IAASB anticipates that the final pronouncement for Track 2 of the listed entity and PIE project
would be approved in December 2024. Recognizing that it is preferred to coordinate effective dates
with the fraud and going concern projects that are also considering actions that may result in revisions
that impact auditor reports, the IAASB believes that an appropriate effective date for the standard
would be for financial reporting periods beginning at least 18-24 months after the PIOB’s process of
certification of the final narrow scope amendments for Track 2.31 The IAASB is of the view that this
timeframe is adequate to allow jurisdictions sufficient time for translation of the final text of the
standard, for national adoption processes to occur, and for practitioners to update templates and
associated internal materials.

30

31

The public consultation for proposed ISA 240 (Revised), The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial
Statements, is expected to be published in quarter 1 of 2024 for a 120-day public comment period.

After approval by the IAASB, the PIOB will consider its public certification of an approved new or revised standard(s) to confirm
the PIOB’s oversight of the standard-setting process throughout the full development cycle, that the standard was developed in
a manner consistent with agreed due process and that the standard is responsive to the public interest, in accordance with the
Public Interest Framework.
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Section 2 Questions for Respondents

Respondents are asked to respond to the questions below using the Response Template as explained in
the Request for Comments on page 3 of this EM.

Specific Questions for Respondents

Sections or
paragraphs in this
EM for reference

Obijective for Establishing Differential Requirements for PIEs

Do you agree with establishing the overarching objective and purpose
for differential requirements for PIEs in the ISQMs and ISAs as proposed
in paragraphs A29A-A29B of ISQM 1 and paragraphs A81A—-A81B of
ISA 200 in the ED? If not, what do you propose and why?

Section 1-B,
paragraphs 13-18

Definitions of PIE and “Publicly Traded Entity”

2.

Do you agree with adopting the definitions of PIE and “publicly traded
entity” into ISQM 1 and ISA 200 (see proposed paragraphs 16(p)A—
16(p)B of ISQM 1 and paragraphs 13(I)A—-13(I)B of ISA 200 in the ED)?
If not, what do you propose and why?

Section 1-C,
paragraphs 19-26

Differential Requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs

3.

Do you agree with the IAASB’s proposals for extending the extant
differential requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs to apply to PIEs?

If you do not agree, what alternatives do you suggest (please elaborate
why you believe such alternatives would be more appropriate,
practicable and capable of being consistently applied globally)?

Please answer these questions separately for each of the relevant
differential requirements, as follows (references are to the proposed
paragraphs in the ED):

3A. ISQM 1, paragraph 34(f) — engagement quality reviews.

3B. ISQM 1, paragraph 34(e) — communication with TCWG about the
firm’s system of quality management.

3C. ISA 260 (Revised), paragraphs 17, 17A, and ISA 700 (Revised),
paragraph 40(b) — communicating about auditor independence.

3D. ISA 700 (Revised), paragraphs 30-31, 40(c), and ISA 701,
paragraph 5 — communicating KAM.

3E. ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 46, 50(I) — name of the engagement
partner.

Section 1-D,
paragraphs 27-46

Appendix 1
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Sections or
Specific Questions for Respondents paragraphs in this
EM for reference

4. Do you agree with the IAASB’s proposal to amend the applicability of the | Section 1-D,
differential requirements for listed entities in ISA 720 (Revised) to apply | paragraphs 47-51

“* H 5 U? I)
to “publicly traded entity”? If not, what do you propose and why?~ Appendix 1

Proposed Revisions to ISRE 2400 (Revised)

5. Do you agree with the new requirement and application material in ISRE | Section 1-E,
2400 (Revised) to provide transparency in the practitioner’s review report | paragraphs 52-57
about the relevant ethical requirements for independence applied for
certain entities, such as the independence requirements for PIEs in the
IESBA Code? If not, what do you propose and why?

Other Matters

6. Are there any other matters you would like to raise in relation to the ED?
If so, please clearly indicate the requirement(s) or application material,
or the theme or topic, to which your comment(s) relate.

Request for General Comments
The IAASB is also seeking comments on the matters set out below:

7. Translations—Recognizing that many respondents may intend to translate the final narrow scope
amendments for adoption in their own environments, the IAASB welcomes comment on potential
translation issues respondents note in reviewing the ED.

8. Effective Date—Given it is preferred to coordinate effective dates with the fraud and going concern
projects, the IAASB believes that an appropriate effective date for the narrow scope amendments
would be for financial reporting periods beginning approximately 18-24 months after the PIOB’s
process of certification of the final narrow scope amendments for Track 2. The IAASB welcomes
comments on whether this would provide a sufficient period to support effective implementation of
the narrow scope amendments for Track 2 of the listed entity and PIE project.
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Appendix 1 — Summary of the Case-by-Case Analysis of Extant Differential Requirements in the

ISQM / ISA

Ref.

Public Interest Factors

ISQMs and ISAs

Application Material that Provides Guidance on
Applicability

Engagements Subject to an Engagement Quality Review

Stakeholder Support for Extending the
Applicability32

ISQM 1,
paragraph
34(f)

Providing greater
confidence to the public in
the consistent performance
of quality engagements.

ISQM 1, paragraph A134:

A firm may determine that an engagement quality review is an
appropriate response based on the reasons for the assessments
given to the quality risks. This could include entities that have
public accountability characteristics (e.g., banks, insurance
companies, pension funds), entities with high public profile or
whose management/owners have high public profile and entities
with large number and wide range of stakeholders.

Yes33

Support to apply for PIEs and for mandating for
audit firms to carry out engagement quality
reviews on internationally active banks and

insurers.

Trends noted in jurisdictions to require an
engagement quality review for PIEs.

Communication with TCWG About the System of Quality Management

ISQM 1,
paragraph
34(e)

Providing TCWG with
greater transparency and
confidence about how the
firm’s system of quality

ISQM 1, paragraph A128:

May also be appropriate to apply the requirement to entities of
significant public interest, for example to financial institutions

Yes34

Broad support for enhanced communication
and transparency with stakeholders about how

%2 See Agenda Item 6-B discussed with the IAASB in December 2022, that provides background information including an overview of previous IAASB deliberations when certain
differential requirements were established and sets out other relevant information gathering undertaken by the IAASB.

% See respondents feedback received in response to question 11 of the Exposure Draft, Proposed International Standard on Quality Management 1 (Previously International Standard
on Quality Control 1), Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements (February

2019). Also see the Basis for Conclusions, ISOM 2, Engagement Quality Reviews (December 2020) that provides a summary of the IAASB deliberations and decisions.

34 See respondents feedback received in response to question 10 of the Exposure Draft, Proposed International Standard on Quality Management 1 (Previously International Standard
on Quality Control 1), Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements (February

2019). Also see the Basis for Conclusions, ISQM 1, Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services
Engagements (December 2020) that provides a summary of the IAASB deliberations and decisions.
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ISQM / ISA

Ref.

Public Interest Factors

management supports
quality audit engagements
to assist them in fulfilling
their responsibility to
oversee the financial
reporting process.

Application Material that Provides Guidance on
Applicability

(banks, insurance companies and pension funds) and charities.

Stakeholder Support for Extending the
Applicability3?

the system of quality management supports
quality engagements.

Auditor Independence

ISA 260 Assisting TCWG in fulfilling

(Revised), | their responsibility to

paragraph | oversee the financial

17 reporting process and to
enhance their confidence in
the audit of the entity’s
financial statements.

ISA 700 Providing transparency to

(Revised), | intended users about

paragraph | auditor independence so as

40(b) to enhance their confidence

in the audit of the entity’s
financial statements.

ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph A32:

May also be appropriate to apply the requirement to entities of
significant public interest, for example to financial institutions
(banks, insurance companies and pension funds) and charities.

ISA 260 (Revised), paragraph A32:

May not be relevant for situations when all of TCWG are
informed through their management activities of relevant facts or
where the entity is owner-managed and the auditor’s firm has
little involvement with the entity beyond the financial statement
audit.

Yes3

Support to be applied more broadly to all
entities (including for PIESs).

% See respondents feedback to the Exposure Draft of proposed ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance (March 2005), the Exposure Draft of
proposed ISA 260 (Revised and Redrafted), Communication with Those Charged with Governance (October 2006), and the Basis for Conclusion: ISA 260 (Revised and Redrafted),
Communication with Those Charged with Governance (December 2007) that provides a summary of the IAASB deliberations and decisions.
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ISQM / ISA

Ref.

Public Interest Factors

Communicating KAM

Application Material that Provides Guidance on
Applicability

REVISIONS TO THE DEFINITIONS OF LISTED ENTITY AND PIE IN THE IESBA CODE

Stakeholder Support for Extending the
Applicability3?

ISA 700 Enhance the ISA 700 (Revised), paragraphs A40—-A41.: Yes36:87
(Rewsed)h, cor;:qu’mcatwret \éalue of(;[he Law or regulation may require communication of KAM for other Support for requiring the communication of
paragraphs | audriors report by providing entities, e.g., PIEs. KAM for PIEs and scoping in banks and
30-31, greater transparency about . .
) . . . insurance companies, regardless of whether
40(c) the audit that was May also be appropriate to apply the requirement to entities of ) »
T o . o they are listed entities.
erformed. significant public interest, for example to financial institutions
Isa7o1, |P : . ) > -
' ) (banks, insurance companies and pension funds) and charities. Majority preference from all stakeholder

paragraph | Increase intended user . . L
c fid i th dit and constituencies for mandatory communication of

confi er.me |r.1t e gu it an KAM for PIEs.

the audited financial

statements. Trends noted in jurisdictions to extend

applicability of KAM to PIEs.

Name of the Engagement Partner
ISA 700 Providing transparency to ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph A62: Yes38
(Rewsed)r; intended usc;,\rs atbout t:e _ Law, regulation, or national auditing standards may require that Support from users, regulators and those
paragraphs engagemen partner W_ 015 | the auditor's report include the name of the engagement partner jurisdictions in which the name of the
46, 50(1) responsible for the audit to

responsible for audits of other entities than those of financial

engagement partner is required to be included

% See respondents feedback to the Exposure Draft, Reporting on Audited Financial Statements: Proposed New and Revised International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) (July 2013)
and the Basis for Conclusions: Reporting on Audited Financial Statements — New and Revised Auditor Reporting Standards and Related Conforming Amendments (January 2015),
that provides a summary of the IAASB deliberations and decisions.

87 See respondents feedback to the Auditor Reporting PIR Stakeholder Survey that included 148 responses from a broad range of stakeholders across 48 jurisdictions. In addition,
Agenda Item 3 discussed by the IAASB in February 2021, provides an overview of stakeholder feedback from the Auditor Reporting PIR Stakeholder Survey and other information-
gathering activities and Agenda Item 5 presented to the IAASB at its September 2021 meeting provides the recommendations to the Auditor Reporting PIR.

% See the Invitation to Comment: Improving the Auditor’s Report (June 2012) and the Basis for Conclusions:_Reporting On Audited Financial Statements — New and Revised Auditor
Reporting Standards and Related Conforming Amendments (January 2015).
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ISQM / ISA

Ref.

Public Interest Factors

enhance their confidence in
the audit that has been
performed.

Application Material that Provides Guidance on
Applicability

statements of listed entities.

Law, regulation, or national auditing standards may require
including additional information beyond the engagement
partner’s name in the auditor’s report to further identify the
engagement partner (e.g., professional license number that is
relevant to the jurisdiction where the auditor practices).

Stakeholder Support for Extending the
Applicability3?

in the auditor’s report by law or regulation.

Transparency About the Other Information

ISA 720
(Revised),
paragraphs
21-22(b)

Providing transparency to
intended users about the
other information and
auditor’s work effort in
relation to such information,
including whether there is a
material misstatement that
may undermine the
credibility of the financial
statements and the
auditor’s report thereon or
inappropriately influence
the economic decisions of
the users for whom the
auditor’s report is prepared.

ISA 720 (Revised), paragraph A52:

May also be appropriate to consider identification in the auditor’s
report of other information that the auditor expects to obtain after
the date of the auditor’s report for an entity other than listed
entity. This may be the case when management is able to
represent to the auditor that such other information will be
issued after the date of the auditor’s report.

N039

Views that the practical difficulties encountered
with identifying and considering the other
information received after the date of the

auditor’s report outweighed the public interest
benefits of doing so.

% See respondents feedback to the Exposure Draft, ISA 720, The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial
Statements and the Auditor’s Report Thereon (November 2012), the re-exposure of Exposure Draft, ISA 720 (Revised), The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information

(April 2014), the Basis for Conclusion: The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Other Information (April 2015), and the findings and recommendations of the Auditor Reporting PIR
discussed in Agenda Item 3 (February 2021) and Agenda Item 5 (September 2021).
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Appendix 2 — Mapping the Key Changes Proposed by the Narrow Scope Amendments to the
Actions and Objectives in the Project Proposal that Support the Public Interest

Qualitative Standard-Setting Characteristics Considered

| 2 Scalability — addresses both less and more complex circumstances, commensurate to the facts and circumstances specific to a
particular jurisdictional context (e.g., through establishing a global baseline for the categories of entities in the definition of PIE that
could be consistently applied across jurisdictions and the revised approach to refining the categories of PIEs by placing a significant
focus on the entities that should be treated as PIEs in the context of the facts and circumstances in a specific jurisdiction).

| 2 Proportionality — addresses the issues in a proportionate manner by considering the relative impact that the proposals may have on
different stakeholders (e.g., by considering the need for a more robust and consistent approach as to when the differential requirements
in the ISQMs and ISAs are appropriate to apply for PIEs, and by recognizing heightened stakeholder expectations regarding the
performance of audit engagements for certain types of entities that may not be listed, but for which the differential requirements would
be appropriate to apply (e.g., for financial institutions, including banks and insurance companies)).

| 2 Coherence — among the overall body of the IAASB’s and the IESBA’s standards (e.g., by acknowledging and not potentially undermining
the revisions to the IESBA Code — either through being inconsistent or through failing to draw appropriate attention to the revised
requirements in the IESBA Code when it is appropriate to do so).

| 2 Relevance — focuses on responding to emerging issues, evolving stakeholder needs and perceptions and changes in business
environments (e.g., the need to maintain the relevance and robustness of the ISQMs and ISAs given the heightened expectations of
stakeholders regarding the performance of audit engagements for PIES, and by recognizing situations when the IESBA Code requires an
action that also has relevance to the IAASB’s standards).

| 2 Clarity and conciseness, including overall understandability — addresses minimizing the likelihood of differing interpretations when
concepts across the IAASB’s and the IESBA’s standards differ or are misaligned (e.g., by including requirements and application
guidance to support that the IAASB’s and the IESBA’s standards operate in harmony, and without confusion, given that many
jurisdictions utilize both).

| 2 Implementability and ability of being consistently applied and globally operable — focuses on reducing complexity and supporting
consistent application and understanding when concepts across the IAASB and the IESBA standards are aligned, including when there
is alignment in the types of entities to which differential requirements apply (e.g., by supporting consistency among jurisdictions globally
when applying the ISQMs and ISAs through adopting a common overarching objective for establishing differential requirements for
PIEs, aligning definitions and the approach to scoping in PIEs, and by minimizing complexity when too many differential requirements
for certain types of entities apply or when requirements are misaligned).
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Proposed Actions in the Project Proposal Key Changes Proposed Qualitative Standard-Setting

. Characteristics Considered #°
(Ref. Section VI, paragraph 30) Description

A. Project Objective: Achieve to the greatest extent possible convergence between the definitions and key concepts underlying the definitions used
in the revisions to the IESBA Code and the ISQMs and ISAs to maintain their interoperability.

A.1: The IESBA definition of PIE Definitions . Scalability
Consider adopting the IESBA definition of PIE into the ISQMs and ISAs, or | ¢ Adopting the definition of PIE in the . Coherence
the IAASB Glossary of Terms. Definitions section of the ISQMs and ISAs, . Relevance

This project would consider whether the PIE definition should be and in IAASB Glossary of Terms.

. . . i . Clarity and conciseness
adopted in the ISQMs and ISAs, because extant differential Para’s. 16(p)A of ISQM 1; 13(I)A of ISA 200 in the
requirements for listed entities in the ISQMs and ISAs may be amended | ED . Implementability, and
to apply to all categories of PIEs (also see item C.4 below). ability of being

Requirements and Application Material consistently applied and

¢ Incorporating requirements and application globally operable
material in the authority of ISQM 1 and ISA
200 to support the entire approach to scoping
PIEs as contemplated in the IESBA Code,
given that all elements of the approach are
necessary to ensure that the differential

This project would also consider the application material in the ISQMs
and ISAs that describes entities that have public interest or public
accountability characteristics, and any new application material
supporting the differential requirements considered as part of this
project, and whether it should also reflect the concepts underpinning
the definition of PIE (also see item C.5 below).

This project would consider whether the PIE definition should be requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs are
included in the IAASB Glossary of Terms, if it is not defined in the appropriate in the circumstances of the
ISQMs and ISAs, but still used, for example, in application material jurisdiction.

(also see item C.5 below). Para’s. 18A, A29D—A29F of ISQM 1: 23A, A81D—

A81F of ISA 200 in the ED

4 The qualitative standard-setting characteristics listed are those that were at the forefront, or of most relevance, when determining how to address each proposed action.
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Proposed Actions in the Project Proposal Key Changes Proposed Qualitative Standard-Setting
. Characteristics Considered 4°
(Ref. Section VI, paragraph 30) Description
A.2: The IESBA definition of “publicly traded entity” Definitions . Scalability
Consider adopting the IESBA definition of “publicly traded entity” into the e Adopting the definition of “publicly traded . Coherence
ISQMs and ISAs, as a replacement of listed entity. entity” in the Definitions section of the ISQMs . Relevance

The project would consider the impact on the ISQMs and ISAs of and ISAs, and in IAASB Glossary of Terms.

. o ] ] ) i . . Clarity and conciseness
adopting the definition of “publicly traded entity” and replacing “listed Para’s. 16(p)B of ISQM 1; 13(I)B of ISA 200 in the
entity” with “publicly traded entity” (also see item C.4 below). In ED . Implementability, and
particular, the replacement of the term may result in changes in the ability of being
underlying entities that such requirements apply to, for example: consistently applied and

" " . _ . globally operable
o Additional entities may be scoped into the definition of “publicly

traded entity” that are not scoped into the extant definition of
“listed entity” in the ISQMs and ISAs.

o The definition of “publicly traded entity” refers to “a listed entity as
defined by relevant securities law or regulation” as an example of
a publicly traded entity. As a result, depending on how the term
“listed entity” is defined in securities law or regulation, the notion
of a listed entity may be broader or narrower than the extant
definition of a “listed entity” in the ISQMs and ISAs.

B. Project Objective: Establish an objective and guidelines to support the IAASB’s judgments regarding specific matters for which differential

requirements for certain entities are appropriate.

B.3: An objective and guidelines for establishing differential Application Material . Scalability
requirements for certain entities in the ISQMs and ISAs . Adopting the overarching objective for . Proportionality
Adopt the overarching objective established by the IESBA in paragraph establishing differential requirements in the . Coherence
400.8 of the IESBA Code as a principle for establishing differential ISQMs and ISAs, based on paragraph

requirements for certain entities and application material in the ISQMs 400.8 of the IESBA PIE Revisions. ° Relevance
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Proposed Actions in the Project Proposal Key Changes Proposed Qualitative Standard-Setting

. Characteristics Considered 4°
(Ref. Section VI, paragraph 30) st
and ISAs. . Tailoring the purpose for the objective in . Clarity and conciseness
Develop a tailored objective, based upon the overarching objective, and paragraph 400.10 of the IESBA PIE . Implementability, and

Revisions to meet “the heightened
expectations of stakeholders regarding the
audit engagement.”

taking into consideration paragraph 400.10 of the IESBA Code, that
explains the purpose for differential requirements for certain entities in
the ISQMs and ISAs.

ability of being
consistently applied and
globally operable

Paras. A29A-A29B of ISQM 1; AB1A-A81B of

Develop guidelines that assist the IAASB in identifying when differential :
ISA 200 in the ED

requirements for certain entities may be appropriate, and if so, how
such requirements should be established in the ISQMs and ISAs.

Determine the appropriate location and accessibility of the objective or
guidelines described above.

The objective and guidelines would be used as a basis for:

. Undertaking a case-by-case analysis of existing differential
requirements for listed entities in the ISQMs and ISAs to
determine whether those requirements need to be amended to
apply to all categories of PIEs (also see item C.4 below); and

. Future IAASB projects in determining whether differential
requirements need to be established for certain entities in the
ISQMs and ISAs (i.e., it would be used to inform the approach by
providing principles against which future proposals for differential
requirements can be tested).
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Proposed Actions in the Project Proposal Key Changes Proposed Qualitative Standard-Setting

. Characteristics Considered #°
(Ref. Section VI, paragraph 30) st

C. Project Objective: Determine whether, and the extent to which, to amend the applicability of the existing differential requirements for listed
entities in the ISQMs and ISAs to meet heightened expectations of stakeholders regarding the performance of audit engagements for certain
entities, thereby enhancing confidence in audit engagements performed for those entities.

C.4: Case-by-case analysis of extant differential requirements for Scope and Requirements . Scalability
listed entities in the ISQMs and ISAs . Extending the differential requirements for . Proportionality
Undertake a case-by-case analysis to determine: listed entities to apply to PIEs in ISQM 1, . Relevance
. Whether the extant differential requirements for listed entities ISA 260 (Revised), ISA 700 (Revised) and . .
) ISA 701. . Clarity and conciseness
should be amended to apply to all categories of PIEs; and
i i i i . Implementability, and
. The impact on extant differential requirements for listed entities of * Bifurcating the reqqlrements in paragraph p . y
. o o oy 17 of ISA 260 (Revised), to address the ability of being
adopting the definition of “publicly traded entity” as a replacement T i ) . .
Y communication about compliance with consistently applied and
of ‘“listed entity. ) i ) )
independence requirements in the auditor’s globally operable

In undertaking the case-by-case analysis, the project would consider: report for all audit engagements.
L] The objective and guidelines for establishing differential ° Amending the differential requirements in

requirements for certain entities in the ISQMs and ISAs (also see paragraphs 21— 22(b) of ISA 720 (Revised)

item B.3 above). to apply to “publicly traded entity.”
. The impact of amending the extant differential requirements for Paras. 34(e)—(f) of ISQM 1; 17, 17A of ISA 260

listed entities to apply to other entities, including the impact of (Revised); 30-31, 40(b)—(c), 46, 50(1) of ISA 700

adopting the definition of “publicly traded entity” as a replacement | (Revised); 5 of ISA 701; 21-22(b) of ISA 720

of “listed entity” if the differential requirements were to apply to (Revised) in the ED

“publicly traded entities” (also see items A.1 and A.2 above).

. Other information available (e.g., the post-implementation review
of the auditor reporting standards, respondents’ feedback from
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Proposed Actions in the Project Proposal

(Ref. Section VI, paragraph 30)

Key Changes Proposed

Qualitative Standard-Setting
Characteristics Considered #°

the Exposure Draft on Proposed ISQM 14! regarding the scope of
entities that should be subject to an engagement quality review,
the Board's deliberations and decisions at the time when certain
differential requirements were established, and, where
appropriate, how national standard setters have addressed this
issue at jurisdictional levels).

Description

C.5: Application and introductory material in the ISQMs and ISAs

As a consequence of undertaking the case-by-case analysis, consider
whether:

e The application material in the ISQMs and ISAs should be updated as
a result of any changes to entities to which the extant differential
requirements apply and to align with the concepts underpinning PIES.

o Updates may be needed to application material (e.g., examples and
appendices) and introductory material (e.g., scope and scalability
paragraphs) that use the term ‘listed entity(ies)” or otherwise make
reference to listed entities (e.g., entities that are listed or entities
other than listed entities).

The ISQMs and ISAs include application material to explain that certain
entities other than listed entities could have characteristics that give rise
to similar public interest issues as listed entities to alert auditors that it
may be appropriate to apply a requirement that was designed for an
audit of financial statements of a listed entity to a broader range of

Application Material

. Inclusion of a central list of factors in the
authority of ISQM 1 and ISA 200 that
supports consideration of whether there are
other types of entities for which it may be
appropriate to apply the differential
requirements in the ISQMs and ISAs.

. Changes to align the entities to which the
extant differential requirements apply as
well as to align with the concepts
underpinning the definition of PIE.

Various application and introductory material
paragraphs and the illustrative auditor’s reports in
the ED

. Implementability, and

ability of being
consistently applied and
globally operable

41

See Exposure Draft: Proposed International Standard on Quality Management 1 (Previously International Standard on Quality Control 1), Quality Management for Firms that Perform

Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements.
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Proposed Actions in the Project Proposal Key Changes Proposed Qualitative Standard-Setting

o . 0
(Ref. Section VI, paragraph 30) Characteristics Considered

Description

entities.*? Various examples are included in application material to
illustrate the types of entities that may exhibit such characteristics.

This project will consider whether such application material should be
updated:

o As a consequence of the IAASB’s decisions regarding which
entities the differential requirements apply to; and

. To include the categories of entities included in the definition of PIE
(i.e., if the requirement continues to apply to listed entities or publicly
traded entities only), the factors in the IESBA Code for evaluating
the extent of public interest in the financial condition of an entity and
the factors in the IESBA Code for firms to consider in determining
whether to apply the requirements in the IESBA Code for PIEs to
other entities.

The ISQMs and ISAs include references to listed entities and related
terms* (e.g., examples in application material, appendices, and scope
and scalability paragraphs). The project will consider whether such
application material needs to be updated.

42 References in the application material made with respect to “public interest entities”, “public entities”, “entities with public accountability”, “entities with public interest or public interest

characteristics”, “entities with significant public interest” and other similar descriptions.

4 Related terms include the following: “non-listed”, “other than listed”, “unlisted” and “smaller listed” entity.
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PROPOSED NARROW SCOPE AMENDMENTS TO THE ISQMs, ISAs
AND ISRE 2400 (REVISED) AS A RESULT OF THE REVISIONS TO THE
DEFINITIONS OF LISTED ENTITY AND PIE IN THE IESBA CODE

[MARKED-UP FROM EXTANTl]
(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after [DATE])

ISOM 1, QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR FIRMS THAT PERFORM AUDITS OR
REVIEWS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, OR OTHER ASSURANCE OR RELATED
SERVICES ENGAGEMENTS

Introduction

Scope of this ISQM

Scalability
10. In applying a risk-based approach, the firm is required to take into account:
(@) The nature and circumstances of the firm; and
(b)  The nature and circumstances of the engagements performed by the firm.

Accordingly, the design of the firm’s system of quality management, in particular the complexity and
formality of the system, will vary. For example, a firm that performs different types of engagements
for a wide variety of entities, including audits of financial statements of listed-public interest entities,
will likely need to have a more complex and formalized system of quality management and supporting
documentation, than a firm that performs only reviews of financial statements or compilation
engagements.

Definitions

16. For purposes of this ISQM, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

t The ISQMs and the ISAs as published in the IAASB 2022 Handbook (Volumes I-11), as well as: (i) the approved narrow scope
amendments to ISA 700 (Revised) and ISA 260 (Revised) as part of Track 1 of the narrow scope project on listed entity and PIE
and (ii) conforming and consequential amendments as a result of the revision of other approved ISAs which are not yet effective.
In addition, certain references refer to the IESBA PIE Revisions instead of paragraphs of the IESBA Code, given that these
revisions will only become effective for audits and reviews of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15,
2024.
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(p)A Public interest entity — An entity is a public interest entity when it falls within any of the following
categories:

(i A publicly traded entity;

(i) An entity one of whose main functions is to take deposits from the public;

(i) An entity one of whose main functions is to provide insurance to the public; or

(iv) __An entity specified as such by law, regulation or professional requirements related to the
significance of the public interest in the financial condition of the entity.

Law, requlation or professional requirements may define _more explicitly the categories of
entities in (i)—(iii) above.

(p)B__Publicly traded entity — An entity that issues financial instruments that are transferrable and
traded through a publicly accessible market mechanism, including through listing on a stock
exchange. A listed entity as defined by relevant securities law or regulation is an example of a
publicly traded entity.

Requirements

Applying, and Complying with, Relevant Requirements

17.

18.

The firm shall comply with each requirement of this ISQM unless the requirement is not relevant to
the firm because of the nature and circumstances of the firm or its engagements. (Ref: Para. A29)

The individual(s) assigned ultimate responsibility and accountability for the firm’s system of quality
management, and the individual(s) assigned operational responsibility for the firm’s system of quality
management shall have an understanding of this ISQM, including the application and other
explanatory material, to understand the objective of this ISQM and to apply its requirements properly.

Public Interest Entities

18A. The firm shall treat an entity as a public interest entity in accordance with the definition in paragraph

16(p)A, as well as consider more explicit definitions established by law, regulation or professional
requirements for the categories set out in paragraph 16(p)A(i)—(iii). (Ref: Para. A29A—-A29G)

Specified Responses

34.

In designing and implementing responses in accordance with paragraph 26, the firm shall include the
following responses: (Ref: Para. A116)

(&) The firm establishes policies or procedures for:

0] Identifying, evaluating and addressing threats to compliance with the relevant ethical
requirements; and (Ref: Para. A117)

(i)  Ildentifying, communicating, evaluating and reporting of any breaches of the relevant
ethical requirements and appropriately responding to the causes and consequences of
the breaches in a timely manner. (Ref: Para. A118—-A119)

(b) The firm obtains, at least annually, a documented confirmation of compliance with
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independence requirements from all personnel required by relevant ethical requirements to be
independent.

(c) The firm establishes policies or procedures for receiving, investigating and resolving
complaints and allegations about failures to perform work in accordance with professional
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, or non-compliance with the firm’s
policies or procedures established in accordance with this ISQM. (Ref: Para. A120-A121)

(d)  The firm establishes policies or procedures that address circumstances when:

0] The firm becomes aware of information subsequent to accepting or continuing a client
relationship or specific engagement that would have caused it to decline the client
relationship or specific engagement had that information been known prior to accepting
or continuing the client relationship or specific engagement; or (Ref: Para. A122-A123)

(i)  The firm is obligated by law or regulation to accept a client relationship or specific
engagement. (Ref: Para. A123)

(e) The firm establishes policies or procedures that: (Ref: Para. A124—-A126)

() Require communication with those charged with governance when performing an audit
of financial statements of listed-public interest entities about how the system of quality
management supports the consistent performance of quality audit engagements; (Ref:
Para. A127-A129)

(i)  Address when it is otherwise appropriate to communicate with external parties about the
firm’s system of quality management; and (Ref: Para. A130)

(iii)  Address the information to be provided when communicating externally in accordance
with paragraphs 34(e)(i) and 34(e)(ii), including the nature, timing and extent and
appropriate form of communication. (Ref: Para. A131-A132)

(H  The firm establishes policies or procedures that address engagement quality reviews in
accordance with ISQM 2, and require an engagement quality review for:

0] Audits of financial statements of listed-public interest entities;

(i) Audits or other engagements for which an engagement quality review is required by law
or regulation; and (Ref: Para. A133)

(i) Audits or other engagements for which the firm determines that an engagement quality
review is an appropriate response to address one or more quality risk(s). (Ref: Para.
A134-A137)

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Applying, and Complying with, Relevant Requirements (Ref: Para. 17)

A29. Examples of when a requirement of this ISQM may not be relevant to the firm

. The firm is a sole practitioner. For example, the requirements addressing the organizational
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structure and assigning roles, responsibilities and authority within the firm, direction,
supervision and review and addressing differences of opinion may not be relevant.

The firm only performs engagements that are related services engagements. For example,
if the firm is not required to maintain independence for related services engagements, the
requirement to obtain a documented confirmation of compliance with independence
requirements from all personnel would not be relevant.

Public Interest Entities (Ref: Para. 18A)

A29A.Some of the requirements set out in the ISOMs are applicable only to audits of financial statements

of public interest entities, reflecting significant public interest in the financial condition of these entities

due to the potential impact of their financial well-being on stakeholders.

A29B.Stakeholders have heightened expectations regarding an audit engagement for a public interest

entity because of the significance of the public interest in the financial condition of the entity. The

purpose of the requirements in the ISOMs that apply to audits of financial statements of public interest

entities is to meet these expectations, thereby enhancing stakeholders’ confidence in the entity’s

financial statements that can be used when assessing the entity’s financial condition.

A29C.The extent of public interest in the financial condition of an entity may, for example, be affected by:

The nature of the business or activities, such as taking on financial obligations to the public as
part of the entity’s primary business.

Whether the entity is subject to requlatory supervision designed to provide confidence that the
entity will meet its financial obligations.

Size of the entity.

The importance of the entity to the sector in which it operates including how easily replaceable
it is in the event of financial failure.

Number and nature of stakeholders including investors, customers, creditors and employees.

The potential systemic impact on other sectors and the economy as a whole in the event of
financial failure of the entity.

A29D.Law, regulation or professional requirements may use terms other than “public interest entity” to

describe entities in which there is a significant public interest in the financial condition (see paragraph

A29B). The requirements in the ISQMs that are relevant to public interest entities also apply to such

entities. However, if law, regulation or professional requirements designate entities as “public interest

entities” for reasons unrelated to the significant public interest in the financial condition of the entities,

the requirements for audits of financial statements of public interest entities in the ISOMs may not

necessarily apply to such entities.

A29E.The categories set out in_paragraph 16(p)A()—(iii) are broadly defined and law, requlation or

professional requirements may more explicitly define these categories, by for example:

Making reference to specific public markets for trading securities.

Making reference to the local law or requlation defining banks or insurance companies.

Incorporating exemptions for specific types of entities, such as an entity with mutual ownership.
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Setting size criteria for certain types of entities.

A29F.Paragraph 16(p)A(iv) anticipates that those responsible for setting law, regulation or professional

requirements may add cateqgories of public interest entities to_meet the purpose described in

paragraph A29B, and may consider the matters in paragraph A29C in doing so. Depending on the

facts and circumstances in a specific jurisdiction, such categories may include:

Pension funds.

Collective investment vehicles.

Private entities with large numbers of stakeholders (other than investors).

Not-for-profit organizations or governmental entities.

Public utilities.

A29G.The firm may determine that it is appropriate to treat other entities as public interest entities for the

purposes of the ISOMs. When making this determination, the firm may consider whether it treated

an entity as a public interest entity for purposes of applying relevant ethical requirements, including

those related to independence.? In addition, the firm may consider the matters set out in paragraph

A29C as well as the following factors:

Whether the entity is likely to become a public interest entity in the near future.

Whether in similar circumstances, the firm has applied the differential requirements for public
interest entities to other entities.

Whether the entity has been specified as not being a public interest entity by law, requlation or
professional requirements.

Whether the entity or other stakeholders requested the firm to apply the differential
requirements for public interest entities to the entity and, if so, whether there are any reasons
for not meeting this request.

The entity’s corporate governance arrangements, for example, whether those charged with
governance are distinct from the owners or management.

Whether in similar circumstances, a predecessor firm has applied differential requirements for
public interest entities to the entity.

Specified Responses (Ref: Para. 34)

Communication with Those Charged with Governance (Ref. Para: 34(e)(i))

A127. How the communication with those charged with governance is undertaken (i.e., by the firm or the
engagement team) may depend on the firm’s policies or procedures and the circumstances of the
engagement.

A128. ISA 260 (Revised) deals with the auditor’s responsibility to communicate with those charged with

2

See, for example, encouragement in the application material in the IESBA PIE Revisions, paragraph 400.19 Al.
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governance in an audit of financial statements, and addresses the auditor’s determination of the
appropriate person(s) within the entity’s governance structure with whom to communicate® and the
communication process.* In some circumstances, it may be appropriate to communicate with those
charged with governance of entities other than listed-public interest entities (or when performing other
engagements). for—example,—entities—thatmay have public—interest or public—accountabili

Public sector considerations

A129.The firm may determine it is appropriate to communicate to those charged with governance of a public
sector entity about how the firm’s system of quality management supports the consistent performance
of quality engagements, taking into account the size and complexity of the public sector entity, the
range of its stakeholders, the nature of the services it provides, and the role and responsibilities of
those charged with governance.

Determining When it is Otherwise Appropriate to Communicate with External Parties (Ref. Para: 34(e)(ii))

A130.The firm’s determination of when it is appropriate to communicate with external parties about the
firm’s system of quality management is a matter of professional judgment and may be influenced by
matters such as:

) The types of engagements performed by the firm, and the types of entities for which such
engagements are undertaken.

. The nature and circumstances of the firm.

. The nature of the firm’s operating environment, such as customary business practice in the
firm’s jurisdiction and the characteristics of the financial markets in which the firm operates.

) The extent to which the firm has already communicated with external parties in accordance
with law or regulation (i.e., whether further communication is needed, and if so, the matters to
be communicated).

. The expectations of stakeholders in the firm’s jurisdiction, including the understanding and
interest that external parties have expressed about the engagements undertaken by the firm,
and the firm’s processes in performing the engagements.

o Jurisdictional trends.
. The information that is already available to external parties.
. How external parties may use the information, and their general understanding of matters

related to firms’ system of quality management and audits or reviews of financial statements,

3 ISA 260 (Revised), Communication with Those Charged with Governance, paragraphs 11-13
4 ISA 260 (Revised), paragraphs 18—-22
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or other assurance or related services engagements.

. The public interest benefits of external communication and whether it would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the costs (monetary or otherwise) of such communication.

The above matters may also affect the information provided by the firm in the communication, and
the nature, timing and extent and appropriate form of communication.

Nature, Timing and Extent and Appropriate Form of Communication with External Parties (Ref. Para:
34(e)(iii))

A131.The firm may consider the following attributes in preparing information that is communicated to
external parties:

) The information is specific to the circumstances of the firm. Relating the matters in the firm’s
communication directly to the specific circumstances of the firm may help to minimize the
potential that such information becomes overly standardized and less useful over time.

) The information is presented in a clear and understandable manner, and the manner of
presentation is neither misleading nor would inappropriately influence the users of the
communication (e.g., the information is presented in a manner that is appropriately balanced
towards positive and negative aspects of the matter being communicated).

. The information is accurate and complete in all material respects and does not contain
information that is misleading.

. The information takes into consideration the information needs of the users for whom it is
intended. In considering the information needs of the users, the firm may consider matters such
as the level of detail that users would find meaningful and whether users have access to
relevant information through other sources (e.g., the firm’s website).

A132.The firm uses professional judgment in determining, in the circumstances, the appropriate form of
communication with the external party, including communication with those charged with governance
when performing an audit of financial statements of listed-public interest entities, which may be made
orally or in writing. Accordingly, the form of communication may vary.

Examples of form of communication to external parties
. A publication such as a transparency report or audit quality report.

. Targeted written communication to specific stakeholders (e.g., information about the results
of the firm’s monitoring and remediation process).

. Direct conversations and interactions with the external party (e.g., discussions between the
engagement team and those charged with governance).

) A webpage.

. Other forms of digital media, such as social media, or interviews or presentations via
webcast or video.
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Engagements Subject to an Engagement Quality Review
Engagement Quality Review Required by Law or Regulation (Ref: Para. 34(f)(ii))

A133. This ISQM requires an engagement quality review for audits of financial statements of public interest
entities. Paragraph 16(p)A(iv) anticipates that law, requlation or professional requirements may
include additional categories of public interest entities, for example, pension funds. Law or regulation
may also include explicit requirements to perform an engagement quality review to-be-performed for

certain entities, for example, for audit engagements for entities that:

o Operate in the public sector or which are recipients of government funding, or entities with
public accountability;

. Operate in certain industries<{e-g——financiaHnstitutions—such-as-banks,-nsurance-companies

and-pension-funds);
. Meet a specified asset threshold; or
. Are under the management of a court or judicial process (e.g., liquidation).

Engagement Quality Review as a Response to Address One or More Quality Risk(s) (Ref: Para. 34(f)(iii))

A134.The firm’s understanding of the conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions that may
adversely affect the achievement of the quality objectives, as required by paragraph 25(a)(ii), relates
to the nature and circumstances of the engagements performed by the firm. In designing and
implementing responses to address one or more quality risk(s), the firm may determine that an
engagement quality review is an appropriate response based on the reasons for the assessments
given to the quality risks.

Examples of conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions giving rise to one or more
quality risk(s) for which an engagement quality review may be an appropriate response

Those relating to the types of engagements performed by the firm and reports to be issued:
. Engagements that involve a high level of complexity or judgment, such as:

o Audits of financial statements for entities operating in an industry that typically has
accounting estimates with a high degree of estimation uncertainty (e.g., certainlarge
financialinstitutions-or-certain financial institutions or mining entities), or for entities
for which uncertainties exist related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on their ability to continue as a going concern.

o Assurance engagements that require specialized skills and knowledge in measuring
or evaluating the underlying subject matter against the applicable criteria (e.g., a
greenhouse gas statement in which there are significant uncertainties associated with
the quantities reported therein).

. Engagements on which issues have been encountered, such as audit engagements with
recurring internal or external inspection findings, unremediated significant deficiencies in
internal control, or a material restatement of comparative information in the financial
statements.
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. Engagements for which unusual circumstances have been identified during the firm’s
acceptance and continuance process (e.g., a new client that had a disagreement with its
previous auditor or assurance practitioner).

. Engagements that involve reporting on financial or non-financial information that is expected
to be included in a regulatory filing, and that may involve a higher degree of judgment, such
as pro forma financial information to be included in a prospectus.

Those relating to the types of entities for which engagements are undertaken:

. Entities in emerging industries, or for which the firm has no previous experience.
o Entities for which concerns were expressed in communications from securities or prudential
regulators.

. Entities with a high public profile, or whose management or owners have a high public profile.

ios with-a | : i ¢ ctakol _

A135.The firm’s responses to address quality risks may include other forms of engagement reviews that
are not an engagement quality review. For example, for audits of financial statements, the firm’s
responses may include reviews of the engagement team’s procedures relating to significant risks, or
reviews of certain significant judgments, by personnel who have specialized technical expertise. In
some cases, these other types of engagement reviews may be undertaken in addition to an
engagement quality review.

A136.In some cases, the firm may determine that there are no audits or other engagements for which an
engagement quality review or another form of engagement review is an appropriate response to
address the quality risk(s).

Public sector considerations

A137.The nature and circumstances of public sector entities (e.g., due to their size and complexity, the
range of their stakeholders, or the nature of the services they provide) may give rise to quality risks.
In these circumstances, the firm may determine that an engagement quality review is an appropriate
response to address such quality risks. Law or regulation may establish additional reporting
requirements for the auditors of public sector entities (e.g., a separate report on instances of non-
compliance with law or regulation to the legislature or other governing body or communicating such
instances in the auditor’s report on the financial statements). In such cases, the firm may also
consider the complexity of such reporting, and its importance to users, in determining whether an
engagement quality review is an appropriate response.
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Engagement Inspections (Ref: Para. 38)

A151. Examples of matters in paragraph 37 that may be considered by the firm in selecting completed
engagements for inspection

. In relation to the conditions, events, circumstances, actions or inactions giving rise to the
quality risks:

o The types of engagements performed by the firm, and the extent of the firm’s
experience in performing the type of engagement.

o The types of entities for which engagements are undertaken, for example:

. Entities that are listed-public interest entities.

. Entities operating in emerging industries.

. Entities operating in industries associated with a high level of complexity or
judgment.

. Entities operating in an industry that is new to the firm.

o The tenure and experience of engagement partners.

. The results of previous inspections of completed engagements, including for each
engagement partner.

. In relation to other relevant information:
o Complaints or allegations about an engagement partner.

o The results of external inspections, including for each engagement partner.

o The results of the firm’s evaluation of each engagement partner's commitment to
quality.

Evaluating Identified Deficiencies (Ref: Para. 41)

Root Cause of the Identified Deficiencies (Ref: Para. 41(a))

A165.The objective of investigating the root cause(s) of identified deficiencies is to understand the
underlying circumstances that caused the deficiencies to enable the firm to:

. Evaluate the severity and pervasiveness of the identified deficiency; and
) Appropriately remediate the identified deficiency.

Performing a root cause analysis involves those performing the assessment exercising professional
judgment based on the evidence available.

A166.The nature, timing and extent of the procedures undertaken to understand the root cause(s) of an
identified deficiency may also be affected by the nature and circumstances of the firm, such as:

. The complexity and operating characteristics of the firm.
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. The size of the firm.
. The geographical dispersion of the firm.
° How the firm is structured or the extent to which the firm concentrates or centralizes its

processes or activities.

Examples of how the nature of identified deficiencies and their possible severity and the nature and
circumstances of the firm may affect the nature, timing and extent of the procedures to understand the
root cause(s) of the identified deficiencies

. The nature of the identified deficiency: The firm’s procedures to understand the root cause(s) of
an identified deficiency may be more rigorous in circumstances when an engagement report
related to an audit of financial statements of a listed-publicly traded entity was issued that was
inappropriate or the identified deficiency relates to leadership’s actions and behaviors regarding
quality.

. The possible severity of the identified deficiency: The firm’s procedures to understand the root
cause(s) of an identified deficiency may be more rigorous in circumstances when the deficiency
has been identified across multiple engagements or there is an indication that policies or
procedures have high rates of non-compliance.

. Nature and circumstances of the firm:

o In the case of a less complex firm with a single location, the firm’s procedures to understand
the root cause(s) of an identified deficiency may be simple, since the information to inform
the understanding may be readily available and concentrated, and the root cause(s) may be
more apparent.

o In the case of a more complex firm with multiple locations, the procedures to understand the
root cause(s) of an identified deficiency may include using individuals specifically trained on
investigating the root cause(s) of identified deficiencies, and developing a methodology with
more formalized procedures for identifying root cause(s).

ISQM 2, ENGAGEMENT QUALITY REVIEWS

Application and Other Explanatory Material
Appointment and Eligibility of Engagement Quality Reviewers
Assignment of Responsibility for the Appointment of Engagement Quality Reviewers (Ref: Para. 17)

Al. Competence and capabilities that are relevant to an individual's ability to fulfill responsibility for the
appointment of the engagement quality reviewer may include appropriate knowledge about:

. The responsibilities of an engagement quality reviewer;

. The criteria in paragraphs 18 and 19 regarding the eligibility of engagement quality reviewers;
and

. The nature and circumstances of the engagement or the entity subject to an engagement
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quality review, including the composition of the engagement team.

The firm’s policies or procedures may specify that the individual responsible for the appointment of
engagement quality reviewers not be a member of the engagement team for which an engagement
quality review is to be performed. However, in certain circumstances (e.g., in the case of a smaller
firm or a sole practitioner), it may not be practicable for an individual other than a member of the
engagement team to appoint the engagement quality reviewer.

The firm may assign more than one individual to be responsible for appointing engagement quality
reviewers. For example, the firm’s policies or procedures may specify a different process for
appointing engagement quality reviewers for audits of listed-public interest entities than for audits of
non-listed entities other than public interest entities or other engagements, with different individuals
responsible for each process.

Performance of the Engagement Quality Review (Ref: Para. 24-27)

Procedures Performed by the Engagement Quality Reviewer (Ref: Para. 25-27)

A28.

A29.

A30.

The firm’s policies or procedures may specify the nature, timing and extent of the procedures
performed by the engagement quality reviewer and also may emphasize the importance of the
engagement quality reviewer exercising professional judgment in performing the review.

The timing of the procedures performed by the engagement quality reviewer may depend on the
nature and circumstances of the engagement or the entity, including the nature of the matters subject
to the review. Timely review of the engagement documentation by the engagement quality reviewer
throughout all stages of the engagement (e.g., planning, performing and reporting) allows matters to
be promptly resolved to the engagement quality reviewer’s satisfaction, on or before the date of the
engagement report. For example, the engagement quality reviewer may perform procedures in
relation to the overall strategy and plan for the engagement at the completion of the planning phase.
Timely performance of the engagement quality review also may reinforce the exercise of professional
judgment and, when applicable to the type of engagement, professional skepticism, by the
engagement team in planning and performing the engagement.

The nature and extent of the engagement quality reviewer’s procedures for a specific engagement
may depend on, among other factors:

. The reasons for the assessments given to quality risks,® for example, engagements performed
for entities in emerging industries or with complex transactions.

. Identified deficiencies, and the remedial actions to address the identified deficiencies, related
to the firm’s monitoring and remediation process, and any related guidance issued by the firm,
which may indicate areas where more extensive procedures need to be performed by the
engagement quality reviewer.

. The complexity of the engagement.

5

ISQM 1, paragraph A49
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. The nature and size of the entity, including whether the entity is a listed-public interest entity.

. Findings relevant to the engagement, such as the results of inspections undertaken by an
external oversight authority in a prior period, or other concerns raised about the quality of the

work of the engagement team.

. Information obtained from the firm’s acceptance and continuance of client relationships and

specific engagements.

. For assurance engagements, the engagement team’s identification and assessment of, and

responses to, risks of material misstatement in the engagement.

. Whether members of the engagement team have cooperated with the engagement quality
reviewer. The firm’s policies or procedures may address the actions the engagement quality
reviewer takes in circumstances when the engagement team has not cooperated with the
engagement quality reviewer, for example, informing an appropriate individual in the firm so

appropriate action can be taken to resolve the issue.

The nature, timing and extent of the engagement quality reviewer’s procedures may need to change

based on circumstances encountered in performing the engagement quality review.

ISA 200, OVERALL OBJECTIVES OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR AND THE

CONDUCT OF AN AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS

ON AUDITING

Definitions

13.

For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:

(DA Public interest entity — An entity is a public interest entity when it falls within any of the following

cateqgories:
() A publicly traded entity;

(i) An entity one of whose main functions is to take deposits from the public;

(i) An entity one of whose main functions is to provide insurance to the public; or

(iv) _An entity specified as such by law, regulation or professional requirements related to the

significance of the public interest in the financial condition of the entity.

Law, requlation or professional requirements may define_more explicitly the categories of

entities in (i)—(iii) above.

(DB Publicly traded entity — An entity that issues financial instruments that are transferrable and

traded through a publicly accessible market mechanism, including through listing on a stock

exchange. A listed entity as defined by relevant securities law or regulation is an example of

a publicly traded entity.

47



PROPOSED NARROW SCOPE AMENDMENTS TO ISQMs, ISAs AND ISRE 2400 (REVISED) AS A RESULT OF THE
REVISIONS TO THE DEFINITIONS OF LISTED ENTITY AND PIE IN THE IESBA CODE

Requirements

Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs

Complying with Relevant Requirements

22.

23.

Subject to paragraph 23, the auditor shall comply with each requirement of an ISA unless, in the
circumstances of the audit:

(& The entire ISA is not relevant; or

(b)  Therequirement is not relevant because it is conditional and the condition does not exist. (Ref:
Para. A79—-A80)

In exceptional circumstances, the auditor may judge it necessary to depart from a relevant
requirement in an ISA. In such circumstances, the auditor shall perform alternative audit procedures
to achieve the aim of that requirement. The need for the auditor to depart from a relevant requirement
is expected to arise only where the requirement is for a specific procedure to be performed and, in
the specific circumstances of the audit, that procedure would be ineffective in achieving the aim of
the requirement. (Ref: Para. A81)

Public Interest Entities

23A. The auditor shall treat an entity as a public interest entity in accordance with the definition in

paragraph 13()A, as well as consider more explicit definitions established by law, requlation or
professional requirements for the categories set out in paragraph 13(DA()—(ii}). In doing so, the
auditor shall follow the firm’s related policies or procedures. (Ref: Para. AB1A-A81G)

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs

Contents of the ISAs (Ref: Para. 19)

Scalability Considerations

A69. Scalability considerations have been included in some ISAs (e.g., ISA 315 (Revised 2019)),

illustrating the application of the requirements to all entities regardless of whether their nature and
circumstances are less complex or more complex. Less complex entities are entities for which the
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characteristics in paragraph A71 may apply.

A70. The “considerations specific to smaller entities” included in some ISAs have been developed primarily
with unlisted entities other than public interest entities in mind. Some of the considerations, however,
may be helpful in audits of smaller listed-public interest entities.

A71. For purposes of specifying additional considerations to audits of smaller entities, a “smaller entity”
refers to an entity which typically possesses qualitative characteristics such as:

(&) Concentration of ownership and management in a small number of individuals (often a single
individual — either a natural person or another enterprise that owns the entity provided the
owner exhibits the relevant qualitative characteristics); and

(b)  One or more of the following:
0] Straightforward or uncomplicated transactions;
(i)  Simple record-keeping;
(i)  Few lines of business and few products within business lines;
(iv)  Simpler system of internal controls;
(v)  Few levels of management with responsibility for a broad range of controls; or
(vi) Few personnel, many having a wide range of duties.

These qualitative characteristics are not exhaustive, they are not exclusive to smaller entities,
and smaller entities do not necessarily display all of these characteristics.

Complying with Relevant Requirements

Relevant Requirements (Ref: Para. 22)

Departure from a Requirement (Ref: Para. 23)

A81. ISA 230 establishes documentation requirements in those exceptional circumstances where the
auditor departs from a relevant requirement.® The ISAs do not call for compliance with a requirement
that is not relevant in the circumstances of the audit.

Public Interest Entities (Ref: Para. 23A)

AB1A.Some of the requirements set out in the ISAs are applicable only to audits of financial statements of
public interest entities, reflecting significant public interest in the financial condition of these entities
due to the potential impact of their financial well-being on stakeholders.

A81B.Stakeholders have heightened expectations regarding an audit engagement for a public interest
entity because of the significance of the public interest in the financial condition of the entity. The
purpose of the requirements in the ISAs that apply to audits of financial statements of public interest
entities is to meet these expectations, thereby enhancing stakeholders’ confidence in the entity’s

6 ISA 230, paragraph 12
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financial statements that can be used when assessing the entity’s financial condition.

AB81C.The extent of public interest in the financial condition of an entity may, for example, be affected by:

The nature of the business or activities, such as taking on financial obligations to the public as
part of the entity’s primary business.

Whether the entity is subject to requlatory supervision designed to provide confidence that the
entity will meet its financial obligations.

Size of the entity.

The importance of the entity to the sector in which it operates including how easily replaceable
it is in the event of financial failure.

Number and nature of stakeholders including investors, customers, creditors and employees.

The potential systemic impact on other sectors and the economy as a whole in the event of
financial failure of the entity.

A81D.Law, regulation or professional requirements may use terms other than public interest entity to

describe entities in which there is a significant public interest in the financial condition (see paragraph

A81B). The requirements in the ISAs that are relevant to public interest entities also apply to such

entities. However, if law, regulation or professional requirements designate entities as “public interest

entities” for reasons unrelated to the significant public interest in the financial condition of the entities,

the requirements for audits of financial statements of public interest entities in the ISAs may not

necessarily apply to such entities.

A81E.The cateqories set out in _paragraph 13(DA()—(ii}) are broadly defined and law, regulation or

professional requirements may more explicitly define these categories by, for example:

Making reference to specific public markets for trading securities.

Making reference to the local law or requlation defining banks or insurance companies.

Incorporating exemptions for specific types of entities, such as an entity with mutual ownership.

Setting size criteria for certain types of entities.

A81F.Paragraph 13(NA(iv) anticipates that those responsible for setting law, regulation or professional

requirements may add categories of public interest entities to meet the purpose described in

paragraph A81B, and may consider the matters in paragraph A81C in doing so. Depending on the

facts and circumstances in a specific jurisdiction, such categories may include:

Pension funds.

Collective investment vehicles.

Private entities with large numbers of stakeholders (other than investors).

Not-for-profit organizations or governmental entities.

Public utilities.

A81G.The auditor may determine that it is appropriate to treat other entities as public interest entities for

the purposes of the ISAs. When making this determination, the auditor may consider whether it

treated an entity as a public interest entity for purposes of applying relevant ethical requirements,
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including those related to independence.” In addition, the auditor may consider the matters set out in
paragraph A81C as well as the following factors:

° Whether the entity is likely to become a public interest entity in the near future.

° Whether in similar circumstances, the auditor has applied the differential requirements for
public interest entities to other entities.

° Whether the entity has been specified as not being a public interest entity by law, regulation or
professional requirements.

. Whether the entity or other stakeholders requested the auditor to apply the differential
requirements for public interest entities to the entity and, if so, whether there are any reasons
for not meeting this request.

° The entity’s corporate governance arrangements, for example, whether those charged with
governance are distinct from the owners or management.

. Whether in similar circumstances, a predecessor auditor has applied differential requirements
for public interest entities to the entity.

ISA 210, AGREEING THE TERMS OF AUDIT ENGAGEMENTS

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Preconditions for an Audit

Agreement of the Responsibilities of Management (Ref: Para. 6(b))

Al12. The way in which the responsibilities for financial reporting are divided between management and
those charged with governance will vary according to the resources and structure of the entity and
any relevant law or regulation, and the respective roles of management and those charged with
governance within the entity. In most cases, management is responsible for execution while those
charged with governance have oversight of management. In some cases, those charged with
governance will have, or will assume, responsibility for approving the financial statements or
monitoring the entity’s internal control related to financial reporting. In larger or more complex entities,
a subgroup of those charged with governance, such as an audit committee, may be charged with
certain oversight responsibilities.

7 See, for example, encouragement in the application material in the IESBA PIE Revisions, paragraph 400.19 Al.
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ISA 220 (REVISED), QUALITY MANAGEMENT FOR AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Relevant Ethical Requirements, Including Those Related to Independence (Ref: Para. 16-21)
Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref: Para. 1, 16—-21)

A38. ISA 2008 requires that the auditor comply with relevant ethical requirements, including those
pertaining to independence, relating to financial statement audit engagements. Relevant ethical
requirements may vary depending on the nature and circumstances of the engagement. For example,
certain requirements related to independence may be applicable only when performing audits of
listed-public interest entities. ISA 600 (Revised) includes additional requirements and guidance to
those in this ISA regarding communications about relevant ethical requirements with component
auditors.

ISA 240, THE AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES RELATING TO FRAUD IN AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Identification and Assessment of the Risks of Material Misstatement Due to Fraud
Risks of Fraud in Revenue Recognition (Ref: Para. 27)

A29. Material misstatement due to fraudulent financial reporting relating to revenue recognition often
results from an overstatement of revenues through, for example, premature revenue recognition or
recording fictitious revenues. It may result also from an understatement of revenues through, for
example, improperly shifting revenues to a later period.

A30. The risks of fraud in revenue recognition may be greater in some entities than others. For example,
there may be pressures or incentives on management to commit fraudulent financial reporting
through inappropriate revenue recognition in the case of listed-certain public interest entities when,
for example, performance is measured in terms of year over year revenue growth or profit. Similarly,
for example, there may be greater risks of fraud in revenue recognition in the case of entities that
generate a substantial portion of revenues through cash sales.

A31. The presumption that there are risks of fraud in revenue recognition may be rebutted. For example,
the auditor may conclude that there is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to
revenue recognition in the case where a there is a single type of simple revenue transaction, for

8 ISA 200, paragraphs 14 and A16-A19
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example, leasehold revenue from a single unit rental property.

ISA 260 (REVISED), COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE

Introduction

Scope of this ISA

1.

This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor’s responsibility to communicate
with those charged with governance in an audit of financial statements. Although this ISA applies
irrespective of an entity’s governance structure or size, particular considerations apply where all of
those charged with governance are involved in managing an entity, and for listed-public interest
entities. This ISA does not establish requirements regarding the auditor's communication with an
entity’s management or owners unless they are also charged with a governance role.

Requirements

Matters to Be Communicated

Auditor Independence

16A.

17.

17A.

The auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance the relevant ethical
requirements, including those related to independence, that the auditor applies for the audit
engagement, including if applicable in the circumstances, any independence requirements specific
to audits of financial statements of certain entities. (Ref: Para. A29)

In-the-case-of listed-entitiestThe auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance_a:
A statement that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, the firm and, when
applicable, network firms have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

For audits of financial statements of public interest entities, the statement required by paragraph 17

shall include:

(8) All relationships and other matters between the firm, network firms, and the entity that, in the
auditor’s professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on independence—Fhis

(b) Inrespect of threats to independence that are not at an acceptable level, the actions taken to
address the threats, including actions that were taken to eliminate the circumstances that
create the threats, or applying safeguards to reduce the threats to an acceptable level. (Ref:
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Para. A30—-A32)

The Communication Process

Forms of Communication

20.

The auditor shall communicate in writing with those charged with governance regarding auditor
independence when required by paragraphs 17 and 17A.

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Matters to Be Communicated

Auditor Independence (Ref: Para. 16A-17A)

A29. The auditor is required to comply with relevant ethical requirements, including those related to
independence, relating to financial statement audit engagements® and to communicate with those
charged with governance about the requirements the auditor applies. Relevant ethical requirements

may:

Establish independence requirements that are specific to audits of financial statements of
certain entities specified in the relevant ethical requirements, such as the independence
requirements for audits of financial statements of public interest entities in the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code). If applicable in
the circumstances of the audit engagement, this ISA requires that the auditor also
communicates with those charged with governance that the auditor applies such independence
requirements.

Require the auditor to publicly disclose when the auditor applied independence requirements
specific to audits of financial statements of certain entities specified in the relevant ethical
requirements.? ISA 700 (Revised) addresses the requirements for the auditor’s report relating
to the auditor’'s independence and the relevant ethical requirements the auditor applied.?

Require or encourage the auditor to determine whether it is appropriate to apply independence
requirements that are specific to audits of financial statements of certain entities to audits of

10

11

ISA 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards
on Auditing, paragraph 14

See, for example, the public disclosure requirements in the IESBA PIE Revisions, paragraphs R400.20-R400.21.
ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 28(c)
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financial statements of other entities not specified in the relevant ethical requirements.? If this
is the case and the auditor is required to publicly disclose when the auditor applied such
independence requirements, the auditor may discuss with management or those charged with
governance whether there is a risk of misunderstanding the nature of the entity and any need
for additional disclosure.

A.Relevant ethical requirements or law or requlation may also specify particular communications to

A30.

A31.

A32.

The

those charged with governance for matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on independence.
For_example, the IESBA Code requires the auditor to communicate with those charged with
governance information regarding fees!® and the provision of non-audit services for audit clients that
are public interest entities.

The communication about relationships and other matters, and how threats to independence that are
not at an acceptable level have been addressed varies with the circumstances of the engagement
and generally addresses the threats to independence, safeguards to reduce the threats, and
measures to eliminate the circumstances that created the threats.

Relevant ethical requirements or law or regulation may also specify particular communications to
those charged with governance in circumstances where breaches of independence requirements
have been identified. For example, the IESBA Code requires the auditor to communicate with those
charged with governance in writing about any breach and the action the firm has taken or proposes
to take.®

Paragraph A81G of ISA 200 explains that the auditor may treat other entities as public interest entities
and provides considerations for the auditor in doing so. The communication requirements relating to
auditor independence that apply in the case of listed-public interest entities may also be appropriate
in the case of some etherentities other than public interest entities.—+trecluding-those-that-may-be-of

entities—such—as—charities: On the other hand, there may be situations where communications
regarding independence may not be relevant, for example, where all of those charged with
governance have been informed of relevant facts through their management activities. This is
particularly likely where the entity is owner-managed, and the auditor’s firm and network firms have
little involvement with the entity beyond a financial statement audit.

Communication Process

Establishing the Communication Process (Ref: Para. 18)

12

13

See, for example, encouragement in the application material in the IESBA PIE Revisions, paragraph 400.19 Al.

See, for example, paragraphs R410.23—-R410.28 of the IESBA Code.

14

See, for example, paragraphs R600.21-R600.23 of the IESBA Code.

15

See, for example, paragraphs R400.80-R400.82 and R400.84 of the IESBA Code.
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Considerations Specific to Smaller Entities

A40. In the case of audits of smaller entities, the auditor may communicate in a less structured manner

with those charged with governance than in the case of, for example, publicly traded or listed-or larger
entities.

ISA 265, COMMUNICATING DEFICIENCIES IN INTERNAL CONTROL TO THOSE

CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Significant Deficiencies in Internal Control (Ref: Para. 6(b), 8)

A9.

Law or regulation in some jurisdictions may establish a requirement (particularly for audits of listed
public interest entities) for the auditor to communicate to those charged with governance or to other
relevant parties (such as regulators) one or more specific types of deficiency in internal control that
the auditor has identified during the audit. Where law or regulation has established specific terms
and definitions for these types of deficiency and requires the auditor to use these terms and
definitions for the purpose of the communication, the auditor uses such terms and definitions when
communicating in accordance with the legal or regulatory requirement.

Communication of Deficiencies in Internal Control

Communication of Significant Deficiencies in Internal Control to Those Charged with Governance (Ref:
Para. 9)

Al13. In determining when to issue the written communication, the auditor may consider whether receipt of

such communication would be an important factor in enabling those charged with governance to
discharge their oversight responsibilities. In addition, for listed—public interest entities in certain
jurisdictions, those charged with governance may need to receive the auditor's written
communication before the date of approval of the financial statements in order to discharge specific
responsibilities in relation to internal control for regulatory or other purposes. For other entities, the
auditor may issue the written communication at a later date. Nevertheless, in the latter case, as the
auditor’s written communication of significant deficiencies forms part of the final audit file, the written
communication is subject to the overriding requirement!® for the auditor to complete the assembly of
the final audit file on a timely basis. ISA 230 states that an appropriate time limit within which to
complete the assembly of the final audit file is ordinarily not more than 60 days after the date of the

16

ISA 230, Audit Documentation, paragraph 14
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auditor’s report.1?

Regardless of the timing of the written communication of significant deficiencies, the auditor may

communicate these orally in the first instance to management and, when appropriate, to those
charged with governance to assist them in taking timely remedial action to minimize the risks of
material misstatement. Doing so, however, does not relieve the auditor of the responsibility to
communicate the significant deficiencies in writing, as this ISA requires.

A15. The level of detail at which to communicate significant deficiencies is a matter of the auditor’s
professional judgment in the circumstances. Factors that the auditor may consider in determining an
appropriate level of detail for the communication include, for example:

The nature of the entity. For example, the communication required for a public interest entity
may be different from that for an entity other than a ren-public interest entity.

The size and complexity of the entity. For example, the communication required for a complex
entity may be different from that for an entity operating a simple business.

The nature of significant deficiencies that the auditor has identified.

The entity’s governance composition. For example, more detail may be needed if those
charged with governance include members who do not have significant experience in the
entity’s industry or in the affected areas.

Legal or regulatory requirements regarding the communication of specific types of deficiency
in internal control.

ISA 315 (REVISED 2019), IDENTIFYING AND ASSESSING THE RISKS OF

MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Obtaining an Understanding of the Entity and Its Environment, the Applicable Financial Reporting
Framework and the Entity’s System of Internal Control (Ref: Para. 19-27)

The Entity and Its Environment (Ref: Para. 19(a))

The Entity’s Organizational Structure, Ownership and Governance, and Business Model (Ref: Para.

19(a)(1)

The entity’s organizational structure and ownership

A56. An understanding of the entity’s organizational structure and ownership may enable the auditor to
understand such matters as:

17

ISA 230, paragraph A21
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. The complexity of the entity’s structure.

[ ]

. The distinction between the owners, those charged with governance and management.
Example:

In less complex entities, owners of the entity may be involved in managing the entity, therefore
there is little or no distinction. In contrast, such as in some listed-publicly traded entities, there
may be a clear distinction between management, the owners of the entity, and those charged
with governance.'®

ISA 510, INITIAL AUDIT ENGAGEMENTS — OPENING BALANCES

Appendix
(Ref: Para A8)

lllustrations of Auditors’ Reports with Modified Opinions

Illustration 1:
For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed-public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised)® does not apply).

Illustration 2:
For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a Hsted-public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

18 ISA 260 (Revised), paragraphs Al and A2, provide guidance on the identification of those charged with governance and explains
that in some cases, some or all of those charged with governance may be involved in managing the entity.

19 ISA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)
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ISA 570 (REVISED), GOING CONCERN

Appendix
(Ref: Para. A29, A31-A32)

lllustrations of Auditor’s Reports Relating to Going Concern

o lllustration 1: An auditor’s report containing an unmodified opinion when the auditor has concluded
that a material uncertainty exists and disclosure in the financial statements is adequate.

. lllustration 2: An auditor’s report containing a qualified opinion when the auditor has concluded that
a material uncertainty exists and that the financial statements are materially misstated due to
inadequate disclosure.

. lllustration 3: An auditor’s report containing an adverse opinion when the auditor has concluded that
a material uncertainty exists and the financial statements omit the required disclosures relating to a
material uncertainty.

Illustration 1 — Unmodified Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Exists and Disclosure in the
Financial Statements Is Adequate

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public interest entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised)?° does not

apply).

Illustration 2 — Qualified Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Exists and the Financial Statements
Are Materially Misstated Due to Inadequate Disclosure

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public interest entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) does not

apply).

20 |SA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)
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Illustration 3 — Adverse Opinion When a Material Uncertainty Exists and Is Not Disclosed in the
Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed-public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

ISA 600 (REVISED), SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS—AUDITS OF GROUP
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (INCLUDING THE WORK OF COMPONENT AUDITORYS)

Appendix 1
(Ref: Para. A42)
lllustration of Independent Auditor’s Report Where the Group Auditor Is Not Able

to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence on Which to Base the Group Audit
Opinion

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of an entity other than a listed
public interest entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of an
entity with subsidiaries (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) applies).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements®

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) — see lllustration 2 in ISA 700 (Revised). The last two
paragraphs which are applicable for audits of listed-public interest entities only would not be included.]

2L The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second
sub-title “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.
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ISA 700 (REVISED), FORMING AN OPINION AND REPORTING ON FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Requirements

Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing

Key Audit Matters

30. For audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of listed-public interest entities,
the auditor shall communicate key audit matters in the auditor’s report in accordance with ISA 701.

31. When the auditor is otherwise required by law or regulation or decides to communicate key audit
matters in the auditor’s report, the auditor shall do so in accordance with ISA 701. (Ref: Para. A40—
A432)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

40. The Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of the auditor’s report
also shall: (Ref: Para. A50)

(a) State that the auditor communicates with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that the auditor identifies during the audit;

(b) Foraudits—of financial-statements—of listed—entities—sState that the auditor provides those
charged with governance with a statement that the auditor has;

0] Ceomplied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence; and

(i)  For audits of financial statements of public interest entities, communicates with them alll
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on the auditor’s
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied; and

(c) For audits of financial statements of listed-public interest entities and any other entities for
which key audit matters are communicated in accordance with ISA 701, state that, from the
matters communicated with those charged with governance, the auditor determines those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. The auditor describes these matters in the
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
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in extremely rare circumstances, the auditor determines that a matter should not be
communicated in the auditor’'s report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. (Ref:
Para. A53)

Name of the Engagement Partner

46.

The name of the engagement partner shall be included in the auditor’s report on financial statements
of listed-public interest entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected
to lead to a significant personal security threat. In the rare circumstances that the auditor intends not
to include the name of the engagement partner in the auditor’s report, the auditor shall discuss this
intention with those charged with governance to inform the auditor’'s assessment of the likelihood and
severity of a significant personal security threat. (Ref: Para. A61-A63)

Auditor’s Report Prescribed by Law or Regulation

50.

If the auditor is required by law or regulation of a specific jurisdiction to use a specific layout, or
wording of the auditor’s report, the auditor’s report shall refer to International Standards on Auditing
only if the auditor’s report includes, at a minimum, each of the following elements: (Ref: Para. A70—
A71)

(@)

()] For audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of listed-public interest
entities, the name of the engagement partner unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is
reasonably expected to lead to a significant personal security threat.

(m)

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Auditor’s Report (Ref: Para. 20)

Auditor’s Report for Audits Conducted in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing

Key Audit Matters (Ref: Para. 31)

A40. This ISA requires communication of key audit matters for audits of financial statements of public

interest_entities. Paragraph 13()A(iv) of ISA 200 anticipates that law, requlation or professional
requirements may include additional categories of public interest entities, for example, pension funds.
Law or regulation may also require communication of key audit matters for audits of entities other

than public interest entities-listed-entities;forexample-entities characterized-in-such-law-orregulation

62




A4l

A42.

Con

A43

PROPOSED NARROW SCOPE AMENDMENTS TO ISQMs, ISAs AND ISRE 2400 (REVISED) AS A RESULT OF THE
REVISIONS TO THE DEFINITIONS OF LISTED ENTITY AND PIE IN THE IESBA CODE

. Paragraph A81G of ISA 200 explains that the auditor may treat other entities as public interest entities
and provides considerations for the auditor in doing so. The auditor may also decide to communicate

key audit matters for ether entities_other than public interest entities.ineluding-these-that-may-be-of

ISA 210 requires the auditor to agree the terms of the audit engagement with management and those
charged with governance, as appropriate, and explains that the roles of management and those
charged with governance in agreeing the terms of the audit engagement for the entity depend on the
governance arrangements of the entity and relevant law or regulation.?? ISA 210 also requires the
audit engagement letter or other suitable form of written agreement to include reference to the
expected form and content of any reports to be issued by the auditor.2> When the auditor is not
otherwise required to communicate key audit matters, ISA 210%* explains that it may be helpful for
the auditor to make reference in the terms of the audit engagement to the possibility of communicating
key audit matters in the auditor’s report and, in certain jurisdictions, it may be necessary for the
auditor to include a reference to such possibility in order to retain the ability to do so.

siderations specific to public sector entities

. Listed—entities—are—not-common—in-thepublicsector—However,—pPublic sector entities may be

significant due to size, complexity or public interest aspects. In such cases, an auditor of a public
sector entity may be required by law or regulation or may otherwise decide to communicate key audit
matters in the auditor’s report.

Name of the Engagement Partner (Ref: Para. 46)

A61

. The objective of the firm in ISQM 125 is to design, implement and operate a system of quality
management that provides the firm with reasonable assurance that:

) The firm and its personnel fulfill their responsibilities in accordance with professional standards
and applicable legal and regulatory requirements, and conduct engagements in accordance
with such standards and requirements; and

. Engagement reports issued by the firm or engagement partners are appropriate in the
circumstances.

Notwithstanding the objective of ISQM 1, naming the engagement partner in the auditor’'s report is
intended to provide further transparency to the users of the auditor’s report on the financial
statements of a listed-public interest entity.

22

23

24

25

ISA 210, paragraphs 9 and A22
ISA 210, paragraph 10
ISA 210, paragraph A25

ISQM 1, Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related
Services Engagements, paragraph 14
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Law, regulation or national auditing standards may require that the auditor’s report include the name
of the engagement partner responsible for audits other than those of financial statements of listed
public interest entities. The auditor may also be required by law, regulation or national auditing
standards, or may decide to include additional information beyond the engagement partner’s name
in the auditor’s report to further identify the engagement partner, for example, the engagement
partner’s professional license number that is relevant to the jurisdiction where the auditor practices.

In rare circumstances, the auditor may identify information or be subject to experiences that indicate
the likelihood of a personal security threat that, if the identity of the engagement partner is made
public, may result in physical harm to the engagement partner, other engagement team members or
other closely related individuals. However, such a threat does not include, for example, threats of
legal liability or legal, regulatory or professional sanctions. Discussions with those charged with
governance about circumstances that may result in physical harm may provide additional information
about the likelihood or severity of the significant personal security threat. Law, regulation or national
auditing standards may establish further requirements that are relevant to determining whether the
disclosure of the name of the engagement partner may be omitted.

Appendix
(Ref: Para A19)

lllustrations of Independent Auditor’s Reports on Financial Statements

lllustration 1: An auditor’s report on financial statements of a listed-public interest entity prepared in
accordance with a fair presentation framework

lllustration 2: An auditor’s report on consolidated financial statements of a listed-public interest entity
prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework

lllustration 3: An auditor’s report on financial statements of an entity other than a listed-public interest
entity prepared in accordance with a fair presentation framework (where reference is made to material
that is located on a website of an appropriate authority)

lllustration 4: An auditor’s report on financial statements of an entity other than a listed-public interest
entity prepared in accordance with a general purpose compliance framework

Illustration 1 — Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of a Listed—Public Interest Entity
Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public interest entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) does not

apply).
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Illustration 2 — Auditor’s Report on Consolidated Financial Statements of a Listed Public Interest
Entity Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of acomplete set of consolidated financial statements of a listed-public interest entity
using afair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries
(i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) applies).

lllustration 3 — Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of an Entity Other than a Listed Public
Interest Entity Prepared in Accordance with a Fair Presentation Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a Hsted public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

. The auditor elects to refer to the description of the auditor’s responsibility included on a
website of an appropriate authority.

lllustration 4 — Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements of an Entity Other than a Listed Public
Interest Entity Prepared in Accordance with a General Purpose Compliance Framework

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a lsted public interest
entity required by law or regulation. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised)
does not apply).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
[Appropriate Addressee]

Opinion

Basis for Opinion
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Other Information [or another title if appropriate such as “Information Other than the Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon”]

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements?®

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

Paragraph 41(b) of this ISA explains that the shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor’s report. Paragraph
41(c) explains that when law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permit, reference can be made to a website of an
appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor’s responsibilities, rather than including this material in the auditor’s
report, provided that the description on the website addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the description of the auditor’s

responsibilities below.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

ISA 701, COMMUNICATING KEY AUDIT MATTERS IN THE INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
Introduction
Scope of this ISA

5. This ISA applies to audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of listed-public
interest entities and circumstances when the auditor otherwise decides to communicate key audit
matters in the auditor’s report. This ISA also applies when the auditor is required by law or regulation

2 Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework of the particular jurisdiction

66



PROPOSED NARROW SCOPE AMENDMENTS TO ISQMs, ISAs AND ISRE 2400 (REVISED) AS A RESULT OF THE
REVISIONS TO THE DEFINITIONS OF LISTED ENTITY AND PIE IN THE IESBA CODE

to communicate key audit matters in the auditor’s report.?” However, ISA 705 (Revised) prohibits the
auditor from communicating key audit matters when the auditor disclaims an opinion on the financial
statements, unless such reporting is required by law or regulation. 28

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Communicating Key Audit Matters

Form and Content of the Key Audit Matters Section in Other Circumstances (Ref: Para. 16)

A59. The determination of key audit matters involves making a judgment about the relative importance of

matters that required significant auditor attention. Therefore, it may be rare that the auditor of a
complete set of general purpose financial statements of a listed-public interest entity would not
determine at least one key audit matter from the matters communicated with those charged with
governance to be communicated in the auditor’s report. However, in certain limited circumstances
(e.g., for a listed-public interest entity that has very limited operations), the auditor may determine
that there are no key audit matters in accordance with paragraph 10 because there are no matters
that required significant auditor attention.

ISA 705 (REVISED), MODIFICATIONS TO THE OPINION IN THE INDEPENDENT

AUDITOR’S REPORT

Appendix
(Ref: Para A17-A18, A25)

lllustrations of Independent Auditor’s Reports with Modifications to the Opinion

lllustration 1: An auditor’s report containing a qualified opinion due to a material misstatement of the
financial statements.

lllustration 2: An auditor’s report containing an adverse opinion due to a material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements.

lllustration 3: An auditor’s report containing a qualified opinion due to the auditor’s inability to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding a foreign associate.

lllustration 4: An auditor’s report containing a disclaimer of opinion due to the auditor’s inability to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about a single element of the consolidated financial

27

28

ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements, paragraphs 30-31
ISA 705 (Revised), paragraph 29
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statements.

. lllustration 5: An auditor’s report containing a disclaimer of opinion due to the auditor’s inability to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about multiple elements of the financial statements.

lllustration 1 — Qualified Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public interest entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised)? does not

apply).

lllustration 2 — Adverse Opinion due to a Material Misstatement of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a Hsted-public interest entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries (i.e., ISA
600 (Revised) applies).

lllustration 3 — Qualified Opinion due to the Auditor’s Inability to Obtain Sufficient Audit Evidence
Regarding a Foreign Associate

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of a listed-public interest entity
using afair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of an entity with subsidiaries
(i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) applies).

Illustration 4 — Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor’s Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate
Audit Evidence about a Single Element of the Consolidated Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of an entity other than a listed
public interest entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit of an
entity with subsidiaries (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) applies).

2 |SA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)
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Illustration 5 — Disclaimer of Opinion due to the Auditor’s Inability to Obtain Sufficient Appropriate
Audit Evidence about Multiple Elements of the Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised), does not apply).

ISA 706 (REVISED), EMPHASIS OF MATTER PARAGRAPHS AND OTHER MATTER
PARAGRAPHS IN THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Placement of Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter Paragraphs in the Auditor’s Report
(Ref: Para. 9, 11)

Al17. Appendix 3 is an illustration of the interaction between the Key Audit Matters section, an Emphasis
of Matter paragraph and an Other Matter paragraph when all are presented in the auditor’s report.
The illustrative report in Appendix 4 includes an Emphasis of Matter paragraph in an auditor’s report
for an entity other than a listed-public interest entity that contains a qualified opinion and for which
key audit matters have not been communicated.

Appendix 3
(Ref: Para A17)

lllustration of an Independent Auditor’s Report that Includes a Key Audit Matters Section, an
Emphasis of Matter Paragraph, and an Other Matter Paragraph

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public interest entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised)* does not

apply).

30 |SA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)
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Appendix 4
(Ref: Para A8)

lllustration of an Independent Auditor’s Report Containing a Qualified Opinion Due to a Departure
from the Applicable Financial Reporting Framework and that Includes an Emphasis of Matter

Paragraph

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

ISA 710, COMPARATIVE INFORMATION—CORRESPONDING FIGURES AND
COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Appendix
(Ref: Para A5, A7, A10)

lllustrations of Independent Auditors’ Reports

lllustration 1 — Corresponding Figures

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a Hsted-public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised)® does not apply).

lllustration 2 — Corresponding Figures

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed-public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

81 |SA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)
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lllustration 3 — Corresponding Figures

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a Hsted-public interest
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

Illustration 4 — Comparative Financial Statements

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed-public
interest entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA
600 (Revised) does not apply).

ISA 720 (REVISED), THE AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES RELATING TO OTHER

INFORMATION
Introduction
Scope of this ISA
6. The auditor's responsibilities relating to other information (other than applicable reporting

responsibilities) apply regardless of whether the other information is obtained by the auditor prior to,
or after, the date of the auditor’s report.

Requirements

Reporting

21. The auditor’'s report shall include a separate section with a heading “Other Information”, or other
appropriate heading, when, at the date of the auditor’s report:

(a) For an audit of financial statements of a listed-publicly traded entity, the auditor has obtained,
or expects to obtain, the other information; or

(b) For an audit of financial statements of an entity other than a listed-publicly traded entity, the
auditor has obtained some or all of the other information. (Ref: Para. A52)
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22. When the auditor’s report is required to include an Other Information section in accordance with
paragraph 21, this section shall include: (Ref: Para. A53)

(a) A statement that management is responsible for the other information;
(b)  An identification of:

0] Other information, if any, obtained by the auditor prior to the date of the auditor’s report;
and

(i)  For an audit of financial statements of a listed-publicly traded entity, other information, if
any, expected to be obtained after the date of the auditor’s report;

(c) A statement that the auditor’s opinion does not cover the other information and, accordingly,
that the auditor does not express (or will not express) an audit opinion or any form of assurance
conclusion thereon;

(d) A description of the auditor’s responsibilities relating to reading, considering and reporting on
other information as required by this ISA; and

(e) When other information has been obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, either:
(i) A statement that the auditor has nothing to report; or

(i)  If the auditor has concluded that there is an uncorrected material misstatement of the
other information, a statement that describes the uncorrected material misstatement of
the other information.

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Obtaining the Other Information (Ref: Para. 13)

Al12. When the annual report is translated into other languages pursuant to law or regulation (such as may
occur when a jurisdiction has more than one official language), or when multiple “annual reports” are
prepared under different legislation (for example, when an entity is listed-publicly traded in more than
one jurisdiction), consideration may need to be given as to whether one, or more than one of the
“annual reports” form part of the other information. Local law or regulation may provide further
guidance in this respect.

Reporting (Ref: Para. 21-24)

A52. For an audit of financial statements of an entity other than a listed-publicly traded entity, the auditor
may consider that the identification in the auditor’s report of other information that the auditor expects
to obtain after the date of the auditor's report would be appropriate in order to provide additional
transparency about the other information that is subject to the auditor's responsibilities under this
ISA. The auditor may consider it appropriate to do so, for example, when management is able to
represent to the auditor that such other information will be issued after the date of the auditor’s report.
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Appendix 2
(Ref: Para. 21-22, A53)

lllustration of Independent Auditor’s Reports Relating to Other Information

lllustration 1: An auditor’s report of any entity—whether-listed-or-other-than-listed; containing an
unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the
auditor’s report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

lllustration 2: An auditor’s report of a listed-publicly traded entity containing an unmodified opinion
when the auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report,
has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects to obtain other
information after the date of the auditor’s report.

lllustration 3: An auditor’s report of an entity other than a listed-publicly traded entity containing an
unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of
the auditor’s report, has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects
to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

lllustration 4: An auditor’s report of a listed-publicly traded entity containing an unmodified opinion
when the auditor has obtained no other information prior to the date of the auditor’s report but expects
to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

lllustration 5: An auditor’s report of any entity—whetherlisted-or-other-than-listed; containing an
unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the
auditor’s report and has concluded that a material misstatement of the other information exists.

lllustration 6: An auditor’s report of any entity;whetherlisted-orotherthanlisted; containing a qualified
opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the auditor’s
report and there is a limitation of scope with respect to a material item in the consolidated financial
statements which also affects the other information.

lllustration 7: An auditor’s report of any entity—whetherlisted-or-other-than-listed; containing an
adverse opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the
auditor’s report and the adverse opinion on the consolidated financial statements also affects the
other information.
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Illustration 1 — An auditor’s report of any entity,-whetherlisted-orotherthanlisted; containing an
unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of
the auditor’s report and has not identified a material misstatement of the other information.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of any entity,~whetherlisted-or-other-than
listed; using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised)3 does not apply).

. Key audit matters have been communicated in accordance with ISA 701. %

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements34

Key Audit Matters®®

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) — see lllustration 1 in ISA 700 (Revised).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].3¢]

32 |SA 600 (Revised), Special Considerations—Audits of Group Financial Statements (Including the Work of Component Auditors)

3 ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor's Report. The Key Audit Matters section is required for
listed-public interest entities only.

34 The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second
sub-title “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.

35 The Key Audit Matters section is required for listed-public interest entities only.

% The name of the engagement partner is included in the auditor’'s report for audits of complete sets of general purpose financial
statements of listed-public interest entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a
significant personal security threat (see ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 46).
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Illustration 2 — An auditor’s report of a listed-publicly traded entity containing an unmodified
opinion when the auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the date of the
auditor’s report, has not identified a material misstatement of the other information, and expects
to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-publicly traded entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) does not

apply).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements®’

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) — see lllustration 1 in ISA 700 (Revised).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].38]

Illustration 3 — An auditor’s report of an entity other than a listed-publicly traded entity containing
an unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained part of the other information prior to the
date of the auditor’s report, has not identified a material misstatement of the other information,
and expects to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of acomplete set of financial statements of an entity other than a listed-publicly traded
entity using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

87 The sub-title “Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” is unnecessary in circumstances when the second

sub-title “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements” is not applicable.

%  The name of the engagement partner is included in the auditor’s report for audits of complete sets of general purpose financial
statements of listed-public interest entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a
significant personal security threat (see ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 46).
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Illustration 4 — An auditor’s report of a listed-publicly traded entity containing an unmodified
opinion when the auditor has obtained no other information prior to the date of the auditor’s
report but expects to obtain other information after the date of the auditor’s report.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-publicly traded entity using a fair
presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600 (Revised) does not

apply).

lllustration 5 — An auditor’s report of any entity,-whetherlisted-or-otherthanlisted; containing an
unmodified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of
the auditor’s report and has concluded that a material misstatement of the other information
exists.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements of any entity—whethertisted-orotherthan
listed; using a fair presentation framework. The audit is not a group audit (i.e., ISA 600
(Revised) does not apply).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Key Audit Matters®®

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) — see lllustration 1 in ISA 700 (Revised).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].4?]

3% The Key Audit Matters section is required for listed-public interest entities only.

4 The name of the engagement partner is included in the auditor’s report for audits of complete sets of general purpose financial
statements of listed-public interest entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a
significant personal security threat (see ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 46).
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Illustration 6 — An auditor’s report of any entity,-whetherlisted-orotherthanlisted; containing an
qualified opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of
the auditor’s report and there is a limitation of scope with respect to a material item in the
consolidated financial statements which also affects the other information.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of any entity-whetherlisted-or
other-than-listed; using a fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit (i.e., ISA
600 (Revised) applies).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

Key Audit Matters*

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) — see lllustration 1 in ISA 700 (Revised).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].*?]

Illustration 7 — An auditor’s report of any entity,-whetherlisted-erotherthanlisted; containing an
adverse opinion when the auditor has obtained all of the other information prior to the date of the
auditor’s report and the adverse opinion on the consolidated financial statements also affects
the other information.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of consolidated financial statements of any entity -whetherlisted-or
other-than-listed; using a fair presentation framework. The audit is a group audit (i.e., ISA
600 (Revised) applies).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of ABC Company [or Other Appropriate Addressee]

41 The Key Audit Matters section is required for listed-public interest entities only.

42 The name of the engagement partner is included in the auditor’'s report for audits of complete sets of general purpose financial
statements of listed-public interest entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a
significant personal security threat (see ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 46).
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Key Audit Matters*?

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

[Reporting in accordance with ISA 700 (Revised) — see lllustration 1 in ISA 700 (Revised).]

[The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is [name].*]

ISA 800 (REVISED), SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS—AUDITS OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SPECIAL PURPOSE
FRAMEWORKS

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Forming an Opinion and Reporting Considerations (Ref: Para. 11)

Application of ISA 700 (Revised) When Reporting on Special Purpose Financial Statements

Key Audit Matters

A16. ISA 700 (Revised) requires the auditor to communicate key audit matters in accordance with ISA

7014 for audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of listed-public interest
entities. For audits of special purpose financial statements, ISA 701 only applies when
communication of key audit matters in the auditor’s report on the special purpose financial statements
is required by law or regulation or the auditor otherwise decides to communicate key audit matters.
When key audit matters are communicated in the auditor's report on special purpose financial
statements, ISA 701 applies in its entirety.46

Other Information

A17. ISA 720 (Revised) deals with the auditor’s responsibilities relating to other information. In the context

of this ISA, reports containing or accompanying the special purpose financial statements—the
purpose of which is to provide owners (or similar stakeholders) with information on matters presented

43

44

45

46

The Key Audit Matters section is required for listed-public interest entities only.

The name of the engagement partner is included in the auditor’s report for audits of complete sets of general purpose financial
statements of listed-public interest entities unless, in rare circumstances, such disclosure is reasonably expected to lead to a
significant personal security threat (see ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 46).

ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report
ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 31
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in the special purpose financial statements—are considered to be annual reports for the purpose of
ISA 720 (Revised). In the case of financial statements prepared using a special purpose framework,
the term “similar stakeholders” includes the specific users whose financial information needs are met
by the design of the special purpose framework used to prepare the special purpose financial
statements. When the auditor determines that the entity plans to issue such a report, the
requirements in ISA 720 (Revised) apply to the audit of the special purpose financial statements.

Name of the Engagement Partner

A18. The requirement in ISA 700 (Revised) for the auditor to include the name of the engagement partner

in the auditor’s report also applies to audits of special purpose financial statements of listed-public
interest entities.4” The auditor may be required by law or regulation to include the name of the
engagement partner in the auditor’s report or may otherwise decide to do so when reporting on
special purpose financial statements of entities other than listed public interest entities.

Appendix
(Ref: Para. A14)

lllustrations of Independent Auditor’'s Reports on Special Purpose Financial
Statements

lllustration 1: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a
listed-public interest entity prepared in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of a contract
(for purposes of this illustration, a compliance framework).

lllustration 2: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than a
listed-public interest entity prepared in accordance with the tax basis of accounting in Jurisdiction X
(for purposes of this illustration, a compliance framework).

lllustration 3: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public interest
entity prepared in accordance with the financial reporting provisions established by a regulator (for
purposes of this illustration, a fair presentation framework).

lllustration 1: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than
a listed public interest entity prepared in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of a
contract (for purposes of this illustration, a compliance framework).

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

The financial statements have been prepared by management of the entity in accordance
with the financial reporting provisions of a contract (that is, a special purpose framework).
Management does not have a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

47

See ISA 700 (Revised), paragraphs 45 and A56—-A58
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

[Appropriate Addressee]
Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Emphasis of Matters — Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements*®

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

Paragraph 41(b) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that the shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor's
report. Paragraph 41(c) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that when law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permit,
reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor’s responsibilities, rather
than including this material in the auditor’s report, provided that the description on the website addresses, and is not inconsistent

with, the description of the auditor’s responsibilities below.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

4 Throughout these illustrative auditor’'s reports, the terms management and those charged with governance may need to be
replaced by another term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction.

80



PROPOSED NARROW SCOPE AMENDMENTS TO ISQMs, ISAs AND ISRE 2400 (REVISED) AS A RESULT OF THE
REVISIONS TO THE DEFINITIONS OF LISTED ENTITY AND PIE IN THE IESBA CODE

lllustration 2: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of an entity other than
a listed public interest entity prepared in accordance with the tax basis of accounting in
Jurisdiction X (for purposes of this illustration, a compliance framework).

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a complete set of financial statements that have been prepared by management of
a partnership in accordance with the tax basis of accounting in Jurisdiction X (that is, a
special purpose framework) to assist partners in preparing their individual income tax
return. Management does not have a choice of financial reporting frameworks.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

[Appropriate Addressee]

Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Emphasis of Matters — Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements*®

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

4 Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction.
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Paragraph 41(b) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that the shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor’s
report. Paragraph 41(c) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that when law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permit,
reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor’s responsibilities, rather
than including this material in the auditor’s report, provided that the description on the website addresses, and is not inconsistent

with, the description of the auditor’s responsibilities below.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

lllustration 3: An auditor’s report on a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public
interest entity prepared in accordance with the financial reporting provisions established by a
regulator (for purposes of this illustration, a fair presentation framework).

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of a complete set of financial statements of a listed-public interest entity that have
been prepared by management of the entity in accordance with the financial reporting
provisions established by a regulator (that is, a special purpose framework) to meet the
requirements of that regulator. Management does not have a choice of financial reporting
frameworks.

ISA 805 (REVISED), SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS—AUDITS OF SINGLE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SPECIFIC ELEMENTS, ACCOUNTS OR ITEMS OF
A FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Application and Other Explanatory Material

Forming an Opinion and Reporting Considerations (Ref: Para. 11)

Application of ISA 700 (Revised) When Reporting on a Single Financial Statement or on a Specific Element
of a Financial Statement
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Key Audit Matters

A20. ISA 700 (Revised) requires the auditor to communicate key audit matters in accordance with ISA 701

for audits of complete sets of general purpose financial statements of listed-public interest entities.>°
For audits of a single financial statement or a specific element of a financial statement, ISA 701 only
applies when communication of key audit matters in the auditor’s report on such financial statements
or elements is required by law or regulation, or the auditor otherwise decides to communicate key
audit matters. When key audit matters are communicated in the auditor’s report on a single financial
statement or a specific element of a financial statement, ISA 701 applies in its entirety.5!

Other Information

A21. ISA 720 (Revised) deals with the auditor’s responsibilities relating to other information. In the context

of this ISA, reports containing or accompanying the single financial statement or specific element of
a financial statement—the purpose of which is to provide owners (or similar stakeholders) with
information on matters presented in the single financial statement or the specific element of a financial
statement—are considered to be annual reports for purposes of ISA 720 (Revised). When the auditor
determines that the entity plans to issue such a report, the requirements in ISA 720 (Revised) apply
to the audit of the single financial statement or the element.

Name of the Engagement Partner

A22. The requirement in ISA 700 (Revised) for the auditor to include the name of the engagement partner

in the auditor’s report also applies to audits of single financial statements of listed-public interest
entities or specific elements of financial statements of listed-public interest entities.52 The auditor may
be required by law or regulation to include the name of the engagement partner in the auditor’s report
or may otherwise decide to do so when reporting on a single financial statement or on an element of
a financial statement of entities other than listed-public interest entities.

Appendix 2
(Ref: Para. A17)

lllustrations of Independent Auditor’s Reports on a Single Financial Statement and
on a Specific Element of a Financial Statement

lllustration 1: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than a listed-public
interest entity prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework (for purposes of this
illustration, a fair presentation framework).

lllustration 2: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than a listed-public
interest entity prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework (for purposes of this
illustration, a fair presentation framework).

lllustration 3: An auditor’s report on a specific element of a financial statement of a listed-public
interest entity prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework (for purposes of this

50

51

52

ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 30
ISA 700 (Revised), paragraph 31
See ISA 700 (Revised), paragraphs 46 and A61-A63.
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illustration, a compliance framework).

lllustration 1: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than a listed
public interest entity prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework (for purposes of
this illustration, a fair presentation framework).

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

o Audit of a balance sheet (that is, a single financial statement) of an entity other than a listed
public interest entity.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

[Appropriate Addressee]
Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statement53

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial
statement.

5 Throughout these illustrative auditor’'s reports, the terms management and those charged with governance may need to be
replaced by another term that is appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction.
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Paragraph 41(b) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that the shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor’s
report. Paragraph 41(c) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that when law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permit,
reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor’s responsibilities, rather
than including this material in the auditor’s report, provided that the description on the website addresses, and is not inconsistent

with, the description of the auditor’s responsibilities below.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

lllustration 2: An auditor’s report on a single financial statement of an entity other than a listed
public interest entity prepared in accordance with a general purpose framework.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of a statement of cash receipts and disbursements (that is, a single financial
statement) of an entity other than a Hsted public interest entity.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

[Appropriate Addressee]

Opinion

Basis for Opinion

Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Accounting

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statement®*

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are

54 Or other terms that are appropriate in the context of the legal framework in the particular jurisdiction.
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free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial
statement.

Paragraph 41(b) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that the shaded material below can be located in an Appendix to the auditor’s
report. Paragraph 41(c) of ISA 700 (Revised) explains that when law, regulation or national auditing standards expressly permit,
reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the description of the auditor’s responsibilities, rather
than including this material in the auditor’s report, provided that the description on the website addresses, and is not inconsistent

with, the description of the auditor’s responsibilities below.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

lllustration 3: An auditor’s report on a specific element of a financial statement of a listed-public
interest entity prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework.

For purposes of this illustrative auditor’s report, the following circumstances are assumed:

. Audit of an accounts receivable schedule (that is, element, account or item of a financial
statement).

ISA 810 (REVISED), ENGAGEMENTS TO REPORT ON SUMMARY FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Appendix
(Ref: Para. A23)

lllustrations of Independent Auditor’s Reports on Summary Financial Statements

. lllustration 1: An auditor's report on summary financial statements prepared in accordance with
established criteria. An unmodified opinion is expressed on the audited financial statements. The
auditor’s report on the summary financial statements is dated later than the date of the auditor’s
report on the financial statements from which summary financial statements are derived. The
auditor’s report on the audited financial statements includes a Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section and communication of other key audit matters.

86



PROPOSED NARROW SCOPE AMENDMENTS TO ISQMs, ISAs AND ISRE 2400 (REVISED) AS A RESULT OF THE
REVISIONS TO THE DEFINITIONS OF LISTED ENTITY AND PIE IN THE IESBA CODE

Illustration 1:
Circumstances include the following:

. An unmodified opinion is expressed on the audited financial statements of a lsted-public
interest entity.

ISRE 2400 (REVISED), ENGAGEMENTS TO REVIEW HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

Requirements

The Practitioner’s Report

86. The practitioner’s report for the review engagement shall be in writing, and shall contain the following
elements: (Ref: Para. A124—-A127, A148, A150)

(a)
()] A reference to the practitioner’s obligation under this ISRE to comply with relevant ethical

requirements;

(DA ___If the relevant ethical requirements require the practitioner to publicly disclose when the
practitioner applied independence requirements specific to reviews of financial statements of
certain entities, the practitioner’s report shall include a statement that:

[0] Identifies the jurisdiction of origin of the relevant ethical requirements or refers to the
IESBA Code; and

(i) Indicates that the practitioner is independent of the entity in accordance with the
independence requirements _applicable to reviews of financial statements of those
entities. (Ref. Para. A137A)

(k)  The date of the practitioner’s report; (Ref: Para. A144—-A147)
)] The practitioner’s signature; and (Ref: Para. A138)

(m) The location in the jurisdiction where the practitioner practices.

Application and Other Explanatory Material

The Practitioner’s Report (Ref: Para. 86-92)
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The Practitioner’s Responsibility (Ref: Para. 86(f))

Relevant Ethical Requirements (Ref. Para. 86()A(ii))

Al137A.Relevant ethical requirements may:

. Establish independence requirements that are applicable to reviews of financial statements of

certain_entities specified in _the relevant ethical requirements, such as the independence

requirements for reviews of financial statements of public interest entities in the IESBA Code.

Relevant ethical requirements may also require or_encourage the practitioner to determine

whether it is appropriate to apply such independence requirements to reviews of financial

statements of entities other than those entities specified in the relevant ethical requirements.

° Require the practitioner to publicly disclose when the practitioner applied independence

requirements applicable to reviews of financial statements of certain entities. For example, the

IESBA Code requires that when a firm has applied the independence requirements for public

interest entities in performing a review of the financial statements of an entity, the firm publicly

disclose that fact, unless making such disclosure would result in disclosing confidential future

plans of the entity.5® The following illustrates the disclosure in the practitioner’s report when the

IESBA Code comprises all of the relevant ethical requirements that apply to the review

engagement:

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards

Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including

International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), as applicable to reviews of financial

statements of public interest entities.

55

IESBA PIE Revisions, paragraphs R400.20-R400.21
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REQUEST FOR COMMENTS

This Exposure Draft of Proposed International Ethics Standards for Sustainability Assurance (including International
Independence Standards) and Other Revisions to the Code Relating to Sustainability Assurance and Reporting
(ED) was developed and approved by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants® (IESBA®).

The ED should be read along with the Explanatory Memorandum (EM) that accompanies it.
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5390 (in Chapter 1), and the paragraphs in “Using the Work of Others” in Section 220 and “Using the Work of an
Expert” in Section 320 (in Chapter 4) — were developed under the Use of Experts project. See the Using the Work
of an External Expert Exposure Draft for the respective rationale. Any feedback to those proposals should be
provided in response to that Exposure Draft.

The approved text of ED is published in the English language. The proposals in the Exposure Draft may be modified
based on comments received before being issued in final form. Comments are requested by May 10, 2024. Note
that requests for extensions of time cannot be accommodated due to the accelerated timeline for finalization of
these proposed standards.
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INTERNATIONAL ETHICS STANDARDS FOR SUSTAINABILITY ASSURANCE (INCLUDING
INTERNATIONAL INDEPENDENCE STANDARDS)

SECTION 5100
COMPLYING WITH PART 5

Introduction

General

5100.1

5100.1a

5100.2

5100.2a

5100.2b

Itis of public interest that sustainability assurance practitioners act ethically in order to maintain public
trust and confidence in sustainability information that is subject to assurance. High-quality ethics and
independence standards alongside other reporting and assurance standards will help investors,
customers, employees and other users of sustainability information to confidently rely on such
information in their decision-making.

Sustainability assurance practitioners are expected to have relevant knowledge, skills and experience
to perform sustainability assurance engagements and have appropriate training to ensure their
assurance skills are continually up to date with relevant developments.

This Part sets out ethics (including independence) standards for sustainability assurance practitioners
and comprises:

(a) Sections 5100 to 5390 which set out ethics standards for sustainability assurance engagements
and other professional services performed for sustainability assurance clients; and

(b)  Sections 5400 to 5700 which set out independence standards for sustainability assurance
engagements that are within the scope of the International Independence Standards in this Part
as set out in paragraphs 5400.3a and 5400.3b.

When a sustainability assurance practitioner performs a sustainability assurance engagement that is
not within the scope of the International Independence Standards in this Part, Part 4B of the Code
sets out the applicable independence standards.

Sustainability assurance practitioners might perform professional activities and have professional and
business relationships that are not covered by this Part, in which case:

(&) Parts 1to 4B of the Code apply to a practitioner who is a professional accountant.

(b) A practitioner who is not a professional accountant is encouraged to apply Parts 1 to 4B of the
Code to guide the practitioner's general conduct. Adhering to the ethics (including
independence) standards set out in the Code (or other ethics standards at least as demanding
as the Code) in all professional activities contributes to public trust in sustainability information
that is subject to assurance. This includes circumstances where the practitioner:

0] Prepares or presents financial or non-financial, including sustainability, information for a
client, the firm or others.

(i)  Faces conflicts of interest when providing professional services to entities that are not
sustainability assurance clients.

(i) 1s offered an inducement by a supplier of the firm or by entities that are not sustainability
assurance clients.

Page 7 of 250



5100.3

5100.4

EXPOSURE DRAFT (Clean)

(iv) Encounters suspected fraud or other non-compliance with laws and regulations by
management, those charged with governance or other individuals at the firm.

(v) Is asked by an entity that is not an existing sustainability assurance client to provide a
second opinion on the preparation of sustainability information or the application of other
standards or principles to specific circumstances.

(vi)  Provides tax planning services to entities that are not sustainability assurance clients.

This Part sets out high quality standards of ethical behavior expected of sustainability assurance
practitioners for:

(@) Adoption by those responsible for setting ethics (including independence) standards for
sustainability assurance practitioners in particular sectors or jurisdictions.

(b)  Use by firms in developing their ethics and independence policies.

This Part establishes five fundamental principles to be complied with by all sustainability assurance
practitioners. It also includes a conceptual framework that sets out the approach to be taken to identify,
evaluate and address threats to compliance with those fundamental principles and threats to
independence. This Part also applies the fundamental principles and the conceptual framework to a
range of facts and circumstances that sustainability assurance practitioners might encounter.

Sustainability Information Subject to Assurance

5100.4a

5100.4b

5100.4c

5100.4d

Sustainability information might include comprehensive disclosures about many different topics or
aspects of topics as required by the sustainability reporting framework or by law or regulation, or that
an entity chooses to present in accordance with other criteria. Alternatively, the sustainability
information presented by an entity might be limited to certain matters, such as metrics, targets or key
performance indicators.

The criteria used for the reporting of sustainability information on which the sustainability assurance
practitioner expresses an opinion might be framework criteria, entity-developed criteria or a
combination of both. Framework criteria might be embodied in law or regulation or issued by
authorized or recognized bodies that follow a transparent due process.

Depending on the criteria used, the sustainability information might be prepared on a single entity or
group basis, and might include information from other entities in the reporting entity’s value chain.

Sustainability information might be presented in different ways, for example, in a separate
sustainability report issued by the entity, as part of the entity’s annual report (e.g., a separately
identified report within the annual report, or presented as part of the management report or
management commentary), or in an integrated report.

Requirements and Application Material

5100.5 Al
5100.5 A2

The requirements in this Part, designated with the letter “R,” impose obligations.

Application material, designated with the letter “A,” provides context, explanations, suggestions for
actions or matters to consider, illustrations and other guidance relevant to a proper understanding of
this Part. In particular, the application material is intended to help a sustainability assurance
practitioner to understand how to apply the conceptual framework to a particular set of circumstances
and to understand and comply with a specific requirement. While such application material does not
of itself impose a requirement, consideration of the material is necessary to the proper application of
the requirements of this Part, including application of the conceptual framework.
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A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with this Part.

Upholding the fundamental principles and compliance with the specific requirements of this Part
enable sustainability assurance practitioners to act in the public interest when providing sustainability
assurance.

Complying with this Part includes giving appropriate regard to the aim and intent of the specific
requirements.

There might be unusual or exceptional circumstances in which a sustainability assurance practitioner
believes that complying with a requirement or requirements in this Part might not be in the public
interest when providing sustainability assurance or would lead to a disproportionate outcome. In those
circumstances, the practitioner is encouraged to consult with an appropriate body such as a
professional or regulatory body.

In acting in the public interest, a sustainability assurance practitioner considers not only the
preferences or requirements of an individual sustainability assurance client, but also the interests of
other stakeholders when performing professional activities for sustainability assurance clients.

If there are circumstances where laws or regulations preclude a sustainability assurance practitioner
from complying with certain provisions in this Part, those laws and regulations prevail, and the
practitioner shall comply with all other provisions in this Part.

The principle of professional behavior requires a sustainability assurance practitioner to comply with
relevant laws and regulations. Some jurisdictions might have provisions that differ from or go beyond
those set out in this Part. Practitioners in those jurisdictions need to be aware of those differences and
comply with the more stringent provisions unless prohibited by law or regulation.

Breaches of Part 5

R5100.8

5100.8 Al

Paragraphs R5400.80 to R5400.89 and 5405.22 Al to R5405.29 address a breach of independence
requirements in this Part. A sustainability assurance practitioner who identifies a breach of any other
provision in this Part shall evaluate the significance of the breach and its impact on the practitioner’s
ability to comply with the fundamental principles. The practitioner shall also:

(@) Take whatever actions might be available, as soon as possible, to address the consequences
of the breach satisfactorily; and

(b) Determine whether to report the breach to the relevant parties.

Relevant parties to whom such a breach might be reported include those who might have been
affected by it, a professional or regulatory body or an oversight authority.
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SECTION 5110
THE FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES

General
5110.1 Al

R5110.2
5110.2 Al

5110.2 A2

There are five fundamental principles of ethics for sustainability assurance practitioners:
(@) Integrity — to be straightforward and honest in all professional and business relationships.
(b)  Obijectivity — to exercise professional or business judgment without being compromised by:
® Bias;
(i)  Conflict of interest; or

(i) Undue influence of, or undue reliance on, individuals, organizations, technology or other
factors.

(c) Professional Competence and Due Care — to:

(i)  Attain and maintain professional knowledge and skill at the level required to ensure that
a sustainability assurance client receives competent professional service, based on
current technical and professional standards and relevant legislation; and

(i)  Actdiligently and in accordance with applicable technical and professional standards.

(d) Confidentiality — to respect the confidentiality of information acquired as a result of professional
and business relationships.

(e) Professional Behavior — to:
0) Comply with relevant laws and regulations;

(i)  Behave in a manner consistent with acting in the public interest in all professional
activities and business relationships relating to sustainability assurance clients; and

(i)  Avoid any conduct that the sustainability assurance practitioner knows or should know
might affect public trust in sustainability information that is subject to assurance.

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with each of the fundamental principles.

The fundamental principles of ethics establish the standard of behavior expected of a sustainability
assurance practitioner. The conceptual framework establishes the approach which a practitioner is
required to apply in complying with those fundamental principles. Subsections 5111 to 5115 set out
requirements and application material in this Part related to each of the fundamental principles.

A sustainability assurance practitioner might face a situation in which complying with one fundamental
principle conflicts with complying with one or more other fundamental principles. In such a situation,
the practitioner might consider consulting, on an anonymous basis if necessary, with:

. Others within the firm.
) Those charged with governance.
) A professional body.

. A regulatory body.

. Legal counsel.
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However, such consultation does not relieve the practitioner from the responsibility to exercise
professional judgment to resolve the conflict or, if necessary, and unless prohibited by law or
regulation, disassociate from the matter creating the conflict.

The sustainability assurance practitioner is encouraged to document the substance of the issue, the
details of any discussions, the decisions made and the rationale for those decisions.

SUBSECTION 5111 - INTEGRITY

R5111.1

5111.1 A1

5111.1 A2

R5111.2

5111.2 Al

R5111.3

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with the principle of integrity, which requires a
practitioner to be straightforward and honest in all professional and business relationships.

Integrity involves fair dealing, truthfulness and having the strength of character to act appropriately,
even when facing pressure to do otherwise or when doing so might create potential adverse personal
or organizational consequences.

Acting appropriately involves:
(a) Standing one’s ground when confronted by dilemmas and difficult situations; or

(b)  Challenging others as and when circumstances warrant, in a manner appropriate to the
circumstances.

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall not knowingly be associated with reports, returns,
communications or other information where the practitioner believes that the information:

(a) Contains a materially false or misleading statement;
(b) Contains statements or information provided recklessly; or
(c) Omits or obscures required information where such omission or obscurity would be misleading.

If a sustainability assurance practitioner provides a modified report in respect of such a report, return,
communication or other information, the practitioner is not in breach of paragraph R5111.2.

When a sustainability assurance practitioner becomes aware of having been associated with
information described in paragraph R5111.2, the practitioner shall take steps to be disassociated from
that information.

SUBSECTION 5112 - OBJECTIVITY

R5112.1

R5112.2

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with the principle of objectivity, which requires a
practitioner to exercise professional or business judgment without being compromised by:

(@) Bias;
(b) Conflict of interest; or
(c) Undue influence of, or undue reliance on, individuals, organizations, technology or other factors.

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall not undertake a professional activity for a sustainability
assurance client if a circumstance or relationship unduly influences the practitioner’'s professional
judgment regarding that activity.
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SUBSECTION 5113 — PROFESSIONAL COMPETENCE AND DUE CARE

R5113.1

5113.1 A1

5113.1 A2

5113.1 A3

5113.1 A4

R5113.2

R5113.3

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with the principle of professional competence and
due care, which requires a practitioner to:

(@) Attain and maintain professional knowledge and skills at the level required to ensure that a
sustainability assurance client receives competent professional service, based on current
technical and professional standards and relevant legislation; and

(b) Actdiligently and in accordance with applicable technical and professional standards.

Serving sustainability assurance clients with professional competence involves the exercise of sound
judgment in applying professional knowledge and skill when undertaking professional activities.

The knowledge and skills necessary for a professional activity vary depending on the nature of the
activity being undertaken. For example, in addition to the application of any technical knowledge
relevant to the professional activity, interpersonal, communication and organizational skills facilitate
the practitioner’s interaction with entities and individuals with whom the practitioner interacts.

Maintaining professional competence requires a sustainability assurance practitioner to have a
continuing awareness and understanding of technical, professional, business and technology-related
developments relevant to the professional activities undertaken by the practitioner. Continuing
professional development enables a practitioner to develop and maintain the capabilities to perform
competently within the professional environment.

Diligence encompasses the responsibility to act in accordance with the requirements of an
assignment, carefully, thoroughly and on a timely basis.

In complying with the principle of professional competence and due care, a sustainability assurance
practitioner shall take reasonable steps to ensure that those working in a professional capacity under
the practitioner’s authority have appropriate training and supervision.

Where appropriate, a sustainability assurance practitioner shall make sustainability assurance clients
or other users of the practitioner’s professional activities, aware of the limitations inherent in the
activities and explain the implications of those limitations.

SUBSECTION 5114 — CONFIDENTIALITY

R5114.1

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with the principle of confidentiality, which requires
a practitioner to respect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of professional and
business relationships. A practitioner shall:

(@) Be alert to the possibility of inadvertent disclosure, including in a social environment, and
particularly to a close business associate or an immediate or a close family member;

(b) Maintain confidentiality of information within the firm;

(c) Maintain confidentiality of information disclosed by a prospective sustainability assurance client;
and

(d) Take reasonable steps to ensure that personnel under the practitioner’s control, and individuals
from whom advice and assistance are obtained, comply with the practitioner's duty of
confidentiality.
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Maintaining the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of professional and business
relationships involves the sustainability assurance practitioner taking appropriate action to protect the
confidentiality of such information in the course of its collection, use, transfer, storage or retention,
dissemination and lawful destruction.

Subject to paragraph R5114.3, a sustainability assurance practitioner shall not:

(@) Disclose confidential information acquired in the course of professional and business
relationships;

(b) Use confidential information acquired in the course of professional and business relationships
for the advantage of the practitioner, the firm or a third party;

(c) Use or disclose any confidential information, either acquired or received in the course of a
professional or business relationship, after that relationship has ended; and

(d)  Use ordisclose information in respect of which the duty of confidentiality applies notwithstanding
that the information has become publicly available, whether properly or improperly.

As an exception to paragraph R5114.2, a sustainability assurance practitioner may disclose or use
confidential information where:

(@) Thereis alegal or professional duty or right to do so; or

(b) This is authorized by the sustainability assurance client or any person with the authority to
permit disclosure or use of the confidential information and this is not prohibited by law or
regulation.

Confidentiality serves the public interest because it facilitates the free flow of information from the
sustainability assurance client to the sustainability assurance practitioner in the knowledge that the
information will not be disclosed to a third party. Nevertheless, the following are circumstances where
sustainability assurance practitioners might be required or have the duty or right to disclose
confidential information:

(a) Disclosure is required by law or regulation, for example:

0] Production of documents or other provision of evidence in the course of legal
proceedings; or

(i)  Disclosure to the appropriate public authorities of infringements of the law that come to
light; and

(b)  There is a professional duty or right to disclose or use, when not prohibited by law or regulation:

0) To comply with the quality review, practice assessment or equivalent monitoring activity
of a professional body;

(i)  Torespond to an inquiry or investigation by a professional or regulatory body;
(i)  To protect the professional interests of a practitioner in legal proceedings; or
(iv) To comply with technical and professional standards, including ethics requirements.

In deciding whether to disclose or use confidential information, factors to consider, depending on the
circumstances, include:

. Whether the interests of any parties, including third parties whose interests might be affected,
could be harmed if the sustainability assurance client authorizes the disclosure or use of
information by the sustainability assurance practitioner.
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. Whether all the relevant information is known and substantiated, to the extent practicable.
Factors affecting the decision to disclose or use, the information include:

o Unsubstantiated facts.
o Incomplete information.
o Unsubstantiated conclusions.
. The proposed means of communicating the information.

. Whether the parties to whom the information is to be provided or access is to be granted are
appropriate recipients.

. Any applicable law or regulation (including those governing privacy) in a jurisdiction where
disclosure might take place and, if different, the jurisdiction where the confidential information
originates.

The circumstances in which a firm seeks authorization to use or disclose confidential information,
include where the information is to be used for training purposes, in the development of products or
technology, in research or as source material for industry or other benchmarking data or studies. Such
authorization might be general in its application (for example, in relation to use of the information for
internal training purposes or quality enhancement initiatives). When obtaining the authorization of the
individual or entity that provided such information for use in specific circumstances, relevant
considerations to be communicated (preferably in writing) might include:

. The nature of the information to be used or disclosed.

. The purpose for which the information is to be used or disclosed (for example, technology
development, research or benchmarking data or studies).

o The individual or entity who will undertake the activity for which the information is to be used or
disclosed.
o Whether the identity of the individual or entity that provided such information or any individuals

or entities to which such information relates will be identifiable from the output of the activity for
which the information is to be used or disclosed.

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall continue to comply with the principle of confidentiality
even after the end of the relationship between the practitioner and a sustainability assurance client.
When acquiring a new sustainability assurance client, the practitioner is entitled to use prior
experience but shall not use or disclose any confidential information acquired or received in the course
of a professional or business relationship.

SUBSECTION 5115 — PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR

R5115.1

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with the principle of professional behavior, which
requires a practitioner to:

(@) Comply with relevant laws and regulations;

(b) Behave in a manner consistent with acting in the public interest in all professional activities and
business relationships relating to sustainability assurance clients; and

(c) Avoid any conduct that the practitioner knows or should know might affect public trust in
sustainability information that is subject to assurance.
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A sustainability assurance practitioner shall not knowingly engage in any business, occupation or
activity that impairs or might impair public trust in sustainability information that is subject to
assurance, and as a result would be incompatible with the fundamental principles.

Conduct that might affect public trust in sustainability information that is subject to assurance includes
conduct that a reasonable and informed third party would be likely to conclude to have such effect.

When undertaking marketing or promotional activities, a sustainability assurance practitioner shall be
honest and truthful and shall not make:

(@) Exaggerated claims for the services offered by, or the qualifications or experience of, the
practitioner; or

(b) Disparaging references or unsubstantiated comparisons to the work of others.

If a sustainability assurance practitioner is in doubt about whether a form of advertising or marketing
is appropriate, the practitioner is encouraged to consult with an appropriate body, for example the
relevant professional body.
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SECTION 5120
THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

Introduction

5120.1

5120.2

The circumstances in which sustainability assurance practitioners operate might create threats to
compliance with the fundamental principles. Section 5120 sets out requirements and application
material, including a conceptual framework, to assist practitioners in complying with the fundamental
principles and acting in the public interest when performing sustainability assurance engagements.
Such requirements and application material accommodate the wide range of facts and circumstances,
including the various professional activities, interests and relationships, that create threats to
compliance with the fundamental principles. In addition, they deter practitioners from concluding that
a situation is permitted solely because that situation is not specifically prohibited by this Part.

The conceptual framework specifies an approach for a sustainability assurance practitioner to:
(@) Identify threats to compliance with the fundamental principles;
(b)  Evaluate the threats identified; and

(c) Address the threats by eliminating or reducing them to an acceptable level.

Requirements and Application Material

General

R5120.3

The sustainability assurance practitioner shall apply the conceptual framework to identify, evaluate
and address threats to compliance with the fundamental principles set out in Section 5110.

[Paragraphs 5120.3 A1 and R5120.4 are intentionally left blank]

R5120.5

When applying the conceptual framework, the sustainability assurance practitioner shall:
(&) Have an inquiring mind;
(b)  Exercise professional judgment; and

(c) Use the reasonable and informed third party test described in paragraph 5120.5 A9.

Having an Inquiring Mind

5120.5 A1

5120.5 A2

An inquiring mind is a prerequisite to obtaining an understanding of known facts and circumstances
necessary for the proper application of the conceptual framework. Having an inquiring mind involves:

(@) Considering the source, relevance and sufficiency of information obtained, taking into account
the nature, scope and outputs of the professional activity being undertaken; and

(b) Being open and alert to a need for further investigation or other action.

When considering the source, relevance and sufficiency of information obtained, the sustainability
assurance practitioner might consider, among other matters, whether:

. New information has emerged or there have been changes in facts and circumstances.
. The information or its source might be influenced by bias or self-interest.
. There is reason to be concerned that potentially relevant information might be missing from the

facts and circumstances known to the practitioner.
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o There is an inconsistency between the known facts and circumstances and the practitioner’s
expectations.

o The information provides a reasonable basis on which to reach a conclusion.

o There might be other reasonable conclusions that could be reached from the information
obtained.

Paragraph R5120.5 requires all sustainability assurance practitioners to have an inquiring mind when
identifying, evaluating and addressing threats to the fundamental principles. This prerequisite for
applying the conceptual framework applies to all practitioners regardless of the professional activity
undertaken. Under sustainability assurance standards, including those issued by the IAASB,
practitioners are also required to exercise professional skepticism, which includes a critical
assessment of evidence.

Exercising Professional Judgment

5120.5 A4

5120.5 A5

5120.5 A6

Professional judgment involves the application of relevant training, professional knowledge, skill and
experience commensurate with the facts and circumstances, taking into account the nature and scope
of the particular professional activities, and the interests and relationships involved.

Professional judgment is required when the sustainability assurance practitioner applies the
conceptual framework in order to make informed decisions about the courses of actions available,
and to determine whether such decisions are appropriate in the circumstances. In making this
determination, the practitioner might consider matters such as whether:

. The practitioner’s expertise and experience are sufficient to reach a conclusion.
. There is a need to consult with others with relevant expertise or experience.
. The practitioner’'s own preconception or bias might be affecting the practitioner’s exercise of

professional judgment.

The circumstances in which sustainability assurance practitioners carry out professional activities and
the factors involved vary considerably in their range and complexity. The professional judgment
exercised by practitioners might need to take into account the complexity arising from the
compounding effect of the interaction between, and changes in, elements of the facts and
circumstances that are uncertain and variables and assumptions that are interconnected or
interdependent.

5120.5 A7 Managing complexity involves:

o Making the firm and, if appropriate, relevant stakeholders aware of the inherent uncertainties or
difficulties arising from the facts and circumstances. (Ref: Para. R5113.3)

. Being alert to any developments or changes in the facts and circumstances and assessing
whether they might impact any judgments the sustainability assurance practitioner has made.
(Ref: Para. R5120.5 to 5120.5 A3, and R5120.9 to 5120.9 A2)

5120.5 A8 Managing complexity might also involve:

) Analyzing and investigating as relevant, any uncertain elements, the variables and assumptions
and how they are connected or interdependent.

. Using technology to analyze relevant data to inform the sustainability assurance practitioner’s
judgment.
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o Consulting with others, including experts, to ensure appropriate challenge and additional input
as part of the evaluation process.

Reasonable and Informed Third Party

5120.5 A9

The reasonable and informed third party test is a consideration by the sustainability assurance
practitioner about whether the same conclusions would likely be reached by another party. Such
consideration is made from the perspective of a reasonable and informed third party, who weighs all
the relevant facts and circumstances that the practitioner knows, or could reasonably be expected to
know, at the time the conclusions are made. The reasonable and informed third party does not need
to be a sustainability assurance practitioner, but would possess the relevant knowledge and
experience to understand and evaluate the appropriateness of the practitioner’s conclusions in an
impartial manner.

Identifying Threats

R5120.6

5120.6 Al

5120.6 A2

5120.6 A3

The sustainability assurance practitioner shall identify threats to compliance with the fundamental
principles.

An understanding of the facts and circumstances, including any professional activities, interests and
relationships that might compromise compliance with the fundamental principles, is a prerequisite to
the sustainability assurance practitioner’s identification of threats to such compliance. The existence
of certain conditions, policies and procedures established by the practitioner’s profession, legislation,
regulation, or the firm that can enhance the practitioner acting ethically might also help identify threats
to compliance with the fundamental principles. Paragraph 5120.8 A2 includes general examples of
such conditions, policies and procedures which are also factors that are relevant in evaluating the
level of threats.

Threats to compliance with the fundamental principles might be created by a broad range of facts and
circumstances. It is not possible to define every situation that creates threats. In addition, the nature
of engagements and work assignments might differ and, consequently, different types of threats might
be created.

Threats to compliance with the fundamental principles fall into one or more of the following categories:

(a) Self-interest threat — the threat that a financial or other interest will inappropriately influence a
sustainability assurance practitioner’s judgment or behavior;

(b)  Self-review threat — the threat that a sustainability assurance practitioner will not appropriately
evaluate the results of a previous judgment made, or an activity performed by the practitioner
or by another individual within the practitioner’s firm, on which the practitioner will rely when
forming a judgment as part of performing a current activity;

(c) Advocacy threat — the threat that a sustainability assurance practitioner will promote a
sustainability assurance client’s position to the point that the practitioner's objectivity is
compromised;

(d) Familiarity threat — the threat that due to a long or close relationship with a sustainability
assurance client, a sustainability assurance practitioner will be too sympathetic to their interests
or too accepting of their work; and

(e) Intimidation threat — the threat that a sustainability assurance practitioner will be deterred from
acting objectively because of actual or perceived pressures, including attempts to exercise
undue influence over the practitioner.
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5120.6 A4 A circumstance might create more than one threat, and a threat might affect compliance with more
than one fundamental principle.

Evaluating Threats
R5120.7 When the sustainability assurance practitioner identifies a threat to compliance with the fundamental
principles, the practitioner shall evaluate whether such a threat is at an acceptable level.

Acceptable Level

5120.7 A1  An acceptable level is a level at which a sustainability assurance practitioner using the reasonable
and informed third party test would likely conclude that the practitioner complies with the fundamental
principles.

Factors Relevant in Evaluating the Level of Threats

5120.8 A1 The consideration of qualitative as well as quantitative factors is relevant in the sustainability
assurance practitioner's evaluation of threats, as is the combined effect of multiple threats, if
applicable.

5120.8 A2  The existence of conditions, policies and procedures described in paragraph 5120.6 A1 might also be
factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of threats to compliance with the fundamental
principles. Examples of such conditions, policies and procedures include:

o Corporate governance requirements.
. Educational, training and experience requirements.
. Effective complaint systems which enable the sustainability assurance practitioner and the

general public to draw attention to unethical behavior.
. An explicitly stated duty to report breaches of ethics requirements.

. Professional or regulatory monitoring and disciplinary procedures.

Consideration of New Information or Changes in Facts and Circumstances

R5120.9 If the sustainability assurance practitioner becomes aware of new information or changes in facts and
circumstances that might impact whether a threat has been eliminated or reduced to an acceptable
level, the practitioner shall re-evaluate and address that threat accordingly.

5120.9 A1 Remaining alert throughout the professional activity assists the sustainability assurance practitioner
in determining whether new information has emerged or changes in facts and circumstances have
occurred that:

(@) Impact the level of a threat; or

(b) Affect the practitioner's conclusions about whether safeguards applied continue to be
appropriate to address identified threats.

5120.9 A2  If new information results in the identification of a new threat, the sustainability assurance practitioner
is required to evaluate and, as appropriate, address this threat. (Ref: Paras. R5120.7 and R5120.10).
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Addressing Threats

R5120.10

If the sustainability assurance practitioner determines that the identified threats to compliance with the
fundamental principles are not at an acceptable level, the practitioner shall address the threats by
eliminating them or reducing them to an acceptable level. The practitioner shall do so by:

(@) Eliminating the circumstances, including interests or relationships, that are creating the threats;

(b) Applying safeguards, where available and capable of being applied, to reduce the threats to an
acceptable level; or

(c) Declining or ending the specific professional activity.

Actions to Eliminate Threats

5120.10 A1

Safeguards

5120.10 A2

Depending on the facts and circumstances, a threat might be addressed by eliminating the
circumstance creating the threat. However, there are some situations in which threats can only be
addressed by declining or ending the specific professional activity. This is because the circumstances
that created the threats cannot be eliminated and safeguards are not capable of being applied to
reduce the threat to an acceptable level.

Safeguards are actions, individually or in combination, that the sustainability assurance practitioner
takes that effectively reduce threats to compliance with the fundamental principles to an acceptable
level.

Consideration of Significant Judgments Made and Overall Conclusions Reached

R5120.11

The sustainability assurance practitioner shall form an overall conclusion about whether the actions
that the practitioner takes, or intends to take, to address the threats created will eliminate those threats
or reduce them to an acceptable level. In forming the overall conclusion, the practitioner shall:

(@) Review any significant judgments made or conclusions reached; and

(b)  Use the reasonable and informed third party test.

Other Considerations when Applying the Conceptual Framework

Bias

5120.12 A1

5120.12 A2

Conscious or unconscious bias affects the exercise of professional judgment when identifying,
evaluating and addressing threats to compliance with the fundamental principles.

Examples of potential bias to be aware of when exercising professional judgment include:

) Anchoring bias, which is a tendency to use an initial piece of information as an anchor against
which subsequent information is inadequately assessed.

. Automation bias, which is a tendency to favor output generated from automated systems, even
when human reasoning or contradictory information raises questions as to whether such output
is reliable or fit for purpose.

. Availability bias, which is a tendency to place more weight on events or experiences that
immediately come to mind or are readily available than on those that are not.

. Confirmation bias, which is a tendency to place more weight on information that corroborates
an existing belief than information that contradicts or casts doubt on that belief.
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o Groupthink, which is a tendency for a group of individuals to discourage individual creativity and
responsibility and as a result reach a decision without critical reasoning or consideration of
alternatives.

. Overconfidence bias, which is a tendency to overestimate one’s own ability to make accurate

assessments of risk or other judgments or decisions.

. Representation bias, which is a tendency to base an understanding on a pattern of experiences,
events or beliefs that is assumed to be representative.

. Selective perception, which is a tendency for a person’s expectations to influence how the
person views a particular matter or person.

Actions that might mitigate the effect of bias include:

. Seeking advice from experts to obtain additional input.
. Consulting with others to ensure appropriate challenge as part of the evaluation process.
. Receiving training related to the identification of bias as part of professional development.

The effective application of the conceptual framework by a sustainability assurance practitioner is
enhanced when the importance of ethical values that align with the fundamental principles and other
provisions set out in this Part is promoted through the internal culture of the firm.

The promotion of an ethical culture within a firm is most effective when:

(a) Leaders and those in managerial roles promote the importance of, and hold themselves and
others accountable for demonstrating, the ethical values of the firm;

(b)  Appropriate education and training programs, management processes, and performance
evaluation and reward criteria that promote an ethical culture are in place;

(c) Effective policies and procedures are in place to encourage and protect those who report actual
or suspected illegal or unethical behavior, including whistle-blowers; and

(d)  The firm adheres to ethical values in its dealings with third parties.
Sustainability assurance practitioners are expected to:

(a8 Encourage and promote an ethics-based culture in their firm, taking into account their position
and seniority; and

(b)  Exhibit ethical behavior in dealings with individuals with whom, and entities with which, the
practitioners or the firm has a professional or business relationship.

Considerations for Sustainability Assurance Engagements

Additional Consideration for Firm Culture

5120.14 A1

Quality management standards, such as ISQM 1, might address firm culture in the context of a firm’s
responsibilities to design, implement and operate a system of quality management for sustainability
assurance.
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Independence

5120.15 A1

5120.15 A2

5120.15 A3

Sustainability assurance practitioners are required by Sections 5400 to 5700 and Part 4B, as
applicable, to be independent when performing sustainability assurance engagements. Independence
is linked to the fundamental principles of objectivity and integrity. It comprises:

(@) Independence of mind — the state of mind that permits the expression of a conclusion without
being affected by influences that compromise professional judgment, thereby allowing an
individual to act with integrity, and exercise objectivity and professional skepticism.

(b) Independence in appearance — the avoidance of facts and circumstances that are so significant
that a reasonable and informed third party would be likely to conclude that a firm’'s or a
sustainability assurance team member’s integrity, objectivity or professional skepticism has
been compromised.

Sections 5400 to 5700 and Part 4B set out requirements and application material on how to apply the
conceptual framework to maintain independence when performing sustainability assurance
engagements. Sustainability assurance practitioners and firms are required to comply with these
requirements and application material in order to be independent when conducting such
engagements. The conceptual framework to identify, evaluate and address threats to compliance with
the fundamental principles applies in the same way to compliance with independence requirements.
The categories of threats to compliance with the fundamental principles described in paragraph
5120.6 A3 are also the categories of threats to compliance with independence requirements.

Conditions, policies and procedures described in paragraphs 5120.6 Al and 5120.8 A2 that might
assist in identifying and evaluating threats to compliance with the fundamental principles might also
be factors relevant to identifying and evaluating threats to independence. In the context of
sustainability assurance engagements, a system of quality management designed, implemented and
operated by a firm in accordance with the quality management standards issued by the IAASB is an
example of such conditions, policies and procedures.

Professional Skepticism

5120.16 A1

5120.16 A2

Under sustainability assurance standards, including those issued by the IAASB, sustainability
assurance practitioners are required to exercise professional skepticism when planning and
performing sustainability assurance engagements. Professional skepticism and the fundamental
principles that are described in Section 5110 are inter-related concepts.

In a sustainability assurance engagement that is within the scope of the International Independence
Standards in this Part, compliance with the fundamental principles, individually and collectively,
supports the exercise of professional skepticism, as shown in the following examples:

. Integrity requires the sustainability assurance practitioner to be straightforward and honest. For
example, the practitioner complies with the principle of integrity by:

o Being straightforward and honest when raising concerns about a position taken by a
sustainability assurance client.

o Pursuing inquiries about inconsistent information and seeking further evidence to
address concerns about statements that might be materially false or misleading in order
to make informed decisions about the appropriate course of action in the circumstances.

o Having the strength of character to act appropriately, even when facing pressure to do
otherwise or when doing so might create potential adverse personal or organizational
consequences. Acting appropriately involves:
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(a) Standing one’s ground when confronted by dilemmas and difficult situations; or
(b) Challenging others as and when circumstances warrant,
in a manner appropriate to the circumstances.

In doing so, the practitioner demonstrates the critical assessment of evidence that contributes
to the exercise of professional skepticism.

Objectivity requires the sustainability assurance practitioner to exercise professional or
business judgment without being compromised by:

(&) Bias;
(b)  Conflict of interest; or

(c) Undue influence of, or undue reliance on, individuals, organizations, technology or other
factors.

For example, the practitioner complies with the principle of objectivity by:

(&) Recognizing circumstances or relationships such as familiarity with the sustainability
assurance client, that might compromise the practitioner's professional or business
judgment; and

(b) Considering the impact of such circumstances and relationships on the practitioner’s
judgment when evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of evidence related to a
matter material to the client’s sustainability information.

In doing so, the practitioner behaves in a manner that contributes to the exercise of professional
skepticism.

Professional competence and due care requires the sustainability assurance practitioner to
have professional knowledge and skill at the level required to ensure the provision of competent
professional service, and to act diligently in accordance with applicable standards, laws and
regulations. For example, the practitioner complies with the principle of professional
competence and due care by:

(& Applying knowledge that is relevant to a particular sustainability assurance client’s
industry and business activities in order to properly identify risks of material
misstatement;

(b)  Designing and performing appropriate assurance procedures; and

(c)  Applying relevant knowledge when critically assessing whether evidence is sufficient and
appropriate in the circumstances.

In doing so, the practitioner behaves in a manner that contributes to the exercise of professional
skepticism.
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SECTION 5270
PRESSURE TO BREACH THE FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES

Introduction

5270.1

5270.2

Sustainability assurance practitioners are required to comply with the fundamental principles and
apply the conceptual framework set out in Section 5120 to identify, evaluate and address threats.

Pressure exerted on, or by, a sustainability assurance practitioner might create an intimidation or other
threat to compliance with one or more of the fundamental principles. This section sets out specific
requirements and application material relevant to applying the conceptual framework in such
circumstances.

Requirements and Application Material

General

R5270.3

5270.3 Al

5270.3 A2

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall not:

(@) Allow pressure from others to result in a breach of compliance with the fundamental principles;
or

(b) Place pressure on others that the practitioner knows, or has reason to believe, would result in
the other individuals breaching the fundamental principles.

A sustainability assurance practitioner might face pressure that creates threats to compliance with the
fundamental principles, for example an intimidation threat, when undertaking a professional activity
for a sustainability assurance client. Pressure might be explicit or implicit and might come from:

. Within the firm, for example, from a colleague or superior.

o An external individual or organization such as the sustainability assurance client or a vendor,
customer or lender of the firm.

. Internal or external targets and expectations.

Examples of pressure that might result in threats to compliance with the fundamental principles
include:

) Pressure related to conflicts of interest:

o Pressure from a family member bidding to act as a counterparty to a transaction involving
a sustainability assurance client to select the family member over other counterparties.

See also Section 5310, Conflicts of Interest.
. Pressure to act without sufficient expertise or due care:
o Pressure from superiors to inappropriately reduce the extent of work performed.

o Pressure from superiors to perform a task without sufficient skills or training or within
unrealistic deadlines.

o Pressure from a sustainability assurance client not to enquire about strategy-related
assumptions used in the forward-looking information prepared by the client and subject
to assurance procedures.
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Pressure related to inducements:

o Pressure from colleagues to accept a bribe or other inducement, for example to accept
inappropriate gifts or entertainment from potential or existing sustainability assurance
clients.

See also Section 5340, Inducements, Including Gifts and Hospitality.
Pressure related to non-compliance with laws and regulations:

o Pressure to overlook potential breaches of environmental or safety regulations applicable
to a sustainability assurance client.

See also Section 5360, Responding to Non-compliance with Laws and Regulations.
Pressure related to level of fees

o Pressure exerted by a superior or a colleague of a sustainability assurance practitioner
to provide professional services at a fee level that does not allow for sufficient and
appropriate resources (including human, technological and intellectual resources) to
perform the services in accordance with technical and professional standards.

See also Section 5330, Fees and Other Types of Remuneration

Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of threats created by pressure include:

The intent of the individual who is exerting the pressure and the nature and extent of the
pressure.

The application of laws, regulations, and professional standards to the circumstances.

The culture and leadership of the firm including the extent to which they reflect or emphasize
the importance of ethical behavior and the expectation that personnel will act ethically. For
example, a corporate culture that tolerates unethical behavior might increase the likelihood that
the pressure would result in a threat to compliance with the fundamental principles.

Policies and procedures, if any, that the firm has established, such as ethics or human
resources policies that address pressure.

Discussing the circumstances creating the pressure and consulting with others about those
circumstances might assist the sustainability assurance practitioner to evaluate the level of the threat.
Such discussion and consultation, which requires being alert to the principle of confidentiality, might
include:

Discussing the matter with the individual who is exerting the pressure to seek to resolve it.

Discussing the matter with the practitioner’s superior, if the superior is not the individual exerting
the pressure.

Escalating the matter within the firm, including when appropriate, explaining any consequential
risks to the firm, for example with:

o Higher levels of management.
o Internal or external auditors.
o Those charged with governance.

Disclosing the matter in line with the firm’s policies, including ethics and whistleblowing policies,
using any established mechanism, such as a confidential ethics hotline.
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. Consulting with:
o A colleague, superior, human resources personnel, or another sustainability assurance
practitioner;
o Relevant professional or regulatory bodies or industry associations; or
o Legal counsel.

5270.3 A5 An example of an action that might eliminate threats created by pressure is the sustainability
assurance practitioner’s request for a restructure of, or segregation of, certain responsibilities and
duties relating to the professional services performed for a sustainability assurance client so that the
practitioner is no longer involved with the individual or entity exerting the pressure.

Documentation

5270.4 A1  The sustainability assurance practitioner is encouraged to document:

o The facts.

o The communications and parties with whom these matters were discussed.
. The courses of action considered.

. How the matter was addressed.
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SECTION 5300
APPLYING THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

Introduction

5300.1

Sections 5300 to 5390 set out requirements and application material for sustainability assurance
practitioners when applying the conceptual framework set out in Section 5120. They do not describe
all of the facts and circumstances, including professional activities, interests and relationships, that
could be encountered by practitioners, which create or might create threats to compliance with the
fundamental principles. Therefore, the conceptual framework requires sustainability assurance
practitioners to be alert for such facts and circumstances.

[Paragraphs 5300.2 and 5300.3 are intentionally left blank]

Requirements and Application Material

General

R5300.4

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall comply with the fundamental principles set out in Section
5110 and apply the conceptual framework set out in Section 5120 to identify, evaluate and address
threats to compliance with the fundamental principles.

[Paragraphs R5300.5 and 5300.5 A1l are intentionally left blank]

5300.5 A2

The more senior the position of a sustainability assurance practitioner, the greater will be the ability and
opportunity to access information, and to influence policies, decisions made and actions taken by others
involved with the firm. To the extent that they are able to do so, taking into account their position and
seniority in the firm, practitioners are expected to encourage and promote an ethics-based culture in
the firm and exhibit ethical behavior in dealings with individuals with whom, and entities with which, the
practitioner or the firm has a professional or business relationship in accordance with paragraph
5120.13 A3. Examples of actions that might be taken include the introduction, implementation and
oversight of:

. Ethics education and training programs.

. Firm processes and performance evaluation and reward criteria that promote an ethical culture.
. Ethics and whistle-blowing policies.

. Policies and procedures designed to prevent non-compliance with laws and regulations.

(Ref: Paras. 5120.13 Al to 5120.13 A3).

Identifying Threats

5300.6 Al

Threats to compliance with the fundamental principles might be created by a broad range of facts and
circumstances. The categories of threats are described in paragraph 5120.6 A3. The following are
examples of facts and circumstances within each of those categories of threats that might create
threats for a sustainability assurance practitioner when undertaking a professional service for a
sustainability assurance client:
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(a) Self-interest Threats

A sustainability assurance practitioner having a direct financial interest in a sustainability
assurance client.

A sustainability assurance practitioner quoting a low fee to obtain a new engagement
and the fee is so low that it might be difficult to perform the professional service in
accordance with applicable technical and professional standards for that price.

A sustainability assurance practitioner having a close business relationship with a
sustainability assurance client.

A sustainability assurance practitioner having incentives linked to the outcome of a
sustainability assurance engagement.

A sustainability assurance practitioner discovering a significant error when evaluating the
results of a previous professional service performed by a member of the practitioner’s
firm.

(b)  Self-review Threats

A sustainability assurance practitioner issuing an assurance report on the effectiveness
of the operation of systems that generate sustainability information after designing or
implementing the systems.

A sustainability assurance practitioner having contributed to the preparation of data used
to generate information that is subject to procedures in the sustainability assurance
engagement.

A sustainability assurance practitioner having provided sustainability-related services
other than sustainability assurance engagements for an entity in a sustainability
assurance client’s value chain, the outcome of which is subject to procedures in the
sustainability assurance engagement for the client.

A sustainability assurance practitioner having provided a valuation or forecasting service
the outcome of which is subject to procedures in the sustainability assurance
engagement for the sustainability assurance client.

(c) Advocacy Threats

A sustainability assurance practitioner promoting the interests of a sustainability
assurance client.

A sustainability assurance practitioner acting as an advocate on behalf of a sustainability
assurance client in litigation or disputes with third parties.

A sustainability assurance practitioner lobbying in favor of legislation on behalf of a
sustainability assurance client.

A sustainability assurance practitioner promoting a particular sustainability-related
initiative, product or service on behalf of a sustainability assurance client.

(d) Familiarity Threats

A sustainability assurance practitioner having a close or immediate family member who
is a director or officer of the sustainability assurance client.
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. A director or officer of the sustainability assurance client, or an employee in a position to
exert significant influence over the subject matter of the engagement, having recently
served as the engagement leader.

o A sustainability assurance team member having a long association with the sustainability
assurance client.

. An individual who is being considered to serve as an appropriate reviewer, as a
safeguard to address a threat, having a close relationship with an individual who
performed the work.

(e) Intimidation Threats

. A sustainability assurance practitioner being threatened with dismissal from a
professional service performed for a sustainability assurance client or the firm because
of a disagreement about a professional matter.

. A sustainability assurance practitioner feeling pressured to agree with the judgment of a
sustainability assurance client because the client has more expertise on the matter in
question.

. A sustainability assurance practitioner being informed that a planned promotion will not

occur unless the practitioner agrees with an inappropriate sustainability-related analysis
or conclusion.

. A sustainability assurance practitioner having accepted a significant gift from a
sustainability assurance client and being threatened that acceptance of this gift will be
made public.

Identifying Threats Associated with the Use of Technology

5300.6 A2 The following are examples of facts and circumstances relating to the use of technology that might
create threats for a sustainability assurance practitioner when undertaking a professional activity for
a sustainability assurance client:

o Self-interest Threats
o The data available might not be sufficient for the effective use of the technology.
o The technology might not be appropriate for the purpose for which it is to be used.

o The practitioner might not have sufficient information and expertise, or access to an
expert with sufficient understanding, to use and explain the technology and its
appropriateness for the purpose intended.

o Self-review Threats
o The technology was designed or developed using the knowledge, expertise or judgment
of the practitioner or firm.
Evaluating Threats

5300.7 A1  The conditions, policies and procedures described in paragraphs 5120.6 A1 and 5120.8 A2 might
impact the evaluation of whether a threat to compliance with the fundamental principles is at an
acceptable level. Such conditions, policies and procedures might relate to:
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(@) The sustainability assurance client and its operating environment; and
(b)  The firm and its operating environment.

The sustainability assurance practitioner’s evaluation of the level of a threat is also impacted by the
nature and scope of the professional service.

The Sustainability Assurance Client and its Operating Environment

5300.7 A3

5300.7 A4

5300.7 Ada

The sustainability assurance practitioner’s evaluation of the level of a threat might be impacted by
whether the sustainability assurance client is:

(@) A public interest entity;
(b)  An audit client; or
(c) A non-assurance client.

For example, providing a non-assurance service to a sustainability assurance client that is a public
interest entity might be perceived to result in a higher level of threat to compliance with the principle
of objectivity with respect to the sustainability assurance engagement.

The corporate governance structure, including the leadership of a sustainability assurance client,
might promote compliance with the fundamental principles. Accordingly, a sustainability assurance
practitioner’'s evaluation of the level of a threat might also be impacted by a client’s operating
environment. For example:

. The client requires appropriate individuals other than management to ratify or approve the
appointment of a firm to perform an engagement.

. The client has competent employees with experience and seniority to make managerial
decisions.
. The client has implemented internal procedures that facilitate objective choices in tendering

non-assurance engagements.

. The client has a corporate governance structure that provides appropriate oversight and
communications regarding the firm'’s services.

The sustainability assurance practitioner’s evaluation of the level of a threat to compliance with the
fundamental principles might be impacted by the quantitative and qualitative characteristics of a
sustainability assurance client’s value chain. For example, a threat to compliance with the principle of
professional competence and due care might be created if the sustainability information that is subject
to assurance comes from multiple suppliers that are geographically dispersed or is prepared in
accordance with different reporting frameworks.

The Firm and its Operating Environment

5300.7 A5

A sustainability assurance practitioner’s evaluation of the level of a threat might be impacted by the
work environment within the practitioner’s firm and its operating environment. For example:

. Leadership of the firm that promotes compliance with the fundamental principles and
establishes the expectation that sustainability assurance team members will act in the public
interest when providing sustainability assurance.

. Policies or procedures for establishing and monitoring compliance with the fundamental
principles by all personnel.
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. Compensation, performance appraisal and disciplinary policies and procedures that promote
compliance with the fundamental principles.

o Management of the reliance on revenue received from a single sustainability assurance client.

. The engagement leader having authority within the firm for decisions concerning compliance
with the fundamental principles, including any decisions about accepting or providing services
to a sustainability assurance client.

. Educational, training and experience requirements.
. Processes to facilitate and address internal and external concerns or complaints.

The sustainability assurance practitioner’s evaluation of the level of a threat associated with the use
of technology might also be impacted by the work environment within the practitioner’s firm and its
operating environment. For example:

o Level of corporate oversight and internal controls over the technology.
. Assessments of the quality and functionality of technology that are undertaken by a third-party.

o Training that is provided regularly to all relevant employees so they obtain and maintain the
professional competence to sufficiently understand, use and explain the technology and its
appropriateness for the purpose intended.

Consideration of New Information or Changes in Facts and Circumstances

5300.7 A7

5300.7 A8

New information or changes in facts and circumstances might:
(a) Impact the level of a threat; or

(b)  Affect the sustainability assurance practitioner’s conclusions about whether safeguards applied
continue to address identified threats as intended.

In these situations, actions that were already implemented as safeguards might no longer be effective
in addressing threats. Accordingly, the application of the conceptual framework requires that the
sustainability assurance practitioner re-evaluate and address the threats accordingly. (Ref: Paras.
R5120.9 and R5120.10).

Examples of new information or changes in facts and circumstances that might impact the level of a
threat include:

o When the scope of a professional service is expanded.

. When the sustainability assurance client becomes a publicly traded entity or acquires another
business unit.

. When the firm merges with another firm.

. When the sustainability assurance practitioner is jointly engaged by a sustainability assurance
client and another client and a dispute emerges between the two clients.

. When there is a change in the sustainability assurance practitioner's personal or immediate
family relationships.
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Addressing Threats

5300.8 Al

Paragraphs R5120.10 to 5120.10 A2 set out requirements and application material for addressing
threats that are not at an acceptable level.

Examples of Safeguards

5300.8 A2

5300.8 A3

Safeguards vary depending on the facts and circumstances. Examples of actions that in certain
circumstances might be safeguards to address threats include:

. Assigning additional time and qualified personnel to required tasks when an engagement has
been accepted might address a self-interest threat.

. Having an appropriate reviewer who was not a member of the team review the work performed
or advise as necessary might address a self-review threat.

. Using different leaders and teams with separate reporting lines for the provision of non-
assurance services to a sustainability assurance client might address self-review, advocacy or
familiarity threats.

. Involving another firm to perform or re-perform part of the engagement might address self-
interest, self-review, advocacy, familiarity or intimidation threats.

. Disclosing to sustainability assurance clients any referral fees or commission arrangements
received for recommending services or products might address a self-interest threat.

. Separating teams when dealing with matters of a confidential nature might address a self-
interest threat.

The remaining sections of this Part describe certain threats that might arise during the course of
performing professional services for sustainability assurance clients and include examples of actions
that might address threats.

Appropriate Reviewer

5300.8 A4

An appropriate reviewer is a professional with the necessary knowledge, skills, experience and
authority to review, in an objective manner, the relevant work performed or service provided to a
sustainability assurance client. Such an individual might be a sustainability assurance practitioner.

Communicating with Those Charged with Governance

R5300.9

5300.9 A1

5300.9 A2

When communicating with those charged with governance in accordance with this Part, a
sustainability assurance practitioner shall determine the appropriate individual(s) within the
sustainability assurance client’s governance structure with whom to communicate. If the practitioner
communicates with a subgroup of those charged with governance, the practitioner shall determine
whether communication with all of those charged with governance is also necessary so that they are
adequately informed.

In determining with whom to communicate, a sustainability assurance practitioner might consider:
(@) The nature and importance of the circumstances; and
(b)  The matter to be communicated.

Examples of a subgroup of those charged with governance include an audit committee or another
committee tasked with oversight of sustainability information, or an individual member of those
charged with governance.
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If a sustainability assurance practitioner communicates with individuals who have management
responsibilities as well as governance responsibilities, the practitioner shall be satisfied that
communication with those individuals adequately informs all of those in a governance role with whom
the practitioner would otherwise communicate.

In some circumstances, all of those charged with governance are involved in managing the
sustainability assurance client, for example, a small business where a single owner manages the
entity and no one else has a governance role. In these cases, if matters are communicated to
individual(s) with management responsibilities, and those individual(s) also have governance
responsibilities, the sustainability assurance practitioner has satisfied the requirement to communicate
with those charged with governance.
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SECTION 5310
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Introduction

5310.1

5310.2

5310.3

Sustainability assurance practitioners are required to comply with the fundamental principles and
apply the conceptual framework set out in Section 5120 to identify, evaluate and address threats.

A conflict of interest creates threats to compliance with the principle of objectivity and might create
threats to compliance with the other fundamental principles. Such threats might be created when:

(@) A sustainability assurance practitioner provides a professional service related to a particular
matter for a sustainability assurance client and another client whose interests with respect to
that matter are in conflict; or

(b)  The interests of a sustainability assurance practitioner with respect to a particular matter and
the interests of the sustainability assurance client for whom the practitioner provides a
professional service related to that matter are in conflict.

This section sets out specific requirements and application material relevant to applying the
conceptual framework to conflicts of interest. When a sustainability assurance practitioner performs a
sustainability assurance engagement, independence is also required in accordance with this Part or
Part 4B, as applicable.

Requirements and Application Material

General

R5310.4

5310.4 Al

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall not allow a conflict of interest to compromise professional
or business judgment.

Examples of circumstances that might create a conflict of interest include:

. Providing a transaction advisory service to a client seeking to acquire a sustainability assurance
client, where the firm has obtained confidential information during the course of the sustainability
assurance engagement that might be relevant to the transaction.

. Providing advice to a sustainability assurance client and another client at the same time where
the clients are competing to acquire the same company and the advice might be relevant to the
parties’ competitive positions.

. Representing a sustainability assurance client and another client in the same matter who are in
a legal dispute with each other.

. Advising a sustainability assurance client to invest in a business in which, for example, the
spouse of the practitioner has a financial interest.

. Providing strategic advice to a sustainability assurance client on its competitive position while
having a joint venture or similar interest with a major competitor of the client.

. Advising a sustainability assurance client on acquiring a business which the firm is also
interested in acquiring.

. Advising a sustainability assurance client on buying a product or service while having a royalty
or commission agreement with a potential seller of that product or service.
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Conflict Identification

General

R5310.5

5310.5 A1

5310.5 A2

5310.5 A3

Before accepting a new sustainability assurance client relationship, engagement, or business
relationship, a sustainability assurance practitioner shall take reasonable steps to identify
circumstances that might create a conflict of interest, and therefore a threat to compliance with one or
more of the fundamental principles. Such steps shall include identifying:

(@) The nature of the relevant interests and relationships between the parties involved; and
(b) The service and its implication for relevant parties.

An effective conflict identification process assists a sustainability assurance practitioner when taking
reasonable steps to identify interests and relationships that might create an actual or potential conflict
of interest, both before determining whether to accept an engagement and throughout the
engagement. Such a process includes considering matters identified by external parties, for example
clients or potential clients. The earlier an actual or potential conflict of interest is identified, the greater
the likelihood of the practitioner being able to address threats created by the conflict of interest.

An effective process to identify actual or potential conflicts of interest will take into account factors
such as:

. The nature of the professional services provided.

o The size of the firm.

o The size and nature of the client base.

. The structure of the firm, for example, the number and geographic location of offices.

More information on client acceptance is set out in Section 5320, Professional Appointments.

Changes in Circumstances

R5310.6

5310.6 Al

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall remain alert to changes over time in the nature of services,
interests and relationships that might create a conflict of interest while performing an engagement.

The nature of services, interests and relationships might change during the engagement. This is
particularly true when a sustainability assurance practitioner is asked to conduct an engagement in a
situation that might become adversarial, even though the parties who engage the practitioner initially
might not be involved in a dispute.

Network Firms

R5310.7

5310.7 Al

If the firm is a member of a network, a sustainability assurance practitioner shall consider conflicts of
interest that the practitioner has reason to believe might exist or arise due to interests and
relationships of a network firm.

Factors to consider when identifying interests and relationships involving a network firm include:

) The nature of the professional services provided.
. The clients served by the network.
) The geographic locations of all relevant parties.
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Threats Created by Conflicts of Interest

5310.8 Al

5310.8 A2

5310.8 A3

In general, the more direct the connection between the professional service and the matter on which
the parties’ interests conflict, the more likely the level of the threat is not at an acceptable level.

Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of a threat created by a conflict of interest include
measures that prevent unauthorized disclosure of confidential information when performing
professional services related to a particular matter for a sustainability assurance client and another
client whose interests with respect to that matter are in conflict. These measures include:

. The existence of separate practice areas for specialty functions within the firm, which might act
as a barrier to the passing of confidential client information between practice areas.

. Policies and procedures to limit access to client files.

. Confidentiality agreements signed by personnel and leaders of the firm.
. Separation of confidential information physically and electronically.

. Specific and dedicated training and communication.

Examples of actions that might be safeguards to address threats created by a conflict of interest
include:

. Having separate teams who are provided with clear policies and procedures on maintaining
confidentiality.

. Having an appropriate reviewer, who is not involved in providing the service or otherwise
affected by the conflict, review the work performed to assess whether the key judgments and
conclusions are appropriate.

Disclosure and Consent

General

R5310.9

5310.9 Al

5310.9 A2

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall exercise professional judgment to determine whether the
nature and significance of a conflict of interest are such that specific disclosure and explicit consent
are necessary when addressing the threat created by the conflict of interest.

Factors to consider when determining whether specific disclosure and explicit consent are necessary
include:

. The circumstances creating the conflict of interest.

o The parties that might be affected.

. The nature of the issues that might arise.

) The potential for the particular matter to develop in an unexpected manner.
Disclosure and consent might take different forms, for example:

) General disclosure to clients of circumstances where, as is common commercial practice, the
sustainability assurance practitioner does not provide professional services exclusively to any
one client (for example, in a particular professional service and market sector). This enables
the client to provide general consent accordingly. For example, a practitioner might make
general disclosure in the standard terms and conditions for the engagement.
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o Specific disclosure to affected clients of the circumstances of the particular conflict in sufficient
detail to enable the client to make an informed decision about the matter and to provide explicit
consent accordingly. Such disclosure might include a detailed presentation of the
circumstances and a comprehensive explanation of any planned safeguards and the risks
involved.

. Consent might be implied by clients’ conduct in circumstances where the sustainability
assurance practitioner has sufficient evidence to conclude that clients know the circumstances
at the outset and have accepted the conflict of interest if they do not raise an objection to the
existence of the conflict.

It is generally necessary:

(@) Todisclose the nature of the conflict of interest and how any threats created were addressed to
clients affected by a conflict of interest; and

(b)  To obtain consent of the affected clients to perform the professional services when safeguards
are applied to address the threat.

If such disclosure or consent is not in writing, the sustainability assurance practitioner is encouraged
to document:

(@) The nature of the circumstances giving rise to the conflict of interest;
(b) The safeguards applied to address the threats when applicable; and

(c) The consent obtained.

When Explicit Consent is Refused

R5310.10

If a sustainability assurance practitioner has determined that explicit consent is necessary in
accordance with paragraph R5310.9 and the sustainability assurance client has refused to provide
consent, the practitioner shall either:

(@) End or decline to perform professional services that would result in the conflict of interest; or

(b) End relevant relationships or dispose of relevant interests to eliminate the threat or reduce it to
an acceptable level.

Confidentiality

General

R5310.11

5310.11 A1

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall remain alert to the principle of confidentiality, including
when making disclosures or sharing information within the firm or network and seeking guidance from
third parties.

Subsection 5114 sets out requirements and application material relevant to situations that might
create a threat to compliance with the principle of confidentiality.

When Disclosure to Obtain Consent would Breach Confidentiality

R5310.12

When making specific disclosure for the purpose of obtaining explicit consent would result in a breach
of confidentiality, and such consent cannot therefore be obtained, the firm shall only accept or continue
an engagement if:

(@ The firm does not act in an advocacy role for a sustainability assurance client in an adversarial
position against another client in the same matter;
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Specific measures are in place to prevent disclosure of confidential information between the
teams serving the sustainability assurance client and the other client; and

The firm is satisfied that a reasonable and informed third party would be likely to conclude that
it is appropriate for the firm to accept or continue the engagement because a restriction on the
firm’s ability to provide the professional service would produce a disproportionate adverse
outcome for the clients or other relevant third parties.

5310.12 A1 A breach of confidentiality might arise, for example, when seeking consent to perform:

Documentation

R5310.13

A transaction-related service for a sustainability assurance client in a hostile takeover of another
client of the firm.

A forensic investigation for a client regarding a suspected fraud, where the firm has confidential
information from its work for a sustainability assurance client who might be involved in the fraud.

In the circumstances set out in paragraph R5310.12, the sustainability assurance practitioner shall

document:

(@) The nature of the circumstances, including the role that the practitioner is to undertake;

(b) The specific measures in place to prevent disclosure of information between the teams serving
the sustainability assurance client and the other client; and

(c) Why itis appropriate to accept or continue the engagement.
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SECTION 5320
PROFESSIONAL APPOINTMENTS

Introduction

5320.1

5320.2

Sustainability assurance practitioners are required to comply with the fundamental principles and
apply the conceptual framework set out in Section 5120 to identify, evaluate and address threats.

Acceptance of a new sustainability assurance client relationship or changes in an existing
engagement might create a threat to compliance with one or more of the fundamental principles. This
section sets out specific requirements and application material relevant to applying the conceptual
framework in such circumstances.

Requirements and Application Material

Client and Engagement Acceptance

General

5320.3 Al

5320.3 A2

5320.3 A3

5320.3 A4

Threats to compliance with the principles of integrity or professional behavior might be created, for
example, from questionable issues associated with the sustainability assurance client (its owners,
management or activities). Issues that, if known, might create such a threat include client involvement
in illegal activities, dishonesty, questionable financial or non-financial, including sustainability,
reporting practices or other unethical behavior.

Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of such a threat include:

. Knowledge and understanding of the sustainability assurance client, its owners, management
and those charged with governance and business activities.

. The sustainability assurance client's commitment to address the questionable issues, for
example, through improving corporate governance practices or internal controls.

A self-interest threat to compliance with the principle of professional competence and due care is
created if the team does not possess, or cannot acquire, the competencies to perform the professional
services.

Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of such a threat include:
. An appropriate understanding of:
o The nature of the sustainability assurance client’s business;

o The complexity of its operations;

o The quantitative and qualitative characteristics of the sustainability assurance client’s
value chain;
o The requirements of the engagement; and
o The purpose, nature and scope of the work to be performed.
) Knowledge of relevant industries or subject matter.
. Experience with relevant regulatory or reporting requirements.
. Policies and procedures that the firm has implemented, as part of a system of quality

management in accordance with quality management standards such as ISQM 1, that respond
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to quality risks relating to the firm’s ability to perform the engagement in accordance with
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

. The level of fees and the extent to which they have regard to the resources required, taking into
account the sustainability assurance practitioner's commercial and market priorities.

Examples of actions that might be safeguards to address a self-interest threat include:

. Assigning sufficient engagement personnel with the necessary competencies.
. Agreeing on a realistic time frame for the performance of the engagement.
o Using experts where necessary.

Changes in a Professional Appointment

General

R5320.4

5320.4 Al

5320.4 A2

5320.4 A3

5320.4 A4

A sustainability assurance practitioner shall determine whether there are any reasons for not
accepting an engagement when the practitioner:

(@) Is asked by a potential sustainability assurance client to replace another sustainability
assurance practitioner;

(b) Considers tendering for an engagement held by a different practitioner for a sustainability
assurance client; or

(c) Considers undertaking work for a sustainability assurance client that is complementary or
additional to that of a different practitioner.

There might be reasons for not accepting an engagement. One such reason might be if a threat
created by the facts and circumstances cannot be addressed by applying safeguards. For example,
there might be a self-interest threat to compliance with the principle of professional competence and
due care if a sustainability assurance practitioner accepts the engagement before knowing all the
relevant facts.

If a sustainability assurance practitioner is asked by a sustainability assurance client to undertake
work that is complementary or additional to the work of an existing or predecessor practitioner, a self-
interest threat to compliance with the principle of professional competence and due care might be
created, for example, as a result of incomplete information.

A factor that is relevant in evaluating the level of such a threat is whether tenders state that, before
accepting the engagement, contact with the existing or predecessor practitioner will be requested.
This contact gives the proposed practitioner the opportunity to inquire whether there are any reasons
why the engagement should not be accepted.

Examples of actions that might be safeguards to address such a self-interest threat include:

. Asking the existing or predecessor practitioner to provide any known information of which, in
the existing or predecessor practitioner’s opinion, the proposed practitioner needs to be aware
before deciding whether to accept the engagement. For example, inquiry might reveal
previously undisclosed pertinent facts and might indicate disagreements with the existing or
predecessor practitioner that might influence the decision to accept the appointment.

. Obtaining information from other sources such as through inquiries of third parties or
background investigations regarding senior management or those charged with governance of
the sustainability assurance client.
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Communicating with the Existing or Predecessor Practitioner

5320.5 Al

R5320.6

A proposed practitioner will usually need the sustainability assurance client’s permission, preferably
in writing, to initiate discussions with the existing or predecessor practitioner.

If unable to communicate with the existing or predecessor practitioner, the proposed practitioner shall
take other reasonable steps to obtain information about any possible threats.

Communicating with the Proposed Practitioner

R5320.7

5320.7 Al

5320.7 A2

When an existing or predecessor practitioner is asked to respond to a communication from a proposed
practitioner, the existing or predecessor practitioner shall:

(&) Comply with relevant laws and regulations governing the request; and
(b)  Provide any information honestly and unambiguously.

An existing or predecessor practitioner is bound by confidentiality. Whether the existing or
predecessor practitioner is permitted or required to discuss the affairs of a sustainability assurance
client with a proposed practitioner will depend on the nature of the engagement and:

(@) Whether the existing or predecessor practitioner has permission from the sustainability
assurance client for the discussion; and

(b)  The legal and ethics requirements relating to such communications and disclosure, which might
vary by jurisdiction.

Circumstances where a sustainability assurance practitioner is or might be required to disclose
confidential information, or when disclosure might be appropriate, are set out in paragraph 5114.3 Al.

Changes in Sustainability Assurance Appointments

R5320.8

In the case of a sustainability assurance engagement within the scope of the International
Independence Standards in this Part, a sustainability assurance practitioner shall request the existing
or predecessor practitioner to provide known information regarding any facts or other information of
which, in the existing or predecessor practitioner’s opinion, the proposed practitioner needs to be
aware before deciding whether to accept the engagement. Except for the circumstances involving
non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations set out in paragraphs
R5360.21 and R5360.22:

(a) If the sustainability assurance client consents to the existing or predecessor practitioner
disclosing any such facts or other information, the existing or predecessor practitioner shall
provide the information honestly and unambiguously; and

(b) If the sustainability assurance client fails or refuses to grant the existing or predecessor
practitioner permission to discuss the client’s affairs with the proposed practitioner, the existing
or predecessor practitioner shall disclose this fact to the proposed practitioner, who shall
carefully consider such failure or refusal when determining whether to accept the appointment.

Client and Engagement Continuance

R5320.9

5320.9 Al

For a recurring engagement for a sustainability assurance client, a sustainability assurance
practitioner shall periodically review whether to continue with the engagement.

Potential threats to compliance with the fundamental principles might be created after acceptance
which, had they been known earlier, would have caused the sustainability assurance practitioner to
decline the engagement. For example, a self-interest threat to compliance with the principle of integrity
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might be created by improper sustainability reporting, such as changes in measurement methodology
to create the appearance of a positive trend in a key performance indicator.

Using the Output of Technology

R5320.10 When a sustainability assurance practitioner intends to use the output of technology in the course of
undertaking a professional activity for a sustainability assurance client, the practitioner shall determine
whether the use is appropriate for the intended purpose.

5320.10 Al Factors to consider when a sustainability assurance practitioner intends to use the output of technology
include:

The nature of the activity to be performed by the technology.
The expected use of, or extent of reliance on, the output of the technology.

Whether the practitioner has the ability, or access to an expert with the ability, to understand,
use and explain the technology and its appropriateness for the purpose intended.

Whether the technology used has been appropriately tested and evaluated for the purpose
intended.

Prior experience with the technology and whether its use for specific purposes is generally
accepted.

The firm’s oversight of the design, development, implementation, operation, maintenance,
monitoring, updating or upgrading of the technology.

The controls relating to the use of the technology, including procedures for authorizing user
access to the technology and overseeing such use.

The appropriateness of the inputs to the technology, including data and any related decisions,
and decisions made by individuals in the course of using the technology.

Other Considerations

5320.11 A1 When a sustainability assurance practitioner is considering using the output of technology, a
consideration is whether the practitioner is in a position within the firm to obtain information in relation
to the factors necessary to determine whether such use is appropriate.

5320.11 A2 When a sustainability assurance practitioner intends to use the work of an external expert, the
requirements and application material set out in Section 5390 apply.
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SECTION 5325
OBJECTIVITY OF AN ENGAGEMENT QUALITY REVIEWER AND OTHER APPROPRIATE
REVIEWERS

Introduction

5325.1

5325.2

5325.3

5325.4

Sustainability assurance practitioners are required to comply with the fundamental principles and
apply the conceptual framework set out in Section 5120 to identify, evaluate and address threats.

Appointing an engagement quality reviewer who has involvement in the work being reviewed or close
relationships with those responsible for performing that work might create threats to compliance with
the principle of objectivity.

This section sets out specific application material relevant to applying the conceptual framework in
relation to the objectivity of an engagement quality reviewer for a sustainability assurance client.

An engagement quality reviewer is also an example of an appropriate reviewer as described in
paragraph 5300.8 A4. Therefore, the application material in this section might apply in circumstances
where a sustainability assurance practitioner appoints an appropriate reviewer to review work
performed as a safeguard to address identified threats.

Application Material

General

5325.5 A1

5325.5 A2

Quality engagements are achieved through planning and performing engagements and reporting on
them in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
For example, ISQM 1 establishes the firm'’s responsibilities for its system of quality management and
requires the firm to design and implement responses to address quality risks related to engagement
performance. Such responses include establishing policies or procedures addressing engagement
quality reviews in accordance with ISQM 2.

An engagement quality reviewer is a leader, partner, or other individual in the firm, or an external
individual, appointed by the firm to perform the engagement quality review.

Identifying Threats

5325.6 Al

The following are examples of circumstances where threats to the objectivity of an individual appointed
as an engagement quality reviewer might be created:

(@) Self-interest threat

. Two engagement leaders each serving as an engagement quality reviewer for the other’s
engagement.

(b)  Self-review threat

) An individual serving as an engagement quality reviewer on a sustainability assurance
engagement after previously serving as the engagement leader.

(c) Familiarity threat

) An individual serving as an engagement quality reviewer has a close relationship with or
is an immediate family member of another individual who is involved in the engagement.
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(d) Intimidation threat

. An individual serving as an engagement quality reviewer for an engagement has a direct
reporting line to the leader responsible for the engagement.

Evaluating Threats

5325.7 Al

Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of threats to the objectivity of an individual appointed
as an engagement quality reviewer include:

. The role and seniority of the individual.
. The nature of the individual’s relationship with others involved on the engagement.
. The length of time the individual was previously involved with the engagement and the

individual’s role.

. When the individual was last involved in the engagement prior to being appointed as
engagement quality reviewer and any subsequent relevant changes to the circumstances of the
engagement.

. The nature and complexity of issues that required significant judgment from the individual in

any previous involvement in the engagement.

Addressing Threats

5325.8 Al

5325.8 A2

An example of an action that might eliminate an intimidation threat is reassigning reporting
responsibilities within the firm.

An example of an action that might be a safeguard to address a self-review threat is implementing a
period of sufficient duration (a cooling-off period) before the individual who was on the engagement is
appointed as an engagement quality reviewer.

Cooling-off Period

5325.8 A3

5325.8 A4

Quality management standards might require the firm to establish policies or procedures that specify,
as a condition for eligibility, a cooling-off period before the engagement leader can assume the role
of engagement quality reviewer. This serves to enable compliance with the principle of objectivity and
the consistent performance of quality engagements. For example, ISQM 2 requires a cooling-off
period of two years.

The cooling-off period that might be required by quality management standards such as ISQM 2 is
distinct from, and does not modify, the leader rotation requirements in Section 5540, which are
designed to address threats to independence created by long association with a sustainability
assurance client.
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SECTION 5330
FEES AND OTHER TYPES OF REMUNERATION

Introduction

5330.1

5330.2

Sustainability assurance practitioners are required to comply with the fundamental principles and
apply the conceptual framework set out in Section 5120 to identify, evaluate and address threats.

The level and nature of fee and other remuneration arrangements might create a self-interest threat
to compliance with one or more of the fundamental principles. This section sets out specific application
material relevant to applying the conceptual framework in such circumstances.

Application Material

Level of Fees

5330.3 Al

5330.3 A2

5330.3 A3

5330.3 A4

The level of fees might impact a sustainability assurance practitioner’s ability to perform professional
services for sustainability assurance clients in accordance with technical and professional standards.

A sustainability assurance practitioner might quote whatever fee is considered appropriate. Quoting a
fee lower than a different practitioner is not in itself unethical. However, the level of fees quoted creates
a self-interest threat to compliance with the principle of professional competence and due care if the
fee quoted is so low that it might be difficult to perform the engagement in accordance with applicable
technical and professional standards.

Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of such a threat include:

o Whether the sustainability assurance client is aware of the terms of the engagement and, in
particular, the basis on which fees are determined and which professional services are covered.

. Whether the level of the fee is set by an independent third party such as a regulatory body.
Examples of actions that might be safeguards to address such a self-interest threat include:
. Adjusting the level of fees or the scope of the engagement.

. Having an appropriate reviewer review the work performed.

Contingent Fees

5330.4 Al

5330.4 A2

Contingent fees are used for certain types of non-assurance services. However, contingent fees might
create threats to compliance with the fundamental principles, particularly a self-interest threat to
compliance with the principle of objectivity, in certain circumstances.

Factors that are relevant in evaluating the level of such threats include:

. The nature of the engagement.

) The range of possible fee amounts.

. The basis or metrics for determining the fee.

. Disclosure to intended users of the work performed by the sustainability assurance practitioner

and the basis of remuneration.
. Quality management policies and procedures.

. Whether an independent third party is to rev